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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ER|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”),
| would like to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), the annual report of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”
or “YR2020").

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded an
increase in revenue of approximately HK$52,641,000 or
approximately 25.9% to approximately HK$255,535,000
compared with the year ended 31 March 2019 (the
“YR2019"). The increase in revenue was due to the
increase of the number of sizable projects tendered by the
Group during the Reporting Period.

The Board is of the view that the growth of the overall
foundation industry in Hong Kong will be expected to slow
down in the near future due to effect of novel coronavirus.
Moreover, the global economy is in turmoail following (i) the
outbreak of the trade war between the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) and the United States of America;
and (i) the outbreak of novel coronavirus. The outlook
for the global and Hong Kong economy is bleak in the
near future. In order to maintain a stable and sustainable
development of the Group’s existing businesses as well
as diversifying and expanding the Group’s businesses at
the same time, the Company will leverage on its industrial
experience and the advantage of its existing resources
and talented team to seek cooperation and investment
opportunities with high-quality companies in the emerging
industries in the PRC.

In recent years, intellectual property (the “IP”) rights (“IP
Rights”) licensing industry have developed rapidly in
PRC. In addition to exploiting the core content of the IP
Rights through movies, television series, animations and
games, Chinese companies as licensees of the IP Rights
maximizes the overall value by also expanding to the
downstream derivative market of the IP Rights in the PRC,
including manufacturing IP Rights-related toys, clothings
and food and beverages, as well as operating and
managing IP Rights-themed exhibitions, theme park, hotel
and catering services. Accordingly, the scale of consumer
demand and revenue sources generated through the
commercialisation of the IP Rights have significantly
expanded.
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Keen to leverage on the rapid expansion to the
downstream derivative market in the PRC, on 10
December 2019, the Company, the vendors and the
warrantors entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to
acquire 51% of issued share capital of the target group
which is principally engaged in the business of provision of
food and beverage catering services utilizing well-known IP
Right.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my deepest gratitude to our Shareholders and
business partners for their continued support, and to our
management and staff members for their commitment and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited
Yan Shuai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWRE DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in providing: (i) foundation
construction; (i) ground investigation services; (i) financial
services in Hong Kong; and (iv) trading of beauty and skin
care products.

Foundation Construction

During the Reporting Period, the foundation construction
undertaken by the Group mainly consisted of the
construction of socketed H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles,
pipe piles and king posts. The Group undertook foundation
construction projects in both the public and private
sectors. Revenue from the foundation works contributed
approximately 83.2% to the total revenue of the Group
during the Reporting Period (YR2019: approximately
82.0%).

Ground Investigation Services

The Group also acted as a contractor to provide ground
investigation services in both public and private sectors in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. Revenue from the
ground investigation services contributed approximately
15.4% to the total revenue of the Group during the
Reporting Period (YR2019: approximately 17.6%).

Financial Services

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the financial
services contributed approximately 1.1% to the total
revenue of the Group during the Reporting Period
(YR2019: 0.4%).

Trading of beauty and skin care products

During the Reporting Period, the trading business had
commenced. Revenue from trading business contributed
approximately 0.3% of the total revenue of the Group
during the Reporting Period (YR2019: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue for the Reporting Period
increased by approximately HK$52,641,000,
or approximately 25.9%, from approximately
HK$202,894,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$255,535,000 for the Reporting Period,
which was primarily due to:

Foundation Construction

The revenue from undertaking foundation construction
projects increased by approximately HK$46,182,000,
or approximately 27.7%, from approximately
HK$166,459,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$212,641,000 for the Reporting Period.
This was primarily due to the increase of the number
of sizable projects tendered by the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Ground Investigation Services

The revenue from ground investigation services increased
by approximately HK$3,569,000, or approximately 10.0%,
from approximately HK$35,682,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$39,251,000 for the
Reporting Period. This was primarily due to the increase
in the number of sizable projects tendered by the Group
during the Reporting Period.

Financial Services

During the Reporting Period, revenue for financial services
amounted to approximately HK$2,728,000 for the
Reporting Period (YR2019: HK$753,000).

Trading of beauty and skin care products

During the Reporting Period, the trading business had
commenced. The revenue for trading business amounted
to approximately HK$916,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2019: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWRE DT

Gross Profit/(Loss) and Gross Profit/(Loss) Margin

The gross loss decreased from approximately
HK$6,622,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
the gross profit of approximately HK$21,254,000 for the
Reporting Period. The Group’s overall gross profit margin
during the Reporting Period was approximately 8.3%
(YR2019: gross loss margin amounted to approximately
3.3%).

The gross loss of the Group’s foundation construction
segment decreased from approximately HK$17,028,000
for the year ended 31 March 2019 to the gross profit of
approximately HK$3,638,000 for the Reporting Period.
Gross profit margin of the foundation construction segment
amounted to approximately 1.7% (YR2019: gross loss
margin of approximately 10.2%). The decline in gross
loss margin was mainly due to (i) the tight control of direct
costs; and (i) the improvement of the bidding prices on the
new tenders.

Gross profit of the Group’s ground investigation services
segment was approximately HK$14,306,000 for the
Reporting Period, representing an increase of 45.2% from
approximately HK$9,853,000 as compared to that for the
year ended 31 March 2019. Gross profit margin of the
ground investigation services segment increased from
approximately 27.6% for the year ended 31 March 2019
to approximately 36.4% for the Reporting Period. The
increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to higher
gross profit margin projects tendered by the Group during
the Reporting Period.

Gross profit of the Group’s financial service was
approximately HK$2,393,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2019: approximately HK$553,000). Gross profit margin
of the financial services amounted to approximately 87.7%
(YR2019: approximately 73.4%).

Gross profit of the Group’s trading business was
approximately HK$916,000 for the Reporting Period
(YR2019: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Revenue

The other revenue of the Group increased by
approximately HK$1,403,000, or approximately 36.3%,
from approximately HK$3,868,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$5,271,000 for the
Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to () the
rental income from lease of machinery during the Reporting
Period (YR2020: approximately HK$977,000; YR2019:
nil); and (i) the increase of bank interest income (YR2020:
approximately HK$3,633,000; YR2019: approximately
HK$2,736,000).

Other Net (Loss)/Income

The other net income decreased from approximately
HK$1,754,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 to the
other net loss of approximately HK$17,354,000 for the
Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly due to the
net change in fair value on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (YR2020: loss of approximately
HK$19,857,000; YR2019: loss of approximately
HK$551,000).

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses for the
Reporting Period were approximately HK$61,450,000
(YR2019: approximately HK$51,022,000), representing an
increase of approximately 20.4% as compared to that for
the year ended 31 March 2019. The increase was mainly
attributable to (i) the engagement fee of financial advisor
which amounted to HK$4,000,000 (YR2019: approximately
HK$1,333,000); and (i) the bad debt written off of trade
receivables and contract assets (YR2020: approximately
HK$5,885,000; YR2019: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREF W&

Finance Costs

The finance costs increased by approximately
HK$3,532,000, from approximately HK$4,968,000
for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately
HK$8,500,000 for the Reporting Period. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in the interest rate for borrowing
from a related company, Bright Dynasty Trading Limited
and borrowing from a former director, Mr. Lau Woon Si
(YR2020: 5% per annum; YR2019: 2.5-5% per annum).

Income Tax

The tax credit for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$406,000 (YR2019: tax credit of approximately
HK$1,760,000). The change was mainly due to the
increase in assessable profits of Hong Kong Profits Tax and
the change of deferred tax for the Reporting Period.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

During the Reporting Period, the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss represents the private fund
and the listed equity securities. These financial assets are
measured at fair value and were subscribed and purchased
by a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, the net fair value loss of financial assets
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss amounted to approximately HK$19,857,000 (YR2019:
approximately HK$551,000) and the gain on disposal of
the listed equity securities was approximately HK$320,000
(YR2019: nil).

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$60,372,000, as compared with the net
loss of approximately HK$55,229,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the Shareholders for the Reporting Period
(YR2019: nil).

PROSPECTS

The Board is of the view that the growth of the overall
foundation industry in Hong Kong will be expected to slow
down in the near future due to effect of novel coronavirus.
Moreover, the global economy is in turmoil following (i)
the outbreak of the trade war between the PRC and the
United States of America; and (i) the outbreak of novel
coronavirus. The outlook for the global and Hong Kong
economy is bleak in the near future. In order to maintain
a stable and sustainable development of the Group’s
existing businesses as well as diversifying and expanding
the Group’s businesses at the same time, the Company
will leverage on its industrial experience and the advantage
of its existing resources and talented team to seek
cooperation and investment opportunities with high-quality
companies in the emerging industries in the PRC.

In recent years, IP Rights licensing industry have developed
rapidly in PRC. In addition to exploiting the core content of
the IP Rights through movies, television series, animations
and games, Chinese companies as licensees of the IP
Rights maximizes the overall value by also expanding to the
downstream derivative market of the IP Rights in the PRC,
including manufacturing IP Rights-related toys, clothings
and food and beverages, as well as operating and
managing IP Rights-themed exhibitions, theme park, hotel
and catering services. Accordingly, the scale of consumer
demand and revenue sources generated through the
commercialisation of the IP Rights have significantly
expanded. Keen to leverage on the rapid expansion to
the downstream derivative market in the PRC, on 10
December 2019, the Company, the vendors and the
warrantors entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to
acquire 51% of issued share capital of the target group
which is principally engaged in the business of provision of
food and beverage catering services utilizing well-known IP
Right.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREF W&

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing borrowings of the Group mainly
consisted of leases liabilities, borrowing from a former
director and borrowing from a related company. The above
borrowings were incurred during the Reporting Period
(YR2020: approximately HK$221,293,000; YR2019:
approximately HK$198,287,000). All borrowings were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Interest on borrowings
are charged at fixed rates except for a lease of the Group
was secured by the Group’s machinery with an aggregate
net book value of approximately HK$8,267,000 as at
31 March 2019 (YR2020: nil). The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy and the Group
monitors interest risks continuously and considers hedging
any excessive risk when necessary.

NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$195,963,000, which was
approximately HK$56,025,000 lower than net current
assets of approximately HK$251,988,000 as at 31 March
2019. As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$267,894,000, representing
an increase of approximately HK$34,386,000 from
approximately HK$233,508,000 as at 31 March 2019. The
increase was mainly due to (i) the borrowing from a former
director during the Reporting Period, with the principal
amount of HK$14,500,000, (i) the interests incurred by
the borrowing from a related company and a former
director during the Reporting Period, with the amount of
approximately HK$8,094,000 and (iii) the increase in trade
payables of approximately HK$13,748,000 as compared to
that as at 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$228,720,000, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$108,792,000 (as at 31
March 2019: approximately HK$337,512,000), which were
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

CASH FLOW

The net cash used by the Group in its operating activities
amounted to approximately HK$97,436,000 during
the Reporting Period, which was mainly used for the
foundation construction and ground investigation services.
Net cash used in investing activities was approximately
HK$15,042,000 in which HK$20,000,000 arose from
the payment of refundable earnest money for potential
acquisition. And the net cash generated from financing
activities was approximately HK$3,686,000.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2020
(defined as total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the
Group’s total equity) was approximately 106.4% (as at 31
March 2019: approximately 73.9%).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained
a healthy position of liquidity throughout the Reporting
Period. The Group strives to reduce the exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREF W&

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most
of the revenue and transactions arising from its operations
were settled in Hong Kong dollar, and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, the Directors believe that the Group’s risk in
foreign exchange is insignificant and the Group will have
sufficient foreign exchange to meet its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result
of fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and it has not
adopted any currency hedging policy or other hedging
instruments during the Reporting Period.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s issued share capital
was HK$9,600,000 (as at 31 March 2019: HK$9,600,000)
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
960,000,000 (as at 31 March 2019: 960,000,000) of
HK$0.01 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

On 10 December 2019, the Company, the vendors and the
warrantors entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to
acquire 51% of issued share capital of the target group
which is principally engaged in the business of provision of
food and beverage catering services utilizing well-known IP
Right. The acquisition is still in progress. For further details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
10 December 2019 and 9 June 2020.

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies made by the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2020 and 2019.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 20 April 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company has subscribed for the Class C Shares in the
fund portfolio company at a total subscription amount
of HK$60,000,000. The subscriber is entitled to a return
equal to 8% per annum of its subscription amount. For
further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 20 April 2020 and 8 May 2020.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other
significant event after the Reporting Period up to the date
of this report.

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no material pending
litigation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREF W&

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 143 full-
time employees (as at 31 March 2019: 128 full-time
employees).

The remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s
employees are periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory
provident fund and in-house training programmes, salary
increment and discretionary bonuses may be awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. The total remuneration cost incurred by
the Group for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$66,861,000 as compared to approximately
HK$63,242,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s key risk exposures are summarised as
follows:

()  The Group has a concentrated clientele base. Any
loss for major customers or decrease in the number
of projects with the top 5 customers of the Group
may adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results.

(i)  The Group’s past revenue and profit margin may not
be an indicative of the Group’s future revenue and
profit margin. In particular, the Group’s revenue is on
project basis, which is non-recurrent in nature, and
the Group may achieve lower-than expected revenue
if it fails to maintain continuity of the Group’s order
book for its new projects.

(i) The Group is dependent on its Board members
and senior management staff, the departure of its
staff may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(iv)  Failure to accurately estimate and control the costs
of the Group’s projects may adversely affect the
Group’s financial performance.

(vy  Any delay or default of progress payments or
retention monies by the customers may affect the
Group’s cash flow and may have adverse impact on
the Group’s financial results.

(vi)  Failure to renew the Group’s current registrations and
licenses may adversely affect the Group’s business
operations. For other risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Risks
Factors” in the prospectus of the Company dated 28
July 2015 (the “Prospectus”).

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
EMPLOYEES

The Group’s success also depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers
and suppliers.

Customers

For foundation construction, the principal customers
are generally from the main contractors of construction
projects in Hong Kong. For ground investigation services,
the principal customers are generally from the employers of
construction projects in Hong Kong. During the Reporting
Period, the Directors considered that the Group did not rely
on any single customer. The Group also maintains a long-
term relationship with its customers, some of which have
established more than 10 years of working relationship with
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWRE DT

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the Reporting Period, the suppliers of goods
and services which were specific to the business of the
Group and were acquired on a regular basis to enable
the Group to continue to carry its business included (j)
subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the site
works; (i) materials and equipment suppliers to supply
materials and equipments used in the site works; and (iii)
suppliers of miscellaneous goods and services required
for the Group’s business operations. The Group maintains
multiple suppliers and subcontractors to avoid the over-
reliance on a few suppliers and subcontractors; and did
not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials
from suppliers and assigning subcontractors during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not have any significant
disputes with any of its suppliers and subcontractors
during the Reporting Period.

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of
the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
complied with the applicable labour laws and regulations
and regularly reviewed the benefits of existing staff for
improvement. The Group intends to use its best effort
to attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel
to serve the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise
performing staff by providing an attractive remuneration
package.

The Group determines the salary of its employees
mainly based on each employee’s qualification, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts
annual review on salary increment, bonuses and
promotions based on the performance of each employee.

The Group considers that the Group has maintained
a good relationship with its employees. The Group
has not experienced any strikes, work stoppages or
labour disputes which affected its operations during the
Reporting Period. The Directors also acknowledge that the
management team and the employees have maintained
a good relationship and co-operated well during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group places an emphasis on environmental
protection when undertaking its projects. The Group was
awarded the ISO 14001:2015 (environmental management
system). The current ISO 14001:2015 certificate is valid
from 7 April 2018 to 29 April 2021. When preparing the
tender documents, the Group will take into consideration
the environmental protection requirements of potential
customers as well as the relevant laws and regulations in
relation to environmental protection. The Group’s safety
officers are responsible for ensuring that the Group satisfies
the applicable laws and regulations requirements and
identifying and reporting on environmental issues to our
project management team.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operation are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong while the Company
itself is a holding company. Our operations accordingly
shall comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report, there is no material non-compliance with
the relevant prevailing laws and regulations by the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets up to the date of this annual
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWRE DT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the Reporting Period, except for the
deviation from the code provision A.2.1, A.2.7, A.5.5 and
A.B.7.

For further details, please refer to the corporate
governance report on page 25 to 55 of this annual report.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yan Shuai ( B&Ab) , aged 32, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in financial management from Shanghai University
of International Business and Economics ( _E/& ¥ 9MEE K
E) in 2009, bachelor's degree of business administration
(majoring in financial services and administration) (long
distance learning course) from Douglas College in 2009
and Master Degree in Science (majoring in Economics
and Finance) from University of Durham in the United
Kingdom in 2011. Mr. Yan also obtained a fund practice
certificate* (PR EF R ERE S ENEEFE) issued by
Asset Management Association of China ( 7 BGF53% & &
T E1E) in February 2018. Mr. Yan has over 8 years of
experience in the finance field. Mr. Yan has been a director
of Links Network & Technology Co., Limited ( _F /&
BB R ABER AR ), a company listed on National
Equities Exchange and Quotations (Stock code: 835718)
since May 2017. He has also been a senior investment
manager of Shenzhen Capital Group Co. Limited CZ 3|
M AI# % E £ @) and Shanghai Chuangxin Investment
Management Company Limited* ( /&8I #i& & E IR AR
A A]) since 2011, responsible for fund-raising and project
financing. Mr. Yan has joined the Company since 13 March
2018.

Mr. Chan Kwan (FRE), aged 32, obtained his
bachelor’s degree in Biomedical Science from University
of Essex in June 2012 and bachelor’s degree of laws from
University of Leicester in July 2015. He is also a diamond
graduate of Gemological Institute of America (3£ Bl &
FEZFT) . Mr. Chan has extensive experience in both
assets management and commercial acquisition. He has
been a non-executive director of CAQ Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Australia Stock Exchange with
Listing Corporation Code of CAQ since November 2017.
Mr. Chan also served as a legal and project director of
China Cambodia International Special Economic Zone Co.
Limited from October 2015 to February 2018. Mr. Chan
has joined the Company since 13 March 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESNRARIWENBEFS

Mr. Zhu Jiayu (K& {EH#) , aged 47, obtained his Master
Degree of Science in Electrical Engineering from the
University of Wyoming in 1996. Mr. Zhu has over 25
years of business and managerial experiences in various
industries including telecommmunication, T software, chip
manufacturing, infrastructural constructions, industrial
equipment, gaming and new media. He has been the
co-founder and partner of Shanghai Yi Hong Internet
Technology Company Limited* bt/ 2 ZRERIT A
R 2 |], which is engaged in the production of internet
streaming programs in the People’s Republic of China,
since July 2015. Mr. Zhu has joined the Company since 18
September 2019.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (5®#x %), aged 39, has over
15 years’ experience in financial, risk and investment
management. He currently acts as the executive director,
chief financial officer and authorised representative of
Mason Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 273)
in April 2020, as an independent non-executive director
of Jiangsu Protruly Vision Technology Group Company
Limited CI# R TERERMREBRMD AR LA (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock
Code: 600074) since July 2018 and an independent
non-executive director, a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 643) since March 2017. Mr. Zhang obtained a
master degree of business management* ( T 75 & ¥ 18
+E{7) from the University of Science and Technology
Beijing in 2011. He also holds qualifications as a certified
public accountant, senior international finance manager
and senior accountant in the PRC. Mr. Zhang is a fellow
member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants and holds the certificate of Chartered Global
Management Accountant and certificate of independent
director of the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (E#X), aged 49, has over
27 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
finance. Mr. Lo received a bachelor’s degree of business
administration from the University of Hong Kong in 1993
and a master’s degree of professional accounting from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a certified
public accountant, a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow member
of CPA Australia and fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Lo is a practising
accountant in Hong Kong, and has become the managing
partner of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited since 2014. Mr.
Lo currently serves as the independent non-executive
director of each of the Hong Kong listed companies below,
namely, Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 125) since May 1999, China Zhongwang Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1333) since February 2009, China
Oceanwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 715) since
November 2014, Xinming China Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2699) since June 2015, China Tonghai International
Financial Limited (stock code: 952) since February 2017
and G-Resources Group Limited (stock code: 1051) since
July 2017. Mr. Lo was an independent non-executive
director of Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1335) from 22 June 2012 to 29 May 2020.
Mr. Lo is also the member of the Shanghai Pudong
New Area Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and the founding executive
vice-president and council member of the Hong Kong
Independent Non-Executive Director Association and the
Divisional President 2019 - Greater China of CPA Australia.
Mr. Lo has joined the Company since 8 March 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

ESNRARIWENBEFS

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (R %), aged 44, has
over 10 years of work experience in legal area. He has
worked for various professional companies and specialised
in intellectual property, cross border legal business and
general company legal affairs. Mr. Leung currently serves
as an assistant director in a department of a legal related
service company. Mr. Leung graduated from China
University of Political Science and Law in 2002 with a
bachelor degree of law, majoring in economics law* (/&£
B+ (KEEHEE) ). Mr. Leung has joined the Company
since 5 July 2017.

Mr. Qin Fen (%), aged 31, has approximately 7
years of experiences in the corporate finance industry.
Since July 2012, he has been acting as the director and
chief executive officer of Shanghai Fen Rong Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (EBERKEEETEBRA
Al), which is principally engaged in the investment
management and consultancy services over the financing
projects in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Qin has
attended the financial investment and capital operation
entrepreneurship programme* (& g% & B & A& E b
¥ X2 ) organised by the Overseas Education College
of Shanghai Jiao Tong University ( /838 A E) since
October 2018. Mr. Qin has joined the company since 19
December 2018.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Jan Wing Fu, Barry (82K &) (appointed on 9 April
2019), aged 53, joined the Company in April 2019. He
serves as the financial controller, the company secretary
and an authorized representative of the Company for
accepting service of process and notice in Hong Kong
on its behalf under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) since 9 April
2019. He was a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants till December 2015 and has been
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 1993. He obtained a bachelor degree
in business administration from the University of New
Brunswick, Canada in December 1989. Mr. Jan has over
29 years of solid experience in auditing, accounting,
general management and financial control.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors of Wan Kei Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries is committed to achieving
and maintaining the highest standard of corporate
governance. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the
Group to formulate the business strategies and policies,
and manage the associated risk through effective internal
control procedures. It will also enhance the transparency
of the Group and strengthen its accountability to the
Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions in the Code set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Reporting
Period, except for the deviation from the code provisions
A21,A2.7,A5.5and AB.7.

In accordance with code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual.
However, from 7 September 2018 up until 18 September
2019, Mr. Fong Hon Hung served as both the chairman
(the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer (‘CEQ”) of
the Company. As after evaluation of the then situation of
the Group and taking into account of the experience and
past performance of Mr. Fong, the Board believed that it
was appropriate and in the best interest of the Company
for vesting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the
Company in the same person during that period of time
which helped to facilitate the execution of the Group’s
business strategies and maximized the effectiveness of
its operation. In addition, there were various experienced
individuals in charge of the daily business and the Board
comprised three executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors
with the balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the Group’s further development. Mr. Fong ceased to be
the Chairman and CEO of the Company with effect from 18
September 2019 and resigned as a non-executive Director
with effect from 17 January 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

In accordance with code provision A.2.7 of the Code,
the chairman should at least annually hold meeting
with the independent non-executive Director(s) without
the presence of the executive Directors. However, the
Chairman did not hold meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of the
executive Directors during the Reporting Period due to
other business engagement. The company secretary will
evaluate this deficiency and arrange meeting(s) between
chairman and the independent non-executive Director(s)
without the presence of the executive Directors at least
annually from the next financial year.

In accordance with code provision A.5.5 of the Code,
where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
independent non-executive Director at the general meeting,
the Board should set out in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice
of the relevant general meeting if the independent non-
executive Director is holding his seventh (or more) listed
company directorship. However, the Company did not
comply with the relevant disclosure requirement in respect
of the re-election of Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy as an independent
non-executive Director in the circular of the Company
dated 19 July 2019 due to an unintentional and inadvertent
oversight. For details, please refer to the interim report of
the Company dated 27 November 2019.

In accordance with code provision A.6.7 of Code, the
non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings to gain and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. However, one of the independent non-
executive Directors was absent from the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 August 2019 due to
other business engagement. The Company will finalise
and inform the dates of the general meetings as early as
possible to ensure that all the independent non-executive
Directors can attend the general meetings in future.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group commits to continuously improving its
corporate governance practices by periodic review to
ensure that the Group continues to meet the requirements
of the Code.

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are
summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director, and
three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yan Shuai
Mr. Chan Kwan
Mr. Zhu Jiayu
(appointed on 18 September 2019)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
(Re-designated from executive Director on
1 March 2020)
Mr. Fong Hon Hung
(Re-designated from executive Director on
18 September 2019 and resigned on 17 January 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson
Mr. Qin Fen
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TEERRE

The Company has complied with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period. There
are currently three independent non-executive Directors
in the Board and the number of independent non-
executive Directors represents more than one-third of
the Board. As such, there exists a strong independent
element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Company has also complied
with rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which stipulates
that one of the independent non-executive Directors
must possess appropriate professional qualification or
accounting or related financial management expertise. In
compliance with the Code, the independent non-executive
Directors expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclosed the name of the Directors.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors namely,
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy, Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson and Mr. Qin
Fen has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a fixed term unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice (except Mr. Qin Fen with one month’s
notice) in writing served by either party on the other.
The independent non-executive Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”) in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

At each AGM, one-third of the Directors are required to
retire from office. Each Director shall retire from office once
every three years. The Directors to be retired in every year
shall be those appointed by the Board during the year
and those who have been longest in office since their last
election or re-election. Mr. Zhang Zhenyi, Mr. Chan Kwan
and Mr. Yan Shuai will retire from office as Directors at the
forthcoming AGM pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles,
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM.

New Directors appointed by the Board during the year
shall retire and submit themselves for re-election at the
AGM immediately following their appointments. Mr. Zhu
Jiayu will retire from office as Director at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company, being eligible, offer himself for
re-election pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles. No
Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of its
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Group considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board. The biographical details
of each of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
of this annual report.

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETING

The Board meets regularly and, in addition to regular
meetings, it meets as and when warranted by particular
circumstances. During the Reporting Period, 8 board
meetings were held. The Directors’ attendance of the
Board meetings and general meeting are set out as
follows:
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Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
general Board meetings
meeting during during the
the Reporting Reporting
Period Period
R EH”E R & HE
BRRERXEH EzggEn
HERE HERE,
= PN BBNRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Shuai BR B A
(appointed as Chairman on (RZZE—NFHAATNR
18 September 2019) EZEAERE) 1/1 8/8
Mr. Fong Hon Hung FERSE
(re-designated as non-executive Directoron  (R=ZE—AFNA+/\H
18 September 2019 and resigned as AERFERITESILE
non-executive Director on 17 January 2020) RZ-ZZT_FTF—H++H
BEFEHNTES) 1/1 1/3
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (re-designated as non- RIRE ST
executive Director on 1 March 2020) (RZE=ZTF=H—H
AERIERITESR) 1/1 8/8
Mr. Chan Kwan PRE T4 1/1 8/8
Mr. Zhu Jiayu REHEE
(appointed on 18 September 2019) (R=ZE—NFNA+N\H
BEE) N/A & A 5/5
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Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
general Board meetings
meeting during during the
the Reporting Reporting
Period Period
RIBEHE RBEHE
BRRKEH EzggEn
HERE, HERE,
= P8 SRRY
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIREE A
(re-designated from executive Director (R=ZE=TF=R—H
on 1 March 2020) BMITESRT) N/A “1~ 38 N/A “1~ 38
Mr. Fong Hon Hung TEBEE
(re-designated from executive Director on (RZZ—-NFLA+TNA
18 September 2019 and resigned as non- BRTESFRAELERN
executive Director on 17 January 2020) —EETF—A++tH
BHEEBITES) N/A “1~ 38 1/3
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EEELLE 1/1 8/8
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson I e 1/1 8/8
Mr. Qin Fen RELRE 0/1 0/8
BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND EEeREREINER

DELEGATION

The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for leadership
and control of the Group and be collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses
on formulating the Group’s overall strategies, approving
the annual development plan and budget; monitoring

financial and operating performance; reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
system and supervising and managing the management’s

performance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Regarding the Group’s corporate governance, during the
Reporting Period, the Board has performed the following
duties in accordance with the terms of reference:

° determined and reviewed the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

° reviewed and monitored the training and continuous

professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

° reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° developed, reviewed and monitored the code of
conduct applicable to Directors and employees; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to the
management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure they remain appropriate to the
needs of the Group. The Board gives clear directions to
the management as to the matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the
Group by the management. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committee”).
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. For
the period from 7 September 2018 to 18 September 2019,
Mr. Fong Hon Hung served as both the Chairman and
CEO of the Company. Following the re-designation of Mr.
Fong Hon Hung on 18 September 2019, Mr. Yan Shuai,
the executive Director has been appointed as Chairman
and has performed the role of Chairman with effect from 18
September 2019.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct of the Company regarding directors’ transactions
of the listed securities of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors,
and all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code and its code of conduct during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
code provision A.6.5 of the Code during the Reporting
Period that all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an in-
house training on the Listing Rules in the form of a seminar
during the Reporting Period conducted by the legal advisor
as to Hong Kong laws and relevant training materials were
distributed to all the Directors. All Directors attended the
in-house training. The training covered topics including
the Code, listed company regulations and disclosure
obligations in Hong Kong, disclosable transactions and
connected transactions, etc.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the (i) audit committee (the
“‘Audit Committee”), (i) remuneration committee (the
“‘Remuneration Committee”), and (i) the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) with defined
terms of reference. The terms of reference of each of the
Board Committees, which explain their respective roles and
authority delegated to them by the Board, are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and upon reasonable
requests, are able to seek independent professional advice
and other assistance under appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 9
May 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph C3 of
the Code. The Audit Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lo Wa
Kei Roy, Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson and Mr. Qin Fen, with Mr.
Lo Wa Kei Roy being the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia,
to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, internal
control procedures and risk management control systems,
to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. During
the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management on the Group’s unaudited interim
results, audited annual results, the consolidated financial
statements and this report.

TEERBRE

EXZEE

EFTgORY()BE%RZES ([EREE"]):
WFHZEe ([FMEEY])  R(iREZE
Eg ([EEZE8®]) TATHBES®HE &
EEZEeNBERESARESSANACRK
EEeRTHSOEND EEBESETRA
Qﬂ&%i%%ﬁﬁﬁ EEZECRREHRR
RERNBITERE TEAEBERRBEER
NI = I%ﬁ%%%ﬁ&ﬁm%% BEMAM
AN/ E

BEREES

ARARIEER EWABNEI21MERTAECS
&%%ﬁmﬁ_Y ﬁiﬁﬂhﬁ%¢%ﬁ§
BEg Vi HEORESHE -BEXEZESHH
%ﬁ
ZEE

=~

m_%ﬁiﬁﬂﬁ%$ﬁﬁ TER
ERFREREAR BEEELELERER
MER -

s H-F

ERZEENIERER (HPEHE)AMBH
BEE AREEEFRAREREEZRGN
KRB REREBLIERRMBYHESTE EREX
BFAMBTESTS@R KM EMBEEBR -
RBEHE BB BEEEEHNAL
BREERTHES CERFEXE KA
MBRERARE -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 —8—h —BF 5§

33



34

'

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

During the Reporting Period, 3 meetings were held by the
Audit Committee. The attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is set out below:

REEHE BERZESCRIT3REH BRK
ZEEEKREMNHFECEHEINNT

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Name of committee members Period
RBEH—EH

HERE,

ZEENEH®A BITERRE
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (Chairman) BERELE (XE) 3/3
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson REIBEELE 3/3
Mr. Qin Fen RERE 0/3
There had been no disagreement between the Board and RBEHE EEeHEZRZESTUEER D

the Audit Committee during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, members of the Audit
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(@) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The audit committee should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;
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to develop and implement policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services.
For this purpose, “external auditor” includes any
entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to
be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally.
The audit committee should report to the board,
identifying and making recommmendations on any
matters where action or improvement is needed;

Review of the Company’s financial information

(@

to monitor integrity of the issuer’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the board, the
committee should focus particularly on:—

(i) any changes in accounting policies and
practices;
(ii) major judgmental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any
qualifications;

v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;
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(e) Regarding (d) above:—

(i) members of the committee should liaise with
the board and senior management and the
committee must meet, at least twice a year,
with the issuer’s auditors; and

(ii) the committee should consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the report and
accounts, it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the
issuer’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditors;

Oversight of the issuer’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

(f) to review the issuer’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk
committee, or by the board itself, to review the
issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems;

9 to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have
effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
issuer’s accounting and financial reporting function;

(h) to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as
delegated by the board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

0) where an internal audit function exists, to
ensure co-ordination between the internal and
external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the issuer, and to review
and monitor its effectiveness;
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to review the group’s financial and accounting
policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting records, financial
accounts or systems of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external
auditor’s management letter;

to report to the board on the matters in this code
provision;

to consider other topics, as defined by the board;

to review arrangements employees of the issuer can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The audit committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

to act as the key representative body for overseeing
the issuer’s relations with the external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee on 9 May 2015. As at the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises an executive
Director, namely Mr. Yan Shuai and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy and Mr.
Leung Ka Fai Nelson. Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of all Directors and senior management, reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives of
the Board from time to time. The Board as a whole has
determined the remuneration policy and packages of the
Directors. No individual Director was allowed to be involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration of senior
management is listed as below by band:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

EFeRMNFHEEeE MBS EE T
— B YR ARE MBI 25

TNEEEeNETERERERAEEEE RS
BRERBAEBENZETNHEREEBRNEESIE
HHEBEEZ YRBEESSTIHNRAFTERER
TEMBRAEAENEEENTNEZ -EFC
2R TEH MR &%%m%ﬂﬁ%ﬂt’jﬁﬁ1
HEEEAESLEATESSH M-

EEHM

EFEMERBESORE EERRRULAR
SEMNEEBET U EFFHFMALRQAFH
@%I EeeFEH ESFMNFRIANESSE
Wi e M BEREK -

RBEEHE SRERASNFMEEE W

No. of person

FrifeE (Bx) AB
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T A T~ 1
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7T 2 1,500,0007% 7T -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 5
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7T 22,500,000/ 7T 1

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
5 highest paid employees required to be disclosed under
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules have been set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
held 3 meetings and all the members (except the newly
appointed members) have attended to review the Group’s
remuneration policy and approved the terms of executive
Directors’ service contracts. The committee members’
attendance of the Remuneration Committee is set out as
follow:

TEERBRE

BEME - FWHEZESRITTINEHER
WE(%%%Eﬁﬂﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁf A %5 B
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/\\
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$

Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Period

RIEHR—N

HERE,

BITERRE

Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson (Chairman) R E (FE) 3/3
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EERLE 3/3
Mr. Yan Shuai B A ST A 3/3

During the Reporting Period, members of the
Remuneration Committee had performed the following
duties under the terms of reference:

° assessed the performance of executive Directors
and consulted the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration
proposals for other executive Directors;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration;

° reviewed and approved the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

° made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management;
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° made recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration of non-executive Directors;

o considered salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company
and its subsidiaries;

o ensured that no Director or any of his/her associates
is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
and

° reviewed and approved compensation payable to

executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 9
May 2015. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises an executive Director, namely Mr.
Yan Shuai, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy and Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson.
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Board are in line with the Code
and are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, diversity and competition of the
Board, assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and make recommendations to the
Board on matters relating to the appointment of Directors.
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Nomination Policy

The director nomination policy sets out the approach
and procedures the Board adopts for the nomination
and selection of Directors including the appointment of
additional directors, replacement of directors, and re-
election of directors. The selection criteria in assessing the
suitability of potential candidates includes, but not limited
to, their professionalism and personal ethics, reputation
for integrity, character and integrity, board experience,
expertise, time commitment, measurable objectives
set out in the board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee may use any process it considers appropriate
for evaluating and shortlisting candidates, which may
include, personal interviews, background checks, written
submission by the candidates and third party references.
The selection process for each of their appointments shall
be evaluated using a substantially similar process and shall
be fair and transparent.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held 3 meetings and all the members (except the newly
appointed members) had attended to review the Group’s
nomination policy. The committee members’ attendance of
the Nomination Committee is set out as follow:
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Attendance/
Number of
meetings during
the Reporting

Period

RIEHR—EN

HERE,

SRXE

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy (Chairman) BERELE (FE) 3/3
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson REBE 3/3
Mr. Yan Shuai B A 5T A 3/3
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During the Reporting Period, members of the Nomination
Committee had performed the following duties under the
terms of reference:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and made recommendations
on proposed changes (if any) to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° reviewed the Company’s Board Diversity Policy and
the progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the said policy;

° determined the policy for the nomination of
Directors;
o assessed the independence of independent non-

executive Directors; and

° made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing up to the
date of this corporate governance report. A summary of
this Board Diversity Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Board Diversity Policy,
and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
are disclosed below.
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The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Board’s diversity has been considered
from a number of measurable aspects including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services, all of which the Company considers
to be important to enhance the quality of its performance.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regards for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee will from time to time review
the Board Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its
effectiveness.

At the date of this report, the Board comprises 7 Directors,
amongst which three of them are under 33 years old.
Further, members of the Board have a variety of education
backgrounds, including holding bachelor and/or master
degrees in the science, law, financial management as well
as the business administration fields. Most of the members
also possess various finance-related experiences. The
composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills, professional experience and knowledge for an
effective leadership of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered
that the Group achieved the objectives in Board Diversity
Policy during the Reporting Period.

TEERBRE

ARBRARAEZTELTCHREARARNRIRE
BRZ - BEFELZTERREAEHIAERE
ZEEZTIEMRBANFEH AR ERTES
EREHAR SRZENFETNEEES
gt B8R (ERARR)ER  Fi&& XL

RBEER FHEKR i DHERRBEFH
%’Z’K/L\\ puﬁ’jﬁt .%ﬁj:iﬂ_zﬁ\%iqgﬁ]§

Z-EEEMAZEHURABESBRA
EEBARRUARBRGHRS @&%%@%_
b2z

REZEEFRAEERSE Ayﬁkﬁ%Zﬁ
T UREMREANRZREIETEEL-

REZEEREEERERISRIEZTES T

LB ARERETZAM -

RAREA EESH7RESMHAK - HP
ZEEFHREMNIm I EEEKER
TRMHBEES PEFERE X2 28F
BRI EE@aBNELTR SBELSN
ﬁ%%&éﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ@@ﬁ%%%o%%@
AR R EELEREMEBN Y EFE
NFEBERBEARRNF -

ﬁE\H

REAZEBEERJTEFS L LLERE LR
HiTzA®A mﬁ$¢lﬂﬁ¢%ﬁa &
EEZUIEBRENEZE

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 —8—h —BF 5§

/

43



44

'

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements and to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which
reflects the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results
of its operations and cash flows of the Group and are
in compliance with the relevant accounting standards
and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
each financial year have been prepared on this basis.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as its external auditors for the year ended 31
March 2020. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor. There is no non-audit services provided by the
auditors. Details of the fees paid/payable to HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited during the Reporting Period are as
follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. However, risk-taking is an unavoidable
necessity and an accepted part of the Company’s
business while effective risk management is an integral
part to present competitive advantages and ensure the
Company achieves its strategic and business objectives.
The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failing
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses.

Risk Management

Risk management applies to all aspects of the Group’s
business and is a critical component in developing
strategic plans, preparing operational plans and budgets,
approving investment projects and managing project plans.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and management
based on the severity of impact on the Company and the
probability of risk occurring.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the
risks as follows:

° Risk elimination: management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect
eliminate the risk entirely.
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° Risk mitigation: management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood and/
or severity of impact to an acceptable level.

° Risk acceptance: management may decide that the
risk rating is acceptable for the Company meanwhile
and no action is thus required. However, the risk
would continue to be monitored to ensure the level of
risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.

Controls and Reviews

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that the
relevant management directives are carried out and actions
that may be needed to address risks are taken. These may
include approvals, verifications, reviews, safeguarding of
assets and segregation of duties.

Control activities can be divided into operations, financial
reporting and compliance, although there may, on
occasion, be some overlaps between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Group include:

o analytical reviews: such as conducting reviews of
actual performance against prior periods;

° direct functional or activity management: review of
performance reports;

o physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories
and other assets are safeguarded and subject to
periodic checks; and

° segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties
among different people, with a view to strengthening
checks and minimizing the risk of errors and abuse.
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Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

° conducts its affairs with high regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission;

° closely communicates and seeks advice from its
legal advisor in assessing the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact
the price of the Shares or their trading volume,
and to determine whether the relevant information
is considered inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant
to the SFO and the Listing Rules;

o has included in its Corporate Code of Conduct
a strict prohibition on the unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

o ensures, through its own internal reporting process
and the consideration of their outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and
dissemination of inside information.

TEERBRE

AEDCE

ERARERBEHRARTHEENRERARMEE
REE:

. AREEKR BREBESFLBES
BERZESNEN (ABHERER
300 1

. EZRBAEEZEYEBASKEBR AU
AEEAAEZERNERARZEN
RELRBREHMAETZE AHEEM
MESSEWRBREARBER AREE
ZRMEGRI LR EMHRINREGEINER
TTHEE A FRBFE

. EE(EETATA) ARAEBRBE
EAEBEETERARTENIARTHER
MME &

. EREAGAMBEREFLESNERE
ANEZEEBONER BRAREE
BRENEBEMABHEE -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 —8—h —BF 5§

47



'

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

Assessing the Effectiveness of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Board, via the Audit Committee, is responsible for the
review and assessment of the major risks the Group faces
and the review, approval and monitoring of the Group’s
response to such risks annually.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management
process and reviews the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by performing
the following procedures:

° Review with management annually those reports on
compliance with the risk management policy;

° Discuss with management annually on the Group’s
major risks and the steps management has taken
since then or should take to address and deal with
such risks; and

° Review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management practices.

Management is responsible for ensuring the Group’s
business operations being conducted in line with our risk
management policy, taking into consideration changes in
external environment and the Group’s risk tolerance level.

In addition to the Board’'s oversight, the Group has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to remediate material
internal control deficiencies (if any). Management, through
the engagement of the independent internal control and
risk advisory team, is responsible for the annual risk
reporting process. The independent internal control and
risk advisory team meets with members of the senior
management to review and assess risks and discuss
remedial measures to address material internal control
deficiencies (if any), including any changes relevant to
a given year. Risks are compiled, ratings assigned and
migration plans documented. The risk assessment is
reviewed by management and presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review.
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The Group has in place effective processes and systems
for the identification, capture and reporting of operational,
financial and compliance-related information in a form
and timeframe intended to ensure that staff carry out their
designated responsibilities.

Risk Management and Internal Control Process

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews
annually the continuous effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems dealing with risk
and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and
regulations, and risk management functions.

The assessment considers:

o the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the risk management and
internal control systems;

° the extent and frequency with which the results
of monitoring are communicated, enabling the
Committee to build up a cumulative assessment of
the state of control in the Group and the effectiveness
with which risk is being managed;

° the incidence of any significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified at any time
during the period and the extent to which they have
resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future
have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition;

o the effectiveness of the Group’s processes in relation
to financial reporting and statutory and regulatory

compliance;

° areas of risk identified by management;

TEERBRE

AEBEEETARERFLEHE BREEKA R
HREMN ZELRESEE UBERAREH
EM HMREIBTHEEERE

B BB E R

ERZEERREZSEFULAEELHEER
B B2 B 75 & 5T M R BV L B B 3R K A AP S R
EREREBERR 2ERTARLRBRE-F
BEFTEBEREANMEAREERES T HE

1TAR RS °

FEITIEEEE:
. EEESEERARALABREENA

MEENENTHERERER:

. EBREREAMEMEERALE N
{Eé,\ EEJEZ’SEIE@E*T JL'H(/R&H AA—A—
ENBREEETREN G

. HANERAREREROEMERNEERR
EETRORE AL EHKRETE
ANERRLEBEZBRANEERE miE
%&%ﬁ%ﬁ%$%@mﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ

RE M AR AR A
SEEEAVE:

. AREAMYBREREATNAREF
B AL

«  EREXINOAREE

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 —8—h —BF 5§

49



50

'

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

° significant risks reported by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team;

o work programs proposed by the independent internal
control and risk advisory team and the external
auditors; and

° significant issues arising from internal and external
audit.

As a result of the above review, the Board considers that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate and have complied with the
Code Provisions on risk management and internal control
throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an independent internal
control and risk advisory team, ZHONGHUI ANDA Risk
Services Limited, which has assisted in monitoring the
corporate governance of the Group and providing an
objective assessment to the Board on whether a sound
internal control system is maintained and operated by
management.

The internal control and risk advisory team conducted a
review on a number of corporate governance areas and
business cycles and provided recommendations for the
improvement and strengthening of the internal control
system. No significant control finding or weakness has
been identified by the internal control and risk advisory
team. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and
recommendations of the internal control and risk advisory
team on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system and reports to the Board on such reviews.
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Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The
Company may consider declaring and paying dividends to
the Shareholders provided that the Group is profitable and
without affecting the normal operations of the Group. In
determining the declaration of dividends and the dividend
amount, the Board will take into consideration, inter alia,
the following factors:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance;

° the liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;
and

° any other factors that the Board may consider
appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
are also subject to restrictions under the applicable laws
and the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company.

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
period.

The Board would review the Company’s dividend policy
from time to time considering factors including but not
limited to capital investment and business plan.

TEERBRE

IR EBUR

ARABEHRB—EBEREBR -ERNRARENE
MARENAZERARALEERBORED X
NRAXEEERRARRERLKMEE -REE
BERRBEERERBREZSHEK EFEH
ZR(EFEBF)ATHEE:

. AEBZERMBEHMBERR

B
P
J)
s
=i
@
/D]bl
k>
==
e
%A
i
B
El]
X

. RRABRAEBEKE
RAE o k& &

‘m]n
N
S
i3
B
=t

. EEZeRRAEZERNEMER-

ARABERLENBRENZBRERRANRR
AR A B2 KA e AT B B 15 ST RO BR )

RRER  BTRE
KBRS -

RN ERFENEEZRE

BEEeB THRIARAZKREBK  UERE
BREETRERARENREBFEAFEER
=

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 —8—h —BF 5§

51



52

'

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Jan Wing Fu, Barry has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) on 9 April 2019.

The Company Secretary reports directly to the Board. All
Directors have easy access to the Company Secretary
and the responsibility of the Company Secretary is to
ensure the Board meetings are properly held and are in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for giving advices
with respect to the Directors’ obligations on securities
interest disclosure, disclosure requirements of disclosable
transactions, connected transactions and inside
information.

The Company Secretary, Mr. Jan Wing Fu, Barry, had
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The AGM is a forum in which the Board and the
Shareholders could communicate directly and exchange
views concerning the affairs and overall performance of
the Group, and its future developments, etc. At the AGM,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are available to attend to questions raised by the
Shareholders. The external auditors of the Company is also
invited to be present at the AGM to address to queries of
the Shareholders concerning the audit procedures and the
auditors’ report.

The next AGM of the Company will be held within 2020,
the notice of which shall be sent to the Shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right to vote
at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary by mail at Unit No. 901, 9th Floor,
Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting. The requirements and procedures are
set out above in the paragraph headed “Procedures for
Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.
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Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person (other
than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Head Office or at the Registration Office no earlier than the
day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
for such election and no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such general meeting and the minimum length of the
period during which such notices to the Company may be
given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary
by post to the principal place of business in Hong Kong
set out in the section headed “Corporation Information”
by fax at +852 3793 3530 or by email at info@1718hk.
com. The Company Secretary is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board’s
direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions
and inquiries, to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures
to investors, the Group delivers information of the Group
to the public through various channels, including general
meetings, public announcements and financial reports.
The investors are also able to access the latest news and
information of the Group via our website (www.hkex1718.
hk).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the
Company together with the Board extend their invitation
to all Shareholders and encourage them to attend the
forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings.
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The Shareholders may also forward their enquiries and
suggestions in writing to the Company to the followings:

Address: Unit No. 901, 9th Floor,
Capital Centre,
No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: info@1718hk.com

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there had been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
could ensure an effective distribution of the resources
and Shareholders’ interests. The senior management
will continue endeavours in maintaining, enhancing and
increasing the Group’s corporate governance level and
quality.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report was prepared for an overview of the
performance of the Group on environmental, social and
governance (‘ESG Report”). This ESG Report has been
prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report covers the
overall performances, risks, strategies, measures and
commitments of the Group in environmental, social, and
governance areas for the year ended 31 March 2020
(“YR2020").

During the YR2020, the Group is principally engaged in
providing foundation construction, ground investigation
services, financial services and trading of beauty and skin
care products in Hong Kong. The foundation construction
is its major business, which mainly consists of the
construction of socketed H-piles, mini piles, soldier piles,
pipe piles and king posts. The Group conducts foundation
construction through Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering
Company Limited and ground investigation services
through Chun Shun Boring Engineering Company Limited.
Therefore, the ESG Report will mainly focus on the above
businesses.

For the Group’s corporate governance practice
information, please refer to the corporate governance
report on pages 25 to 55 of this annual report.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND
COMMUNICATION

The Group defines its stakeholders as people who affect
its business or who are affected by its business. Its
stakeholders include government and regulatory agency,
investors and shareholders, customers, employees,
suppliers and the general public. The Group actively
communicates with these stakeholders and presents its
updated operation condition to them proactively through
various channels. The Group integrates their opinions
with its daily operational decisions, strive to balance the
interests of the parties and satisfy the expectations and
demands of stakeholders.
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Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels

K& EERBE BRRE

Government and e Comply with relevant laws and regulations e Law-abiding operations
Regulatory Agencies e Proper tax payment e Tax payment on time and in full

TR & B E i1 o BREMEBZERER o REKE

o ERHMTIA
Investors and Shareholders ¢ Investment return

e Transparency of information

e Corporate strategy and governance
KREEMBR o KREMK

. EMERE
. REEERER

o BREBRAH

e Better manage risk and generate
sustainable long-term returns

e Statutory reports and general
disclosures

e |nterim and annual reports

o BlRBRERENRELFFHER
Hfj [0 it

o EEMEN—MRIKE

o RHRFERSE

Customers e Durable and solid foundation * Regular meetings with
contractors/customers
e High-quality ground investigation services e Maintain good reputation in the

e Direct Communication

P s REREMME
o BELMEBIRS
s HEAR

foundation industry
e Customers’ feedback survey
o TEHEEME RPRITEHE
o RMETERFRIBE
o FFRERMAS
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RE - #HE8KkES

HE

Stakeholders Needs and Expectations Communication Channels
K& EERHE BERE
Employees e Remuneration and promotion prospect * Performance reviews and
appraisals
e Healthy and safe working environment e |mplement health and safety
management system
e Corporate culture and well-being ® In-house training
BT o HEiKEHE o EREIEE AT
s BRERLZEHNIIERE o EMREEMZEEEESR
o (EXEEEH o A
Suppliers e Stable cooperation relationship e Conduct assessment survey
e Respect to contractual commitment and e Fulflment of contractual
payment terms obligations in accordance with
laws and regulations
HER . %ﬁAﬁﬁ% o ETAMEHRAE
o BEANBERMNRIES s BEZBERBITENER
The General Public e Ensure the dalily life was not affected by engineering e Minimise noises in compliance
with the Noise Control Ordinance
e Constructions cause no structural danger upon the ¢ Adhere to green operations
completion of works
e Comply with relevant environmental laws related to e Law-abiding operations
noise, air pollution and others
HEAR s BREABAEBRIAXIRBRE o BER(RIEHRM) KRE

TREIRTSEREEYERBILER
BRERERERSAZHBERREM
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group carried out materiality assessment on a
number of ESG issues in order to identify which issues
were crucial to the Group’s business and were of the
material concerns to stakeholders. The Group has
identified 22 ESG issues covering environmental, social
and operation. Management and employees of the Group
have participated in the preparation of the materiality
assessment and assessed the importance of these 22
ESG issues to businesses of the Group and stakeholders,
and make disclosure of relevant information.
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The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in YR2020:
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IMPORTANCE OF TOPICS TO BUSINESS HIGHEST
Environmental issues Social issues Operation issues
RIGRE HERHE EEME
Greenhouse gas emissions 9 Local community engagement 17 Economic value generated
BERBEYN T B E2R CEENKEEE
Energy consumption Community investment Corporate governance
T 10 R R A 18. FEEA
Water consumption 11 QcpupationaLhealth and safety 19 Anti-corruption
FA7K CBERRET S RES
Waste Labour standards in supply chain Supply chain management
BED 12 GrEmnsTEE 20 B gpEm
Environmental impact of construction | 44 Training and development ¢ Customer satisfaction
ERNRETE RN ER CERPMEE
Green buildings certification Employee welfare Customer privacy
Benmgs 14 BB EA 2. Zr Al
Customer engagement in Inclusion and equal opportunities
environmental issues 16. BARFEHRE
BEFAEREHER NS E
Use of chemicals 16, lalent attraction and retention
L2 fE A CRSIRBEAT
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is engaged in foundation construction and
ground investigation services, which may inevitably
produce exhaust gas, greenhouse gas, dust, sewage,
noises and other emissions. However, the Group has
implemented detailed internal codes, and made clear
guidelines on management of site environment, control on
emissions, and even management of office environment, in
an effort to minimise the impacts of its daily operation on
the environment.

As a recognition to the Group’s environment policies,
its environmental management system concerning the
design, supply and installation of the rock-socketed
steel H-pile in pre-bored hole and mini pile work, has
been identified to be in compliance with ISO 14001:
2015 after the assessment since 2007. The Group has
been granted the OHSAS 18001:2007 Certification
of Environment Management System by Accredited
Certification International Limited, the Best Safety and
Environment Protection Subcontractor Award and the On-
site Best Safety and Environmental Subcontractor Award
by customers, all of which prove the Group’s endeavour in
promoting environmentally responsible practices.

1. Emissions

Air Pollution — Exhaust Gas and Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions (“GHG Emission”) from
daily business activities mainly represent direct exhaust
emissions from construction machineries and transport
vehicles while carrying out projects, as well as electricity
and paper consumption in office and warehouse. The
Group has issued specific internal guidance for regulating
and monitoring the GHG Emissions and exhaust emissions
during the daily operation, including the construction
process and environment management on the site, turning
off all idle construction machineries and strictly enforcing
“Switch off Idling Vehicles”, as well as reminding staff to
turn off all electric appliances while leaving the working
place.
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The Group has complied with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance and other regulations promulgated by
governments and currently applicable to the Group, as
well as environmental requirements of contractor. All
machineries, including leased machineries, used on the site
shall obtain approval or exemption from the Environmental
Protection Administration, and shall not be used on the site
until the approval label or exemption label being attached.
Those machineries consume ultra-low-sulfur diesel to
reduce the emission of suspended particles effectively.

In addition, the Group maintains and repairs machineries,
equipment and vehicles on regular basis, with a view to
prevent them from generating excess emissions of exhaust
caused by broken parts and other reasons, and to facilitate
the reduction of fuel consumption.

RS HERERBRE

AEBEEBRE (CERITRE HIEG) MEATFTRA
HMARRBEANAEE 2 EMBRO - A REST
AEEZRRER -MBABZAMBE#M (B
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During the YR2020, the greenhouse gas and exhaust data RZEZTFE BRERABREIFEREEN
are as followed: ™
Categories of emissions Unit 2020 2019
BHRER B —E-EF —E-hE
Air emissions
JB% R BE L
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions kg 622.2 525.9
REA Tr
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions kg 1.3 0.8
TR k71 Tr
Particulate matter (PM) emission kg SIES) 42 1
RERL ) BE R Tr
GHG emissions
BERBEHEK
Total GHG emissions! ton CO% 7,905.4 5,659.0
= RS AR WS mEE
GHG emissions intensity ton CO% 5913 43.4
(per employee)
mERBHNEE WS mEE
(BEEER)
Direct emissions (Scope 1) ton CO% 7,813.8 5,464.2
BHEYHR(SBE-) WS mEE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) ton CO% 75.1 77.9
MR (BE) WS mEE
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) ton CO% 1588 16.9

HipfEEgem (BE=)

Wi — SR E &

HG emissions can be divided into three separate areas (i) direct; (i) indirect; and (i) other indirect.

G
! BEREHNAI D A= KB IRR () E R ()P K i) B b PEk
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Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from gasoline consumption
by the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions resulting from electricity
consumption by the Group.

Scope 3: Other indirect GHG emissions include emission
from business travel by air by employees and
emission from electricity consumption for
processing fresh water and sewage.

Air Pollution - Dust

Dust is generated during construction work. Dust
emissions can mainly be attributed to wind and kinesis.
Construction materials such as sand and cement stored
outdoor as well as the dust of the exposed construction
area are easily scattered in dry and windy weather. In
addition, dust is generated by external force in particular
the construction trucks and machineries during the
process of excavation and soil loosening.

In compliance with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, the
Group controls the emission of air pollutants by following
the Group’s internal guidance. It covers all vehicles
carrying sand and other scraps completely with canvas to
ensure that no large amount of dust is generated during
transportation. In order to prevent dust spreading around,
the Group installs water sprinklers on the sites to clean tires
of construction vehicles while entering into or leaving the
sites and roads.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment

Waste from daily operation includes general inert waste
and non-inert construction materials from construction
works. The Group manages waste from the site in
accordance with the internal waste management guidance
and the Waste Disposal Ordinance. In general, the Group
categorises the waste from construction works. General
inert waste from work, such as rocks, if applicable, shall
be reused as filling materials at the site or collected by
professional contractors as reclamation materials in the
future. Other waste that is not applicable for recycle or
reuse shall be discarded to the public dumping area. Metal
and chemical waste within the site shall be collected and
discarded by licensed contractors. All waste shall be well
disposed before being removed from the site.

In respect of office waste, apart from dumping waste
at the designated place in line with the requirements of
the property management office of the office premise,
the Group also categorises the waste and engages a
contractor to collect toner cartridge. Meanwhile, the
Group regularly monitors the consumption of paper, toner
cartridges and ink cartridges.

During the YR2020, the data of non-hazardous waste is as
follows:

RS HERERBRE

EEREZRRYWEE

AREEEANEEYEREIIEESMN —
mIEMEY RIEBHREEDR - $%lﬁ%ﬁ
HMEEERIESIAR (EMEEGHN) -
BTITHED - —KME A5EZ %MII&
EEXENBEEY B - TR —RBEEY
planmR (mER) KMEERELAMEE
TR R HEEARERKIERRESED
BOHEREMEEY NTEARKEKEBA K
MEgEr A RHEREE THANESE R
BRENAFEANELDUEEE -MENESRE
VIRNEBRTHA - HELERE -

WMAEEYIE B TRERAZERNEEERE
Tk BRI EENIETH AN REB IR
SHETNESE TZEAREFQWRHDE -
R AEETHERAKR MHELEESE
B SH RIS N o

R-ZZE_TFEE ETEEVEEWT:

Categories of waste Unit 2020 2019
BEYESR By —E-EHF —E-NF
Waste

=517

Total non-hazardous waste produced? ton 74 36
FESREEREMEE 7

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity ton (per employee) 0.5 0.3
MEXBREREEVEE W (ZEEER)

Total hazardous waste produced?® ton N/A N/A
FFEXEEREDHES % TiE A T iE
Hazardous waste produced intensity ton (per employee) N/A N/A
MELXBRERENEE W (g2EER) T iE A TiE A
Paper kg 2,031 2,166
AR IR T

®w W NN

R-TE-_TFE TEELEEEEY-

During the YR2020, the Group’s non-hazardous waste from daily operation mainly comprises of iron.
RIZZZFRE AEERRLEEENESEREYIEZRREHE -
During the YR2020, no hazardous waste is generated.
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Sewage Discharge

The Group has complied with the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance. Water consumed at the site shall be discharged
to the designated environmental treatment facility in
accordance with the instruction of the contractors before
being discharged outside the site. The Group shall deploy
adequate manholes and deposition pools in line with
seasons, with an aim to mitigate the water pollution caused
by garbage, oil or other materials.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollutant
emissions. During the YR2020, the Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance and
other relevant laws and regulations relating to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have
significant impact on the environment. In addition, there
was no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the YR2020.
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2. Use of Resources

The Group encourages its staff to make good use of
resources, and issues internal notice to all of the staff,
requiring them to save energy and reduce consumption:

° Turn off all the air conditioners and lighting systems
before leaving the working environment;

° Use LED lighting in the office;

o Maintain the indoor temperature at 25 degrees
Celsius in the office;

° Use recycled paper and double-sided printing as
well as old envelops for internal documents or non-
important/unclassified documents;

° Use electronic documents such as email as possible
and reduce paper usage;

° Reduce the use of disposable goods and reuse
office stationery;

° Make use of telephone/video conferencing
equipment to avoid unnecessary business travelling.
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During the YR2020, data of resources consumption is as

T BRHEREEET

follows:

Type of resources consumption Unit 2020 2019
HRH AR B —E-EF —EB-NF
Electricity purchases for consumption kWh 133,992 139,352
BEHRE T E B

Electricity consumption intensity kWh (per employee) 937 1,089
RERE TR (BEER)

Amount of water consumption m? 2,828 5,491
K= TR

Water consumption intensity m? (per employee) 20 43
FEKE R UK (BEEER)

Total packaging material used for finished products* kg N/A N/A
BIRK TR BEME R 8 Fr T iE A TiE A
Amount of packaging material per unit produced* kg N/A N/A
BHEmO B EM B E Fx T35 A i@ A
Petrol liters 39,181 18,619
v AF

Diesel liters 2,944,199 2,068,400
e nFH

Cement ton 16,429 8,212
Kife WA

AEBERR/KERBVEZLE  MIAXRKEERD
REHORKES BEITHHORAKERRR
Bz BN T HKRBHABRBIRME K
SETNEHRERETADNZREKRKER MR
EHE ASERKEHMIMERE 840 H
KIRFE REEIEHHAK

The Group considers water resources to be quite valuable
and the Group is committed to promoting the concept
of saving water. There is a wide range of water use at
construction sites. Although the water supply facilities at
the sites are provided by the contractors, the Group calls
on the construction workers from time to time not to waste
water. As for offices, the Group puts up some slogans with
saving water near taps to remind staff to save water.

& No use of packaging materials since the Group does not have physical products for sale. Therefore, this disclosure is not applicable
to the Group.
¢ BRAEBUVEEYEREE WY TNERAEME Bt ZBETERRAEE-
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3. The Environment and Natural Resource
Noise Management

As certain procedures would produce noises during
the construction, which cause impacts to the residents
nearby, the Group adopts necessary measures to minimize
noises in compliance with the Noise Control Ordinance.
The Group conducts construction during designated
time (e.g. 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. on normal working days) and
applies for Noise Control Permit (NCP) for certain works or
construction ways.

The Group would set noise barriers or noise enclosure at
the early stage during construction period to suppress the
noise level.

Enhancing Environmental Awareness

The Group actively enhances the environmental awareness
of its staff in addition to enhancing environmental
measures, including issuing of internal environmental
guidance and sharing of relevant environmental information
in relation to green office.

RS HERERBRE
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SOCIETY

Employment and Labour Practices
1. Employment
Employment Policy

The Group has established a series of internal policies
related to employment according to the guidance under
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, industry features and
practices to ensure that its employees are provided with
equal promotion opportunity and other packages, such
as minimum wage security, maximum working hours,
compensatory leave, mandatory provident fund or pension
security and rewards for long-term services.

In general, subsidiaries of the Group would make proper
upward or downward adjustment to the number of existing
staff in the recruitment process based on the scale and
actual situation or progress of the existing sites and the
sites awarded. As all employees on the sites are paid on
a daily basis, the employee turnover is relatively at a high
level.

As general foundation construction and ground
investigation services involve certain high-risk activities,
only staff possessed of the Construction Industry Safety
Training Certificate can carry out related work on the site.

Besides, as our subsidiaries engage in construction
business, they will also subcontract some projects to other
subcontractors. In order to ensure that the employees of
the subcontractors could receive reasonable wages, we
usually pay the wages to such employees responsible for
relevant projects on behalf of the subcontractors.

During the YR2020, the Group did not involve any illegal
activities related to employment that had caused material
impact on the Group.
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Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group’s principal businesses are foundation
construction and ground investigation services, which
demand plenty of physical labour force, hence traditionally
male employees are a majority in the workforce of
construction business.

The Group is impartial in choosing its employees, and
has gradually established and improved its recruitment
mechanism. Recruitment of employees is based on their
work experience, techniques and skills, work performance.
The Group does not discriminate our employees on the
basis of their gender, age, origin, nationality, race, religious
belief, sexual orientation, physical disability, marital status
and so on.

Staff Communication

The Group places high priority on staff communication
through various activities and channels, by which it
can understand its staff's needs and strengthen our
relationship. In some traditional Chinese festivals, such as
Chinese New Year Eve, the Company organised New Year
Eve’s dinner for all staff in order to create a harmonious
and friendly working atmosphere and strengthen
communication with staff.

Dismissal

The Group complies with the guidance under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. If terminating the employment of
staff, the Group will follow the process to make reasonable
compensation to the dismissed employees. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment relationship
are set out in the employment contracts of every employee.

= S
RIE -HERERRE
FERERZTEE

REBzTL2XB A ZE N &R BR

BEERERNEY BANLESESR L BHE
TREEEBNEZSEH -

AEBRFRFNAARB BFXEITEA

THREEE A TELR Rtk THEX
RARBTHEER TUAMA - Fie- iy &

2 oEhk FmHEMN MERE BFEERK EBHRW
MREERE T -

ETEHBE

AEEGEERETIRR ERBRBREHLR
B THEIRK MBREHHER -HERyF—
LERTEGHA ARBASFRSE B2
ET®RE Mﬂﬁﬂl%?iﬂéﬁﬁl{’ﬁﬁ—\, 0 o8 £
BETWAEAE

e

AEEBETEE (EBEGO) 55  nEES
T AEBBEZBREEE KA THERET
EEBE-BREFFEENEBEEKXEEHIRN
EEIMNEREGANT -

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 —8—h —BF 5§

69



70

'

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS dERERBRE

The employment data as at 31 March 2020 is set out RZEZZEF=A=+—HHEFREEH @
below: :

As at 31 March

R=A=+—A8
Employment data Unit 2020 2019
EREE B —E-%F —F-NF
Total number of staff Number of staff 143 128
ETHH BT A
By gender
=z E (o)
Male % 88 89
S
Female % 12 11
pegis
Employment Type
EEER
Full-time staff (Male) % 35 37
FHBET (BEMH)
Full-time staff (Female) % 11 10
2BET (&)
Contract staff (Male) % 53 52
BHETI (BMH)
Contract staff (Female) % 1 1
AHEBT (L)
Age Distribution
FieDMH
Below 30 % 8 6
30BR AT
30-39 % 17 20
30-395%
40-49 % 23 21
40-495%
50-59 % 35 33
50-595%
Above 60 % 17 20
60X A 1=
New employees Number of staff 55 57
FEET BT A
Staff turnover Number of staff 40 52
BIRK BETA#
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The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to employment during the course of operation.
During the YR2020, the Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with the Employment Ordinance and other
relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare in Hong Kong. In addition, there
was no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the YR2020.

2. Health and Work Safety
Occupational Safety

The Group cares about the health and well-being of our
employees. Due to the nature of its businesses, some
employees have to operate a variety of large machines
during daily work, which involves certain safety risk. As
such, the Group implemented various safety measures to
ensure the occupational safety of the employees.

All employees who perform engineering operation must
undergo mandatory basic safety training. Only those
awarded with the Construction Industry Safety Training
Certificate, commonly known as the “Green Card”, can
be employed to carry out related work on the site. In
order to enhance site safety supervision and staff's safety
awareness, the Group has also engaged professional
safety consultants to conduct inspection on site safety so
as to rectify site safety problems immediately and reduce
the occurrence of industrial injury incidents. The Group’s
professional safety consultants also regularly provide
certain safety courses and guidelines on site safety for site
staff and supervisors.

As there are many machinery and other equipment in
the construction sites, employees will be more prone to
industrial accidents. The Group strictly requires workers to
wear safety protection equipment such as safety helmets
and obey the safety guidelines of contractors and the
Group.
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Physical and mental health

Apart from daily work, the Group encourages employees
to participate in various types of outdoor activities which
benefit to the body fitness and mind and keep healthy
to promote the physical and mental development of
employees and maintain a work-life balance.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to health and safety during the course of operation.
In YR2020, there was no case of material non-compliance
with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the relevant
laws and regulations relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards that have a significant impact in Hong Kong. In
addition, there was no record significant safety accidents
and occupational injuries, nor did it have any events
regarding safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards; and no violation
of health and safety laws and regulations was found in
YR2020.

3. Development and Training

The Group actively attracts and retains talents, and trains
employees who have the potential to become managers
in the long run. Therefore, the Group encourages its
employees to receive further education in relation to the
development needs of the Group and make good use
of their talents to achieve their career goals. The Group
offers sufficient internal promotion opportunities to its
employees. The Group promotes its staff based on their
staff performance evaluation results. The Group’s senior
management has extensive experience in the industry
and will actively share their knowledge to facilitate the
development of our employees. Employees may also
communicate with and seek professional advice from their
department heads on their personal career development
planning.
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All staff on the construction site are required to attend site
safety lectures organised by the contractor that last for half
a day to one and a half days depending on requirements of
such contractor. The Group has also asked staff to attend
lectures on construction site safety and crisis training
organised by professionals.

The Group has appointed professionals to provide its
Directors and senior management with trainings on
various aspects such as the Listing Rules and corporate
governance.

4. Labour Standards

The Group rigidly complies with all relevant labour
standards in Hong Kong and actively protects the basic
personal rights and interests of its employees, ensuring
that they work in a fair environment and are respected.
The Group strictly forbids unlawful acts such as child and
forced labour. In order to combat illegal employment of
child and forced labour, the Human Resources Department
of the Group requires job seekers to provide valid
identification before confirming employment to ensure that
applicants can be employed in accordance with the law.

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to labour standards during the course of operation.
In YR2020, there was no case of material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance and the relevant laws and
regulations relating to preventing child or forced labour
in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group did not employ
child and forced labour, nor did it record any cases of
discrimination involving race, religion, age or disability in
YR2020.
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OPERATING PRACTICE
5. Supply Chain Management

The Group has a total of 181 suppliers, mainly including
subcontractors and material suppliers which are Hong
Kong based companies. There was no major change in the
regional ratio during the year.

The Group has long-term relationships and mutual trust
with its major suppliers (including subcontractors, material
suppliers, etc.) based on long term cooperation and mutual
trust, and all of them have been our material suppliers for
more than a decade. As the Group’s businesses are based
in Hong Kong, it chooses to purchase from suppliers in
Hong Kong to save transportation costs.

In addition to geographical factors, the Group chooses
and evaluates its suppliers based on their professional
qualifications, product quality, service capabilities and
pricing, etc. and in accordance with our procurement
policy. Furthermore, the Group strictly stipulated that all
purchase orders on materials are placed by the office’s
purchaser, and purchase orders must be signed by
Directors to be valid.

6. Product Responsibility
Product quality

The Group has been engaged in foundation construction
and ground investigation services for over a decade and
has completed hundreds of projects one after another.
The Group is widely recognised and highly praised by its
clients as it focuses on service quality and is committed
to providing its clients with top-tier service portfolio. To
meet the demand of its clients, the Group has developed
its internal management system and closely monitored its
project execution process, with an aim to render premium
and reliable service to its clients.
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All foundation construction and ground investigation
services provided by the Group shall be verified by the
contractor or surveyor, and the Group believes that this
will also help enhance its clients’ confidence on and
recognition of its services. The Group’s quality control
system on the design, supply and installation of Rock-
socketed Steel H-pile in Pre-bored Hole and Minipile work
has been accredited with 1ISO9001:2015 certification of
quality management system by Accredited Certification
International Limited. During the YR2020, the Group
received no complaints or claims from our customers
arising from the quality issues of the work performed by the
Group or sub-contractors, which in the view of Directors, is
attributable to the effective quality control measures.

Policies of privacy

The Group acts as a provider of money lending services
and has access to personal data of its customers, hence
ensuring privacy of its customers’ information is one of the
most important issues. The Group attaches great attention
to the protection of privacy and intellectual property. The
Group ensures that all the business data of its customers
which may be accessible will be properly dealt with by its
staff and will not be used or leaked without authorisation.

Communication with customers

The Group actively communicates with its customers to
understand their needs and their feedbacks on the services
provided by the Group. In the event that the Group’s
projects could not reach the requirements and expectation
of the customers, the Group will actively cooperate with the
customers and make some remedies so as to satisfy the
requirements of the contractors or surveyors.
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Credit approval policy

Money Lending Policy adopted by the Group has been
designed to ensure that the Group’s business operates in
accordance with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163,
Laws of Hong Kong). The Group will regularly monitor, review
and, when necessary, update the existing policy to ensure
the money lending business is strictly in compliance with the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163, Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486,
Laws of Hong Kong), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance,
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163, Laws of Hong
Kong) and other applicable laws and regulations that have
a significant impact relating to advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
by the Group in Hong Kong in YR2020.

7. Anti-Corruption

The Group and its subsidiaries all strictly adhere to the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance promulgated by the
Hong Kong SAR Government. The Group seeks to further
review the customers’ information through understanding
customers’ background by way of interview, thereby
identifying and preventing the customers and employees
from bribery, blackmail, fraud and money-laundering in any
way. The Group will regularly review the implementation of
relevant systems and put more resources in improving the
mechanism, if necessary.

The Group has developed a Whistle-blowing Policy
internally. Staff may report to relevant department
managers or senior management in the event that they
identify any irregularities, and the Group will protect the
identity of the informer. The Group shall conduct detailed
investigation on the reported event and take appropriate
actions according to the result.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control
and risk advisory team, which has assisted in monitoring
the corporate governance of the Group and in providing
an objective assessment to the Board on whether a
sound internal control system is maintained and operated
by management. The Group also engaged independent
auditors to conduct external audit, in order to prevent and
control the fraud or wrongdoings within the Group.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —B—h, B 5§

EEFHMBE

AEBRMZEEBRRDABRAEERKE

EBREFBENF163E (REANKEH) MR

Ao AKRBRBERER FHEREHRBER
(MEFE) NHEREEXEGBEBRETERA
BlE1638 (HIEAGED) °

AEBY TAMBEMBERZRETEED £E486
E(BEAER (FLE) GO <5 M A%
1) ~BFEBEHIF163E (HEAGD) A RS
ﬁ%$ﬁlﬁ_7_girﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁg
mERBHES BEMMEBEEREAY

HY EL A 8 R R R ROA M e

7. RES

AEBERBETHBARBEBETEERRR
7Bz B3 LE R AR IR 1) o AN & B 38 38 3
THREFPFER E—TENEFPER tmH
MR IEEFPME TAEMADXNETHE
R BFRERE-AEESTEHIREAES
EORITER WAFTE BREZERNAE
=W o

AEBAMER T RERBEK SEME THR
TRERER AJAAERMAIEXSRERE
EER AEEEeREFRAGH - AEES
AEREHEFAFE  ARBEFASERREN
BETE -

$%EE§E@IW%%T&HRWQI%
B ERASENERER YREEERS
MPBEATRIANNEEFNE/RESTERHE
B - AEETEEBLEME A EEE
TTONBRRAT B MIEHIAEEFEEFREKA
BRITR-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with local laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption during the course of operation.
In YR2020, there was no case of any material non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong Kong
that have a significant impact. In addition, there was no
report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
YR2020.

8. Community Investment

The Group is committed to and take pride in contributing
to the community in a variety of forms. As a part of the
community that it cherishes, the Group has put its best
effort in helping the local communities and people in
needs in the society and contributing to the well-being of a
community beyond financial support. The Group constantly
encourages its employees to contribute their skills and time
to the community by volunteering its time in the community
development and outreach programs. The Group has
been striving to “reward the community” in different ways.
The Group values its corporate social responsibility by
dedicating to improve its staff awareness of community
care.

The Group proactively seeks to promote the spirit of
corporate social responsibility within the company by
organising or participating in appropriate community
activities. Through various types of events, we encourage
our employees to contribute to the community so as to
help the needy and improve the relationship among staff,
enterprise and community.

In the coming future, the Group will continue to attach
great importance to community services, and will
encourage its staff members to be actively engaged in
voluntary services and join hands together to disseminate
the spirit of services in the community where the Group all
depends on.
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The Board presents this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 October
2014. Its registered office and principal place of business
are at Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, PO. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1- 1108, Cayman Islands and Unit no. 901,
9th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report. There was no significant change in the
Group’s principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Reporting Period
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is
included in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. This discussion forms part of
this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Reporting
Period by operating segments is set out in the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in this annual report. No
dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during the
Reporting Period, nor has any dividend been proposed by
the Directors since the end of the Reporting Period (2019:
nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on
1 September 2020. For the purpose of determining the
entitlement of the Shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the AGM, the transfer of books and register of
members of the Company will be closed from 27 August
2020 to 1 September 2020, both days inclusive. During
such period, no share transfer will be effected. In order to
be qualified for attending the forthcoming AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 26 August 2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Company and the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Reporting Period in
the share capital of the Company are set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had reserves
amounted to approximately HK$32,306,000 (YR2019:
approximately HK$162,326,000) available for distribution
as calculated based on Company’s share premium and
capital reserve and retained profits/accumulated loss under
applicable provisions of the Companies Law in the Cayman
Islands.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report and the Prospectus is set out on page 216 in this
annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
of the Company annually. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the Shareholders on 9
May 2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time or part-time), Directors, consultants or advisors,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders. Options granted to substantial Shareholders
or independent non-executive Directors or any of their
respective associates (including a discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include a substantial Shareholders,
independent non-executive Directors, or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$ 5 million must be approved in advance by
the Company’s Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and
will be at least the higher of () the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of adoption (i.e. 9 May 2015)
and shall expire at the close of business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated
earlier by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share options were granted since the adoption of the
Scheme and there are no outstanding share options at the
end of the Reporting Period. A summary of the principal
terms and conditions of the Scheme is set out in Appendix
IV to the Prospectus.

P

>

EEEHE

RERRRIRREBLA & EHREE A8
BREEREMNBROMEBBETSBEARRNE—
BRSO EITRMOAI10% - AR AR RRESE
L E REMN—FETFRAUER FEMEA
MEBREMSPEHNERTRETFTRITRMEE
TEBAARARNE -SRI BHTRMO G
1% - IR FTEEMRKABIIERITESTSHS
SEEMBEAL (BEZECIHYRAETE
BR -BUATESTSIHFESIBEMABEA
THEEET)NBERERTMI2MEA BREB
BARNARAMO1%KEEBBEE BT
AIZEE RS AR R BRI E -

R NE0BREIB TR  BREARIEL
ERFLH (BREEEA)ARE - BRER
EREZAEETHHEABERTE ETTE
BEREAHEA T F -THEEHESFET
ELBB/TI=ZFRN&ESE: ()RR LBH
ARABROHOWTE: (WNEERLBHRATR
BEEXBROWFHETE: KRB KN
HY) [ {E

HEHRERMEBR (A _FE—REFRANE)
EARSTFHRAABR RIFERRARE L
ERREFERL BDARNEZFE R BFA
—EEFBEMNEXRKRSREEm-

B R A S AR\ H A B RS # R
W EAREITER B 5B E ZHEAR R
HHERN AR ERMED-

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 =25 —®FF#

81



82

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yan Shuai

(appointed as Chairman on 18 Spetember 2019)
Mr. Chan Kwan
Mr. Zhu Jiayu

(appointed on 18 September 2019)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
(Re-designated from executive Director on
1 March 2020)
Mr. Fong Hon Hung
(Re-designated from executive Director on
18 September 2019 and resigned on 17 January 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy
Mr. Leung Ka Fai Nelson
Mr. Qin Fen

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out
in the consolidated financial statements in this report. An
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules have been received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All the independent non-executive Directors has
respectively entered into a service contract with the
Company for a fixed term unless terminated by not less
than three months’ notice (except Mr. Qin Fen with one
month’s notice) in writing served by either party on the
other.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF EEEREE

DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change BEEHTHANEI3SIBAME EFERBE -
in the information of the Directors since the date of the —NF/ ZE-NFFRBBPEELRRSE B
2018/2019 annual report and up to the date of this report ARz ZEBET AT :

is set out below:

Name of Director

EEpS

Board Change and Changes in Directors’ Information

EXSRINRESENEH

Mr. Fong Hon Hung

FiEB A

Mr. Yan Shuai

BRED A

Mr. Zhu Jiayu

REREE

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

RIRE L

Mr. Chan Kwan
PREE LA
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy

EFERALL

Re-designated from the executive Director to the non-executive Director and ceased
to be the Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company with effect
from 18 September 2019; Resigned as the non-executive Director with effect from 17
January 2020.

BRITESFATRIEDITES HTEE%%AIF‘&$ NEITHAEE BTN
FAATN\BRER: BEFATEF BE_T_TF—A+tHBEXK-

Appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 18 September 2019; His
annual emoluments increased from HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,200,000 with effect from 1
January 2020.

BEEREEGER BT —NFAATNABRER: K2 FHH1,000,0007% 7T
EINE1,200,0008 T BT _FF—A—HREEXK-

Appointed as the executive Director with effect from 18 September 2019; Appointed

as the authorized representative and the chief financial officer with effect from 1 March

2020; His annual emoluments increased from HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,008,000 with

effect from 1 January 2020

BEEAMITESE BT —NLFALAT/N\BEAER: BEZEARERRLEEY

%a BT -TF=A—HBAE: K2 F%H1,000,0007% L& 1% 1,008,000
TBZEEF—HA—HBER-

Re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director, resigned as the
chief financial officer and ceased to be the authorized representative with effect from 1
March 2020. Appointed as the executive director, chief financial officer and authorised
representative of Mason Group Holdings Limited with stock code: 273 since 21 April
2020.

S %ﬂﬁé%ﬂTEE;E%ﬂﬁé%&ﬁﬂEEF“WW EBETBARERK B-_Z_F
FZA-—BRAER - B_Z_TFHUA_t - HREZEREXREEZERABERA
(BRI 273) ZHTTES BEFMBE MIRERK-

His annual emoluments increased from HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,020,000 with effect

from 1 January 2020.
1% 2 FF % A11,000,00078 JTiE HNE1,020,0008 0 BT _EF — A —HRBER-

Resigned as the independent non-executive director of Sheen Tai Holdings Group
Company Limited with stock code: 1335 since 29 May 2020.
BE_Z_TFAA_TNEEREIERZEREEBR DA (RMHRE - 1335) 2 B
FEHMITES -
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Group
was a party in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest whether directly or
indirectly subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or
any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Company Secretary”
of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report,
respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2020, the Company did not enter into
or have any management and administration contracts
in respect of the whole and any principal business of the
Company.
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Annual Report 2019/20 —E—h —BF£§

BREXFREEZ BEEMERARE ETE
BIZE13.51B(I)IEF AR E -

BRLaEI BEANEERRBEFRE LE
BETNEFTHEARRATETAR-—FAAXR
RERIEMBASINEE CEEHERIN W
RIEE K -

BEENEAGHER

BARFHRABEEIN BEAKESITHNAL
AEFIHEZTAHENERERI[ERESR
EABGEHNEARS RHIENRBEHR
g mEMEANERARREFE-

EENRSREEENEE
EXERAEESREEENBEEHBHNAF

BIEZRRAMENBEEFE] —&-

EERTERSHFMALHNME

EXELAEERERSFMALHOMEHED
AR ARNFREAMBEERE -

EEEYN

#*?*?E_H_+ B - 7K 2 73 B A
ABEXNTMNEIEXRHLARBEMNEE
&TTE& =] ln/j



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors nor Chief
Executive of the Company had any beneficial interests
(including interests or short positions) in the shares of
the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would
be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), or which will be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model
Code in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

EEEHE

EERITHARRKRG - HERO R EEE
MESKKE

R-ZE_ZEF=ZA=1+—H BMEBEEFXELAQ
AITTHAHERARRBRG (TREB]) ~ AR
HEMMEBZE (ERRIFRAEGHD (TF
FREMERG ) FEXVE) AR D R EEE
THRERBEESMHEGROFEXVEBMDFE7RS
DEHEAMEARARARBZM (EREREES R
HEGI 2 BRBBRXHREFRBREREEZ#
BmMRR)XNBREBERSF L HE G E3521%A
FCERN AR BI At 2 B Re M AR IR L A8 Bl
ZRETAHEARALBRM 2 EMESE
@ (BRESIORE) -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ FERRRHMA T RARD RAEE R0 E
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND mRRE

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, the following persons (not being RZEZZEF=ZA=+—H U TFTALT (AL
a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had RARESHITHALHE ) RN R R =k 46
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company R HEERBEEZESRABGROIEXVEEE2 R
or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the BDHZREARBETARA REBHERN AR
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part AIRBEZSF NP EKAEICIKEEFTECER
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be MARZERSIOXE

kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Number of Approximate
Ordinary Shares percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest held/interested interest
B
BEREREN
BB HE B, REmtE ZEROHE EEBNEDE
Suntecli Company Limited Interests held jointly with other 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Suntecli”) persons; beneficial owner
(Note 1 and 5)
MENBRAR ([#FEH]) HEEMATHEFENEZ  BEx#EA
(Hfat15)
Samwood Global Limited Interests held jointly with other persons 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Samwood”) (Note 1 and 7)
RERFARLA ([HREF]) BEMALTHEHEN#ER (WiT1X7)
Mr. Lau Woon Si (‘Mr. Lau”)  Interests held jointly with other person; 273,920,000 28.53%
interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1 and 6)
Blsed ([8l%E]) HLE M A T HRAFAENER  NEEEE
Wz (HiF1%6)
Mr. Fong Hon Hung Interests held jointly with other persons; 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Mr. Fong’) interest in controlled corporation

(Note 1 and 7)
FEREE ([HEE]) HLE M A T HRAFENER  NEEEE
WiEm (M1K7)
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Number of Approximate
Ordinary Shares percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest held/interested interest
iE=
BEREEHN
a2\ HE B ERtE ZERGOHAE EEMABEIHT
Ms. So Choi Interest of spouse (Note 2) 273,920,000 28.53%
At A B (Hat2)
Ms. Kwong Sui Sim Interest of spouse (Note 3) 273,920,000 28.53%
BB 3 18 2 £ foiBikss (Ha23)
Mr. Leung Man Lun Stephen Interest held jointly with other persons 273,920,000 28.53%
(“Mr. Leung”) (Note 1)
R (TREE]) ELE M AN T HRAFBENER (Ait1)
Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy Interest of spouse (Note 4) 273,920,000 28.53%

BRim @t

Notes:

1)

Ao (H1at4)

Suntecli and Samwood with Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong and Mr. Leung,
are parties acting in concert (having the meaning as ascribed
thereto in the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the
“Takeovers Code”)) pursuant to a confirmatory deed dated 3
December 2014 (the “Concert Party Deed”) and accordingly
each of them is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
each other. Pursuant to the Concert Party Deed, Mr. Lau, Mr.
Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and Samwood have been parties
acting in concert (having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the
Takeovers Code) in the course of the Reorganisation and will
continue to be parties acting in concert (having the meaning as
ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) until such arrangement
is terminated in writing by them pursuant to the Concert Party
Deed.

Ms. So Choi is the spouse of Mr. Lau and is deemed or taken
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Lau has, or is
deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the SFO. Mr.
Lau was an executive Director of the Company and resigned as
executive Director on 7 September 2018.

Ms. Kwong Sui Sim is the spouse of Mr. Fong and is deemed
or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Fong
has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the purposes of the
SFO. Mr. Fong re-designated from an executive Director to non-
executive Director on 18 September 2019, and resigned as the
non-executive Director on 17 January 2020.

P

>

Hiat

1)

BREBHR-ZT—MF+-A=BHRRO (-
TBALRY]) HEANEREEAREL HTEER
REERB—BITHAL (REFRRRUBRAHT
A (TW B =F R D) B Pz s rOR R ) - FL RS B B
BANFEHABAENRNDHERAERS - RE—HTH
ALTRE BlRE - -FRE RELE HEMNEHER
ERBRPA/-BOTHAL (ABKEFRE FZA
BORE) LBEER - BITHA LT (AARETRIE
THZANEE) BEERSERE-BITHALZNE
EEEARARYERL-

BARLDRISENES B RMEHEMMmE -
WER/REFERBIRERB IR BEENE KD
RS -ZARERRRBAZATEETRN TN
FLALRBERNTES-

BIEL LT RENER  EFRMEGRIME -
WER/REFER T RERB IR BEENE KD
RS -AARER_ZE-NAFNATN\BERTE
SRERFPTES N -_ZF - A+ HE
EIEATES-
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(4) Ms. Chan Sui Yau Cathy is the spouse of Mr. Leung and is
deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Leung has, or is deemed to have, an interest for the
purposes of the SFO. Mr. Leung was an executive Director of
the Company and resigned as executive Director on 3 January
2017.

(5)  The 273,920,000 shares (which were beneficially owned by
Suntecli) were charged to Kingston Finance Limited to secure
a loan granted to it. Kingston Finance Limited is wholly owned
by Ample Cheer Limited, which is owned as to 20% by Insight
Glory Limited and 80% by Best Forth Limited. Insight Glory
Limited and Best Forth Limited are wholly owned by Mrs. Chu
Yuet Wah.

(6) Mr. Lau owns approximately 94.65% shareholding in Suntecli
which in turn beneficially owns 28.53% shareholding in the
Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares which are beneficially owned by
Suntecli for the purpose of SFO. Mr. Lau resigned as the
Chairman and executive Director of the Company with effect
from 7 September 2018.

(7) Mr. Fong owns approximately 79% shareholding in Samwood.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraphs headed
“Share Option Scheme” and “Directors’ and Chief
Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2020 were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective
close associates, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report, no Directors are considered to have interests
in the following businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group other than those businesses where the Directors
of the Company were appointed as Directors to represent
the interests of the Company and/or the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

As the Board of Directors is independent of the boards of
these entities, the Group is therefore capable of carrying on
such business independently of, and at arm’s length from
the businesses of these entities.

All the independent non-executive Directors are delegated
with the authority to review the non-competition
undertakings (the “Non-competition Undertakings”)
given by Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood during the Reporting Period. The independent
non-executive Directors were not aware of any non-
compliance of the Non-competition Undertakings during
the Reporting Period.

Each of Mr. Lau, Mr. Fong, Mr. Leung, Suntecli and
Samwood has confirmed that he/it had complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings given by them during the
Reporting Period.

ESEHH
BT R

RBEEHELREEAFREY BEEFHET
ARBEETRAUMESEEZREEREAKER
H&Tﬁﬁ RFRAERBRBEFZER (RA/AKRK
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s purchases and revenue
attributable to major suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period and 31 March 2019 are as follows:

TEEFREER

TEHEARESNBEHHRS ﬂi—
ﬂz+—aﬁ@$%l%%%&%Ama
mT -

2020 2019

Percentage of construction material purchases ~ fREEZEM K R D EH
and construction subcontracted: BEIEB S

From the largest supplier RERAHER 12.20% 16.79%
From the five largest suppliers REAKREER 36.60% 43.97%
Percentage of revenue: WABDLL:
From the largest customers RERAE 30.13% 29.76%
From the five largest customers RKERAKREFP 69.18% 65.65%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
who owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest customers nor suppliers
during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the Reporting Period, the Company has arranged
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors
and senior management of the Company. The insurance
covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against
them.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
articles or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any
charitable donation (YR2019: nil).

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had following
continuing connected transactions:

EEEHE

BrRBRE

SRARNFSES AN ESE B ETERE
MEX  REARAAMBRERRRLAEE
BHEHRMD -

fR SR 8 1

R E B AN KB 8 FT 7 E A B R #5815

¢

% ©
o %)

:.I’ﬁ TFA

RmERE NEBEYLEELTMNEZBK
—E-NFEE)-

FEBEXZRBELIRS

RBEHE AEEBEUTHEBEERS

Lease agreements HEWHE
Name of suppliers Term of lease agreements Monthly rent Annual rent
HEBER HE R R A& FHE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Chung Hang 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020 60,000 720,000
HiE —E-\FOA—HZE
—E-TF=A=+—H
Chung Wah 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020 115,000 1,380,000
g —E-\FOA—HZE
—E-TF=A=+—H
2,100,000
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Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited (“Chung Hang”)
is owned by Mr. Lau as to approximately 94.65%. Mr.
Lau is one of the controlling Shareholders and a former
executive Director.

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited (“Chung Wah”)
is owned by Chung Hang and Mr. Lau as to 95.00% and
2.50%, respectively.

The transaction constitutes connected transactions and is
subject to disclosure requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The lease agreements were entered into on normal
commercial terms and in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group where each of the relevant
percentage ratios calculated for the purpose of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules is less than 5% and the total
fees payable under lease agreements are less than
HK$3,000,000. Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the lease agreements are exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the Reporting Period set out in the
consolidated financial statements included transactions
that constitute connected/continuing connected
transactions for which the disclosure requirement under the
Listing Rules have been complied with.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has retained the prescribed public float of at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as at
the date of this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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AUDITORS

The Company has nominated HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the auditors of the Group during the Reporting
Period until conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

The consolidated financial statements for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 have been audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company had complied with all the applicable
principles and code provisions as set out in the Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the
Reporting Period, except for the deviation from the code
provisions A.2.1, A.2.7, A5.5 and A.6.7.

The details of Group’s compliance with the Code is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Yan Shuai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B A BE R

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

WAN KEI GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 102 to 215, which comprise the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2020,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consoligated Financial Staterments section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

B AR E
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EBNER-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B A BE R

Accounting for construction contract revenue

BESHBRANETEE

We identified the revenue and profit recognition of
construction contracts as a key audit matter due to
significant management’s judgements and estimations are
required in the determination of the total outcome of the
construction contracts as well as the stage of completion
of construction contracts.

BB EES R A RGN ERBR B —AERET
B2 REAGEETRESHNBERI TRBESLN
EER FR2EHEANEIEE A & EE-
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Our audit procedures in relation to construction
contract revenue mainly included:

BAMZESORANRITEFIREE:

Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to
respective signed contracts and budgets prepared
by management;
BEHEBECRINGHAREEERENTEENS
e RIEEKA:

Obtaining an understanding from management
about how the budgets were prepared and the
respective stage of completion were determined;
MERETHEENRETENETNERZNE
ERIE:

Reviewing the reasonableness of key judgements
inherent in the budgets and assessing the reliability
of budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of completed
contracts on a sample basis;
EHNREPHEIEAHNSBEM Y B BT
RETKEHNERGEREEREN MG maT
BEMAFEL:

Obtaining the progress payment applications
submitted by the Company and progress
certificates issued by customers to evaluate the
reasonableness of stage of completion as at year
end and testing the revenue recognition based on
stage of completion; and

BE BERATHERMEENRPBZLETPELAHE
SRANTERFELEBTHNERENS B ML RE
TR R AR &

Assessing the presentation and related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirement of HKFRS 15.
DEBZBMBWMEERNB1SRNVBRE  sHEES 0
BHREANEMRBEARKE-



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B AR E

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan receivables

ESREMERIRE SHNEERBRERNBERRE

The Group’s trade and other receivables, contract assets
and loan receivables arise from the Group’s construction
contracts, ground investigation services, financial services
business and trading of beauty and skin care products.
As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of trade and
other receivables, contract assets and loan receivables
approximately HK$215,228,000.
EEENEIREMEKRTIE SHNEERERERE
=8 BESREMBESH - LHEVRIRY  SRRSEES
MEBEEERAREEEM - R_Z-_ZF=A=+—A8"
B REMERTE GHNEERERERNBENR
215,228,000/% 7T °

The Group measures loss allowances on trade and
other receivables, contract assets and loan receivables
at amounts equal to lifetime expected credit losses (the
“ECL”) using a provision matrix which involved significant
management judgement in estimating loss rate and
adjusting factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
ERECRABGEEREEN2HANAEEEER (AHE
EFRNETEEH REMEKRTIE  aNEEKE
WEFHNBEEE BRI RERBHEBEX ARG
BARERZRRHOERAEA RS RS BRANE R LA
BB B A B AR S B RT A

We identified the loss allowance for trade and other
receivables, contract assets and loan receivables as a key
audit matter because of the significant balances at the
end of the reporting period and because the recognition
of ECL is inherently subjective and requires the exercise of
significant management judgement.

BPBEAE 5 R EAMEYKGIE - AN EE REKERNE
BRESBRENZE RESARMENRNEHRENAR
BREREEERAF AT N ETEEREIRE
) il

Our audit procedures in relation to loss allowance for
trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan
receivables mainly included:

BHRE S REMEYRRIE - 5N EEREBRERT
BEBENETIEFEIE20HE:

e Assessing the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the credit control and
estimation of the ECL;

s MEABGEERH REHEHEEBENEIERN
BE IR Rt R E A

e Assessing the reasonableness of the ECL by
examining the key data inputs used by management
to form such estimates, enquiring the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, and evaluating whether such data
inputs are appropriately applied in the ECL model;

s FBWMBEEEEKEBMATIIERNAREE
BMAE RARK (BREEL LAEMEER) KT
HERABBERAEBRENREREEBEREP X
ERAMEEBEEFRENSIREL

e Assessing whether items in the ageing report
were categorised appropriately for contract assets
and trade receivables by comparing a sample of
individual items with the underlying documentation;
and

o EBILEEEIARKRAEMENY  FEENEE
MBS REBFIRRRRESTHIEE RREES R
M

e Assessing the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

o ZERTEERNRTE  SHEEREHBRERFH
BRARE-
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B A BE R

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —E—h —BF£§
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

B 2R EH
BRMREHRA N BRARGEE

HPNER RUGAMERREBRELRE
EARNEFFRERME A EKERR AR
GAERE YHABSRAME R /X EE &K
HFeAmEER BT (ERER)IEL KUt
AN EREREMAE RN ERANREN
ARMEMEMALTE ESAZELAET-A
BREERKFORE BTERIRR (B
BEER) ETHNEG EX—EAHERR
st T 7 B 48 BE B3R o 85 SR BRI AT DA B HRFE 88
molE MREEBRHCMEBFRELLERA
RTEGEVBRREMEREEESVBHRRK
PR RO EOR TE > BB B8 B9 85 BR BR UL A] R AR
EE KN

ERE (BABEFER) ETTEANBES
BMRERATERHAH RETEXEREE-
T API IR

m
® o

¢
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. A EANRFRERMNEREE
MBEBRRFEEABERRANER R
AR MTEAEFARYESLERR A
RERZREMEENRTRE AR
PIB R ER - AN KFFA S R BR
wE - BERER ERRL HEBERA
Ml £ At REEREARFME
HMERBRRANRER SR REER
RERMEMNERNERRANE R
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung
Practising Certificate Number: PO5769

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020

B AR E

BRTRAEZZESRIER SHARMEN
ERMBLUEMNMERBEER YEREEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEENk

Hfth 2 W &

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK dollars) &&=

“EFEZA=1+—HLFE (AEBTE)

Notes 2020 2019
e —ZBZTF —T—hNF
(note)
(HI5E)
Revenue ON 4(q) 255,534,989 202,893,907
Direct costs HERA (234,280,827) (209,515,928)
Gross profit/(loss) £, (8) 21,254,162 (6,622,021)
Other revenue H A A 5 5,271,228 3,868,242
Other net (loss)/income Hib (BB WS FHE 6 (17,353,974) 1,754,220
General and administrative expenses —MRITHAX (61,449,609) (51,021,877)
Loss from operations KEEIE (52,278,193) (52,021,436)
Finance costs BLE A A 7(a) (8,499,654)  (4,967,563)
Loss before taxation BB AT E R 7 (60,777,847) (56,988,999)
Income tax credit FriS M % 8 406,115 1,760,374
Loss and total comprehensive income FREERZHEWIFEAEE
for the year (60,371,732) (55,228,625)
Attributable to: PEqh
Equity shareholders of the Company RAE SRR (60,371,732) (55,228,625)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 1 2 = -
Loss and total comprehensive income FREERZHEWIFSALE
for the year (60,371,732) (55,228,625)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) ERRESE (BL) 12 (6.29) (5.75)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 Mizk: AKEEEREBITERERN-_T—NFNA—H

using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See

note 2(c).

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI LR

At 31 March 2020 (in HK dollars) R—Z2-_ZTF=A=+—01 (LUETEHE)

Notes 2020 2019
e Z—ZT=TF —T—NF
(note)
(FI3E)
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment IR & 13 17,407,447 18,612,912
Prepayment SEANE - 212,874
Club memberships =g 290,000 290,000
17,697,447 19,115,786
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets EHMEE 16 87,581,206 68,388,439
Trade and other receivables B 5 &% E i fE W FKIB 17 73,062,144 29,076,876
Loan receivables FEWE FK 18 54,584,808 7,985,672
Financial assets at fair value through BEATEFGFABRD
profit or loss TEEE 15 19,908,126 41,733,096
Tax recoverable B QER T E] - 798,897
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBESEED 19(a) 228,720,343 337,512,371
463,856,627 485,495,351
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E At FE S 3R 20 48,326,584 32,891,704
Amount due to a related company B — R E R R FRIE 21 104,100,000 99,600,000
Amount due to a former director BN —BBIES A 21 110,699,082 95,405,332
Deferred income TRFE YA 22 - 656,999
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 2,756,941 3,281,378
Tax payable JET IR 2,010,895 1,672,186
267,893,502 233,507,599
Net current assets REBEEFE 195,963,125 251,987,752
Total assets less current liabilities EEHEBERRBERE 213,660,572 271,103,538
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 March 2020 (in HK dollars) R = -ZF=HA=+—H (LB Ts1E)

Notes 2020 2019
e —ZBZTF —T—hNF
(note)
(HI5E)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Long service payment liabilities RERSEAE 579,804 409,831
Lease liabilities HEEAE 23 3,736,897 =
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 8(c) 1,435,103 2,413,207
5,751,804 2,823,038
Net assets EEFE 207,908,768 268,280,500
Capital and reserves EXRF#HE
Share capital RN 25(c) 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves EER 198,308,768 258,680,500
Total equity attributable to equity AN B RE S IR R PE AL
shareholders of the Company RSB 207,908,768 268,280,500
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 Mizk: AKECEREEBITEHEIRN-_T—NFNA—AH

using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).

The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to
215 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 24 June 2020 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Yan Shuai
R A

Director

EF

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—H It FE (B THE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KAREERREL
Retained
profits/
Share Share Merger Capital  (Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses) equity
RERA/
[ REGEE ERia 1] B4xfifs  (RHER) BRAE
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(M&Ea) (M&Eb) (MizEe)
Balance at 1 April 2018 RZE-N\%§
A—Rz&t 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 88,926,403 323,509,125
Changes in equity for 2019; ZE-NEREEE:
Loss and total comprehensive income FREERZANGEE
for the year - - - - (55,228,625) (55,228,625)
Balance at 31 March 2019 and RZZ-N%
1 April 2019 ZA=t+-BkK
ZE-hE
B—R2zit 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,995,820 9,669,301 33,697,778 268,280,500
Changes in equity for 2020: “ECIERREE:
Loss and total comprehensive income FREBERZAENGLE
for the year - - - - (60,371,732) (60,371,732)
Balance at 31 March 2020 R-B-EE
=R=t+-Hz#&H 9,600,000 211,357,601 3,955,820 9,669,301 (26,673,954) 207,908,768
Notes: Bt 3
(@) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal (@ AR EENAEEEE ([EH]) FRRERAAR]
value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange for MEBARRAMBARREITRG cMERZEFR
the nominal value of the share capital of its subsidiaries arising AEHEBEZERE
from the reorganisation of the Group (the “Reorganisation”).
(b) The capital reserve represents the deemed capital (b) BARBRERABEEZREFTESINER QR HRE

contribution from its equity shareholders, Suntecli Company
Limited, Samwood Global Limited, Mr. Leung Man Lun
Stephen and Ms. Yeung Siu Lai Shirley, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year ended
31 March 2016.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).

RIRBR AR BXBEAERGLBRINEE
E-RFZA=ZT—BLEFEARRAREEND L
TRXERREE -

AREBEFAKETEPER _T—AFEFTNA—H
BAEABBVIEREERNEI6 - RIFL A A b
BEBTTEY - RW&E20C) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEREeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK dollars) % —

TTF=A=1+—RILFE (AEBTFE)

Notes 2020 2019
Mx —BZTHF —_T-NF
(note)
(HI5E)
Cash used in operations KREFARES 19(b)  (98,001,066) (117,842,645)
Interest paid EAHE (195) (405)
Tax refunded/(paid) RE/ (BB 565,617 (412,674)
Net cash used in operating activities RETBMARSTE (97,435,644) (118,255,724)
Investing activities RETE
Payments for the purchase of BEWE KE&EE
property, plant and equipment Z 53R (1,737,069) (906,070)
Proceeds from disposal of HEWME  HER&E
property, plant and equipment Z FTiS A 2,980,000 6,282,000
Interest received B HF B 3,714,838 2,675,768
Payment of refundable earnest money for B WEER ~
potential acquisition AIREIHES (20,000,000) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (FTA) Fr8EE
investing activities FE (15,042,231) 8,051,698
Financing activities BEEE
Capital element of leases rentals paid ENEERESM iéfZK%B fﬁ (7,652,312)  (5,406,613)
Interest element of leases rentals paid ENHEERESHFE (361,841) (313,963)
Proceeds from borrowing from a KB —H ?%%Z i“)“
former director < P18 508 14,500,000 38,300,000
Repayment to a former director EBE—RBRESZHIA (2,800,000) =
Net cash generated from financing BMETHREEESESR
activities 3,685,847 32,579,424
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREZEY
equivalents WA FEEE (108,792,028) (77,624,602)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FOBRERELEEY
beginning of the year 337,512,371 415,136,973
Cash and cash equivalents at the FEREESRESEEY
end of the year 19(a) 228,720,343 337,512,371
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 Mizk: AEEREREBITERER-_Z—NFNA—H

using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See

note 2(c).

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 7 October 2014 under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The address of the Company’s registered office is
Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is
Unit No. 901, 9th Floor, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company is an
investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group
is set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except certain assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16,
Leases, and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating
leases — incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the
substance of transactions involving the legal form of a
lease. It introduces a single accounting model for lessees,
which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term
leases”) and leases of low-value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements are brought forward from HKAS
17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect that
leases have on the financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1
April 2019. The Group has elected to use the modified
retrospective approach and has therefore recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019. Comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options
applied are set out below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
(i) New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis
of whether a customer controls the use of an identified
asset for a period of time, which may be determined
by a defined amount of use. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS
16 only to contracts that were entered into or changed on
or after 1 April 2019. For contracts entered into before 1
April 2019, the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which
existing arrangements are or contain leases. Accordingly,
contracts that were previously assessed as leases under
HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for as leases under
HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
(i) Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance leases,
as was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the
Group is required to capitalise all leases when it is the
lessee, including leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, other than those short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets which are exempt. As far
as the Group is concerned, these newly capitalised leases
are primarily in relation to property, plant and equipment as
disclosed in note 27. For an explanation of how the Group
applies lessee accounting, see note 2(i)(j).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019), the
Group determined the length of the remaining lease terms
and measured the lease liabilities for the leases previously
classified as operating leases at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the relevant
incremental borrowing rates at 1 April 2019. The weighted
average of the incremental borrowing rates used for
determination of the present value of the remaining lease
payments was 7.6%.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —E—h —BF£§

2. EXETEE (&)

(c) SBFBEREH (&)
EBUBHEERFEI6S HE (&
(i)  AHEAGHEEL ERAEZE

EEVBHRELEAF16RIIB LN T BT E
AIE17RERARABRAEPBACEREES
BMEHEMNRT R EASBEAEEA E
BERFBEREEA L BRELABREESE:
HEBE1I7TH S EACERENTAE HEHA
EREKEEEERERREMBIN -HAEE
ME ZEFHENMCOBEETZEHKF27FTHE
ENME- - BELEEBEEBE BRAAEE WM
ERABASTEENERRE  BWE20)3) -

RBEEREAVBREENEI6HRER (A=
T-AENA—R) A£EECIHHGAEASRE
ROUYRERMSBAKEHE HERFHE
ENRBEFEREER FARZE—NF
MA—BZHBAEESEENXMR -ARETE
FepHENRBEZEERERN R INEFHH
B7.6% °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

(c)

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(i)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(@)

the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e.
where the lease term ends on or before 31 March
2020;

when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied
a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics (such as leases
with a similar remaining lease term for a similar
class of underlying asset in a similar economic
environment); and

when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group relied
on the previous assessment for onerous contract
provisions as at 31 March 2019 as an alternative to
performing an impairment review.

2. EXETHEE (&)

() BEFtHEEH (F)
BB BHEERFEI6% HE (&

(i)  AEASFBEETZRBRZE (F)

RABBEERAYBRELENF165 - A%
BRNEEREEM B RS ERFE165E AR
A T3 HERPISMNMER R EREER A

(a) AEERETHIHSKBEBERETEYBR
B FE16E A ER B B 12(8A
NiEgm (AR T -_TF=/=+—
B zpifEm) 2HERRABEANBRE
EBF16HEHEERMEERFERAE
BEZHRT:

(b) RUBRERBEAVBRELENEI6HRE
FrfEHEaER A5EHARSE
BURzEEAa (MmN BEULE
RETPEBRURHEEEERNAFAEB
HME<HE)BHE-—MBAZX X

(c) RURERBEEVBREENEI6RE
et 2 AEEER A% EKBLA
RZE-AF=ZRA=+—BHEBEAMLSE
MBEIER ZFIH UBRETRESR
B e

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
Annual Report 2019/20 —8—h —BF 5§

113



'

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(i) Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as disclosed in note 27(b) as at 31 March
2019 to the opening balance for lease liabilities recognised

as at 1 April 2019:

2. EXETEE (&)

(0 EBEEDH (&)

BB BHEERFEI6% HE (&

(i) EHENGFTEET ERBEZE (E)

TREIR =T —

NF=ZA=1t—HzZK=ZH
EAE (MM E270)MEE) BER_F—NF
MA—-—BEHRABERBEHINEHR YUK

1 April 2019
—ZT—hF
MA—H
Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019 —TE-NFZ A=+ RAZKEERERE 6,036,700
Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from /DZ ﬁ AEREERNCEE 2 &E:
capitalisation:
— short-term leases and other leases with —RRHHEERFBERRN T _TF
remaining lease term ending on or before —A=+—B3RiER 2 HMHEE
31 March 2020 (1,939,700)
Add: lease payments for the additional periods where 1l : NEBER B S BT HITEERBIZE
the Group considers it reasonably certain that KRR AR & 5K
it will exercise the extension options 2,276,451
6,373,451
Less: total future interest expenses AR B RS BEE (366,045)
Present value of remaining lease payments, HHpBEENFNRE FAS—NF
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate A —H Ay ;Fatfaﬂ??ﬁfﬁ
at 1 April 2019 6,007,406
Add: finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 mrR-—FE—hnhF=A=+—8
March 2019 HMAZMEHEAR 3,281,378
Total lease liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019 R-E-NFHNA—BERANEEGERSE 9,288,784
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(i) Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised at an
amount equal to the amount recognised for the remaining
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in
the statement of financial position at 31 March 2019.

So far as the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on
leases previously classified as finance leases is concerned,
the Group is not required to make any adjustments at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, other than changing
the captions for the balances. Accordingly, instead of
“obligations under finance leases”, these amounts are
included within “lease liabilities”, and the depreciated
carrying amount of the corresponding leased assets is
identified as right-of-use assets. There is no impact on the
opening balance of equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(i) Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of the
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position:

2. EXETEE (&)

() EFBKREE (#F)
BEBUMBREEREI6% HE (£
(i) EHENGFTEET ERBEZE (E)

TRBPARABTEVHHRELNF16HRH ALK
BRAMBRARNRNTE

Carrying Capitalisation Carrying
amount at of operating amount at
31 March lease 1 April
2019 contracts 2019
RZZ-N% RZZ-n%
=RA=+-H Keng mA—A
WIREE BHERL NEREE
Line items in the consolidated statement of GEMBRRRPIRANERRE
financial position impacted by the adoption of ~ $f%%2BIE16% & £ ER :
HKFRS 16:
Property, plant and equipment 0E - BEREE 18,612,912 6,007,406 24,620,318
Total non-current assets FRBEEAE 19,115,786 6,007,406 25,123,192
Lease liabilties (current) REaE(RE) 3,281,378 4,370,934 7,652,312
Total current liabilities RBABAE 233,507,599 4,370,934 237,878,533
Net current assets TBEERE 251,987,752 4,370,934 256,358,686
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBER 271,103,538 1,636,472 272,740,010
Lease liabilties (non-current) MEAR (FRD) - 1,636,472 1,636,472
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEAE 2,823,038 1,636,472 4,459,510
Net assets EERE 268,280,500 - 268,280,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

(i) Impact on the financial result, segment results and
cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise interest expense accrued on
the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. This results in a positive impact on the
reported profit from operations in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss, as compared to the results if
HKAS 17 had been applied during the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is
required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases
into their capital element and interest element (see note
19(c)). These elements are classified as financing cash
outflows, similar to how leases previously classified as
finance leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather than
as operating cash outflows, as was the case for operating
leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash flows are
unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a
significant change in presentation of cash flows within the
consolidated statement of cash flows (see note 19(d)).

The following tables give an indication of the estimated
impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s
financial result, segment results and cash flows for the
year ended 31 March 2020, by adjusting the amounts
reported under HKFRS 16 in these consolidated financial
statements to compute estimates of the hypothetical
amounts that would have been recognised under HKAS
17 if this superseded standard had continued to apply
in 2020 instead of HKFRS 16, and by comparing these
hypothetical amounts for 2020 with the actual 2019
corresponding amounts which were prepared under HKAS
17.
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e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

2. EXETEE (&)

(0 EBEEDH (&)

BB BHEERFEI6% HE (&

(i) Impact on the financial result, segment results and (i)  HAREEEFEEE S EEERE S RERN
cash flows of the Group (Continuea) FE(E)
2020 2019
—E-EE —T-NE
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
Add back: relatedto  Hypothetical Compared
Amounts HKFRS 16 operating amounts to amounts
reported  depreciation leases as for 2020 reported for
under  and interest if under as if under 2019 under
HKFRS 16 expense HKAS 17 HKAS 17 HKAS 17
nE:BEEE RESEET ERE
BEEBHE ME:FEHH et &R EUETH  BEEER
REER WEER  B1THRABLE ECh:Y EITHRER
#16%% F16RMTE FRLERE “EZRE NZE-NE
EHENEHE RABEX kst &8 BELE o
(note1)
iEa))
Financial result for year ended S HFMEBHEHEER
31 March 2020 impacted by ~ E165 ¥ EMNEZ
the adoption of HKFRS 16: “E-Ef=RA=+-H
LEENBEE:
Loss from operations REER (52,278,193) 4,643,997 (4,674,000)  (52,308,196) (52,021,436)
Finance costs BEKAE (8,499,654) 346,934 - (8,152,720) (4,967,563)
Loss before taxation BRBATEE (60,777,847) 4,990,931 (4,674,000)  (60,460,916) (56,988,999)
Loss for the year FAFE (60,371,732) 4,990,931 (4,674,000)  (60,054,801) (55,228,625)
Reportable segment (loss)/ STHRNEBHBREER
profit for year ended F16R T ENEE
31 March 2020 (note 4(b)) “E-EF=RA=+-H
impacted by the adoption LEENTEHEI B
of HKFRS 16: (F8)/&H
GEZDE
- Foundation construction -HEEE (22,502,460) 1,241,005 (1,194,000)  (22,455,455) (38,978,367)
- Financial services -SERE (30,714,337) 3,749,926 (3,480,000)  (30,444,411) (10,804,256)
- Total — 4t (48,355,737) 4,990,931 (4,674,000)  (48,038,806) (47,391,489)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

(c)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

e PR RRMEE

“ERF=A=1+—RHILFE (ABTFE)

2. EXETHEE (&)

(c) SEFtBREH(£)
BRI EERF165; HE (1

(i) Impact on the financial result, segment results and (i) HEXEEYEREE DESRERTE L ER
cash flows of the Group (Continued) ZZ(E)
2020 2019
—B-%F “FNF
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
Add back: related  Hypothetical Compared
Amounts HKFRS 16  to operating amounts to amounts
reported  depreciation leases as for 2020 reported for
under  and interest if under as if under 2019 under
HKFRS 16 expense HKAS 17 HKAS 17 HKAS 17
R :
mE:  REFEET REFESH HBRE
BEFENE BBEUBRE LERIE1TH RRAIEITSH FHEETER
& ER L5165 Zig=h=]: ] FrEEs  BITRER
F165% HHER REHEM “ECEE WZE-AFE
ZHENLE FEMX 5t &% BELE 28
(notes 1 & 2)
(MEF1R2)
Line items in the consolidated SHRAEBHKHEER
statement of cash flows for %1 65ﬁ FENEE
year ended 31 March 2020 —ECE $ A=1+-H
impacted by the adoption of ~ ItEENSREEE
HKFRS 16: MERER:
Cash used in operations ReEmRARE (98,001,066) - (4,674,0000 (102,675,086) 117,842,645
Net cash used in operating RETHFAREER
activities (07,435,644) — (4674000 (102,100,644) (118,255,724)
Capital element of lease rentals paid B &1 & E’J$%*B (7,652,312) 4,370,934 - (3,281,378) (5,406,613)
Interest element of lease rentals paid2 (TS & M F 85 (361,841) 303,066 - (58,775) (313,963)
Net cash generated from RETEBRE iﬁﬁ‘?%ﬁ
financing activities 3,685,847 4,674,000 - 8,359,847 32,579,424
Note 1: The “estimated amounts related to operating leases” is BizEl: [AEAKEHENGRTSE] AER S _F 4§
an estimate of the amounts of the cash flows in 2020 EREBEESTEBFEITRIBEATAES BEARK
that relate to leases which would have been classified as Mfﬁ&ﬁ”ﬁﬂf’fﬁﬁﬁE’ﬂ:;ﬁfgifﬁ%mbiﬁﬁr(ﬁ
operating leases, if HKAS 17 had still applied in 2020. This HozbrirBREcHRERECHTEEZR B
estimate assumes that there were no differences between Thﬁfgffifﬁitﬁiﬁﬁ BB ERE17I - B
rentals and cash flows and that all of the new leases entered RIZBEZZFIAUNMEFEEREBEE S E
into in 2020 would have been classified as operating leases E‘J%Wﬁﬁf"* RICEHE - FREEBIETE
under HKAS 17, if HKAS 17 had still applied in 2020. Any F R B TR
potential net tax effect is ignored.
Note 2: In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified MieFe : RZREERERY ZETHERTAREENSES

from financing to operating in order to compute hypothetical
amounts of net cash used in operating activities and net
cash generated from financing activities as if HKAS 17 still

applied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
(iv) Lessor accounting

The Group leases out a number of items of machinery as
the lessor of operating leases. The accounting policies
applicable to the Group as a lessor remain substantially
unchanged from those under HKAS 17.

(d) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary
prepares its financial statements using accounting policies
other than those adopted in the consolidated financial
statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to
that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with
the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (i) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a majority
of the voting rights of an investee, power over the investee
may be obtained through: () a contractual arrangement
with other vote holders; (i) rights arising from other
contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting rights and
potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above,
based on all relevant facts and circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the equity
shareholders of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the equity shareholders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes
2(n) or (0) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2())), unless the investment is classified as
held for sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are set
out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 26(f). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows.

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 2(t)(v).

- fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) — recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Investments other than equity investments
(Continued)

- FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained profits. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(9) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2())):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 2(i)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

o Furniture and fixtures 3 -5 years
° Leasehold improvements 5 years
° Motor vehicles 5 years
° Machinery 4 -5 years

The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold
land are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and the buildings’ estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years after the date of completion.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(h) Club memberships

Club memberships are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and
impairment losses (see note 2())).

Amortisation of club memberships with finite useful life is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Both the period and method
of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Club memberships are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

(i) As a lessee
A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and lease of low-value assets. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —B—h, B 5§

2. EXETEE (&)

(i) HEEE

AEBENANRRKIGBZAOREEHEE
ZEEHE-HAWABRIRENS TE K
FEAEGAHNEEEROEN  AIZAE LD
BHEREHE -HMEPARIEN AN
BENERARUEZERATERETRANKH
Mes - BIRRENECHEZ-

) EREEA

A BZF—AFAH—HEEBEKE

HERD>ARINSFEHENE -—HER

REERKBEH AEEERACHEEE LA
EafE HHEHEHRI2ZEAXATHEREE
AEEBEEENHERII EXKEREEE
BEFVHER ASERBHEEEBRRE
EAREEENME - BZETEERNCHEEM
AN HENREHERARERGEERR SR
% o

EHECDEANL HERGEVHSRERREN
MENFTAREER LRBEEPHESHF
KYEH IR MNEIEEZETE - A AR
BREENETRR - RNT AR HEAR
B AGTE MANESMAXARAERN X
RET R NMRKBEHIME 2 AJZHEMNKT
B A AHERGHE AUREELEZEFH
B8 am FBR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)
A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(g) and 2(j)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and
equipment’ and presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group. Leases which did not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group were
classified as operating leases.

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets were recognised
as property, plant and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, were recorded as
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation was
provided at rates which wrote off the cost or valuation of
the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it
was likely the Group would obtain ownership of the asset,
the life of the asset, as set out in note 2(g). Impairment
losses were accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy as set out in note 2(j). Finance charges
implicit in the lease payments were charged to profit or
loss over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the
remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting
period. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases were
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis was more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received were recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they were incurred.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —B—h, B 5§

2. EXETEE (&)

(i) HEEE (&)
(i) EBEBEA(E
B R -FE—SFE/A—HEEREBE

REBHE AEEELSAEAMREEER
FMBERERNSO ZEREEREREE ZIFR
T RABEEEE R AREEHE-HEEY
BRMARZBRE I EREEREREAE
B A ERREHE-

MASEDREHERSEENERE 8
HERNEEEEAFEXREREEREHEEN
RENRE (NARENRBR)ERARYE B
Eh&E mAEkREERKRNEERAERZ
RBREHEAZ HERERBENHERRNE
ENARBR(MASEAERBEENRE
B)RNEMEEERARGENL XER A
BEEMNFHEINME2(9) - BEBERERR
ME2()MENEFRERAR - HENKASH
RMEBARNEEHANBEERANG £EE
BIHENREBAGAERTENLL X KXBUE
RledREEEEEENSHHRNIE R A
B o

WEASERERELEHERENEENE
A AIREBEBEEELNNRSERE SR
Eor AR RERSTARBRIEG BEW
EEMAEXREESRMRRBEEEMELR
SRR -AERHEESERAARER
AREEFNRAENAXIED KAEENHE
EENGHEARBRENE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)
(i)  As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If
this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

(iij)  Sales and leaseback arrangement resulting in
finance lease

A sales and leaseback arrangement which results in a
finance lease is a means whereby the lessor provides
finance to the lessee with the asset as security. To reflect
the substance of the transaction, any excess of sales
proceeds over the carrying amount of the asset, or any
deficit of sales proceeds lower than the carrying amount of
the asset, is deferred and amortised as an adjustment to
amortised over the lease period.

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and loan receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15.
Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity

securities measured at FVPL, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables, contract assets and loan receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1)

()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(t)(v)
is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and club memberships may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

- Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(k) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment (see note 2(g)) or
intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised
as inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(k) Other contract costs (Continueq)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services to
which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out in note 2(t).

(1 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 2(t)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(j)()
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 2(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(t)). A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
note 2(m)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(1 Contract assets and contract liabilities
(Continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 2(t)).

(m) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset (see note 2()).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note

2()(0)-
(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing cost (see note 2(v)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(j)(j).

(q) Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(r) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(r) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(r) Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

° in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

° in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

(t) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the
use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(1) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as
a construction contract when the contract relates to work
on real estate assets under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities create or
enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the output
method, based on direct measurements of the value to
the customer of goods or services transferred to date
(“Value to the Customer”) provided that the Value to
the Customer is established according to the progress
payment application (by reference to the amount of
completed works confirmed by in-house surveyor)
submitted to the customers or progress certificate (by
reference to the amount of completed works confirmed by
customer) issued by the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(1) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(i) Construction contracts (Continued)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.

(i) Ground investigation services revenue

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a service contract when the contract relates to work
on ground investigation assets under the control of the
customer and therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(1) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Ground investigation services revenue
(Continued)

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the output method, based on
direct measurements of the value to the customer of goods
or services transferred to date (“Value to the Customer”)
provided that the Value to the Customer is established
according to the progress certificate (by reference to the
amount of completed works confirmed by customer)
issued by the customer.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties for
late completion are taken into account in making these
estimates, such that revenue is only recognised to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(1) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iij)  Trading of beauty and skin care products

Net income from trading of beauty and skin care products
are recognised when the customers takes possession of
and accepts the goods.

(iv)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2())(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates.

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

(w) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(vi) A person identified in (a)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity

(or of a parent of the entity).

(viiij ~ The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continueq)

(x) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
(loss)/profit from operations of the Group are primarily
derived from activities in Hong Kong.

2. EXETHEE (&)
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FEBOMABRUREBERBAER LRBE
E-LEREME EPBREKEAN DHE
mREREREAEANTEREERENEE
77 E AR o fis 32 3F B Bl B E ey L& 0 BF KA B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(i) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account the estimated residual value. The
Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment regularly in order to determine the
amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group’s
historical experience with similar assets taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant
changes from previous estimates.

(ii) Impairment of trade and other receivables,
contract assets and loan receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
the trade receivables and contract assets. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition,
trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan
receivables with significant balances are assessed for ECLs
individually. The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group’s trade
and other receivables, contract assets and loan receivables
are disclosed in Note 26. If the financial condition of the
customers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, the actual loss allowance would be higher than
estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

(iii)  Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(j), the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease
term at the commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the Group
evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for the Group to
exercise the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying asset to the Group’s operation. The lease term
is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant
change in circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would affect
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognised in future years.

(iv)  Principal versus agent considerations -
Trading of beauty and skin care products

In determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or as an agent in the trading of beauty and skin care
products, judgements and considerations of all relevant
facts and circumstances are required. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group obtains control of
services provided before they are transferred to customers.
If control is unclear, when the Group is primarily obligated
in a transaction, and has latitude in establishing prices and
selecting publishers, or has several but not all of these
indicators, the Group records revenues on a gross basis.
Otherwise, the Group records the net amount earned as
commissions from services provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)  Sources of estimation uncertainty

Construction contracts and ground investigation
services contracts

As explained in policy note 2(t), revenue from construction
contracts and ground investigation services contract are
recognised over time using the output method. Such
revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted projects are
dependent on estimating the outcome of the contract, as
well as the work done to date. Actual outcomes in terms
of total costs or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as
an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are foundation
construction, ground investigation services, financial
services and trading of beauty and skin care products.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are
disclosed in note 4(b):
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

e MR M EE

TE=ZA=+—HIFE (BTE)

4. WARDH®RSE (&)

(@ WA(E)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers BEERBHZERBEEFPEHAKRANENT :
of each significant category is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-hHF
Revenue from contracts with customers within & 8 Bf #§ 3R & % B 55155
the scope of HKFRS 15: HEARBEFEHNZBA:
Revenue from construction contracts REBES R A 212,640,509 166,458,951
Revenue from ground investigation services R B b 5 A AR 75 B U A 39,250,804 35,681,700
Revenue from trading of beauty and REEXEBLEERERESH
skin care products WA 915,798 =
252,807,111 202,140,651
Revenue from other sources KRB H A RIRA WA
Revenue from financial services KB € B AR A A 2,727,878 753,256

255,534,989 202,893,907

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in note
4(b).

As at 31 March 2020, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is
approximately $133,472,000 (2019: approximately
$98,819,000). This amount represents revenue expected
to be recognised in the future from construction contracts
and ground investigation services. The Group will recognise
the expected revenue in future when or as the work is
completed or, in the case of the construction contracts
and ground investigation services, when the obligations
performed, which is expected to occur over the next 1-2
years.

EREABMARBESBEREZFEAONIKARE
R FE4(b) °

RZE_ZTFE=ZA=+—8B" %
ERAEAGNETHBTREANEANRSER
B4 A5133,472,0008 0 (Z &2 — L& 4
98,819,000 T) % ¢ HEEH AR EEE
BHARLTHBAREERZKE AEEHR
HETITREXSERBHEA IRBESY
R &R AR M5 - 7 B 17 & 75 0 i 3R 78 P
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior management
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following four
reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

o Foundation construction: this segment provides
foundation construction works to customers in
Hong Kong.

o Ground investigation services: this segment
provides ground investigation services to customers
in Hong Kong.

° Financial services: this segment provides
investment, financing and money lending services.

° Trading of beauty and skin care products: this
segment engages in the trading of beauty and skin
care products.

Segment information is presented only in respect of the
Group’s business segments. No geographical analysis is
shown as less than 10% of the Group’s revenue, loss from
operations and assets were derived from activities outside
Hong Kong.

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —E—h —BF£§

TTF=A=1+—BILFE (AETFE)

(b) DEHE

AEBREBENDMERERB AR DEE
BREFHERREAAEESREREEANLN 2R
BERNATA B AEEE2R T H@EA2
B - U EEEDHESAKRATAIZHRS
7B e

. WEREE ZOBRBENTPRMM
HEsETig-

. THHRARE ZoBRAEENETFPIR
{1t 3t BRI AR 75

o

. TR ZOMRERE BREKEE
AR 75 -

¥

. % & FF %%z%%%%%%a

ﬁ%éﬂ%zﬂﬁ@$ﬁlmﬁﬁﬂﬁ 2]

PRI0%MAEBRA KEBEBANEERE
FEERINEBERY SHMEIRHEMLED
il



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueqd)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
senior executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Segment assets include all current and non-current assets
with the exception of unallocated head office and corporate
assets, current tax recoverable and deferred tax assets, if
any. Segment liabilities include all current and non-current
liabilities with the exception of current tax payable and
deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment (loss)/profit is (loss)/profit before
taxation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b)  Segment reporting (Continueq)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2020

and 2019 is set out below:

4. WARDH®RE (&)

B

(b)

37
A

i

BER & (42)

() DEHFE BEERAE (&

REABRAFEDEREEF, S NH WA EE
ECE_TER-E-AF=A=+—HBIE

B &R D i KkaF b

aNEvi

7]

PREMAAKRERS

RITBREBABRENBEAKEATZHD
MEREINMT

Year ended 31 March 2020
BZE_Z-EF=-fA=+-HLEE

Trading of
Ground beauty and
Foundation investigation Financial skin care
construction services services products Total
EARER
WEEE  THEIRSE SRR ERES @it
Disaggregated by timing of RUARREELSE
revenue recognition
- Over time — e 212,640,509 39,250,804 2,727,878 - 254,619,191
- Point in time -EH - - - 915,798 915,798
Revenue from external HBEFKBA
customers 212,640,509 39,250,804 2,727,878 915,798 255,534,989
Reportable segment revenue T 2R HUWA 212,640,509 39,250,804 2,727,878 915,798 255,534,989
Reportable segment gross AEHAHEF
profit 3,638,464 14,306,495 2,393,405 915,798 21,254,162
Reportable segment (loss)/profit T 23§25 (&518) /%7 (22,502,460) 4,841,119  (30,714,337) 19,941 (48,355,737)
Interest income from bank deposits & 177720 8K A - - 3,632,523 - 3,632,523
Interest expenses FIEFX 3,787,626 - 212,028 - 3,999,654
Depreciation for the year FRITE 7,985,754 433,793 4,352,955 - 12,772,502
Reportable segment assets AERPPEE 232,067,894 31,948,096 357,894,961 46,461,831 668,372,782
Additions to non-current segment  FERIEREN DL E
assets during the year RANE 961,469 700,180 5,628,793 - 7,290,442
Reportable segment liabilities T 2K/ BEE 177,669,040 6,133,233 377,271,976 46,471,590 607,545,839

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —B—h, B 5§



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueqd)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

e R R AR MY R

TE=ZA=+—HIFE (BTE)

4. WARDIHE (&)
b) DERE(E)

() DERE BERERE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_E-NF=ZA=T—HIZE

Ground
Foundation  investigation Financial
construction services services Total
HWEEE T BRI RS B R BEt
(note) (note) (note)
(P3E) (P3E) (P

Disaggregated by timing of BUBARRASESE

revenue recognition - Over time — &k 166,458,951 35,681,700 753,256 202,893,907
Revenue from external customers M E % F Ut A 166,458,951 35,681,700 753,256 202,893,907
Reportable segment revenue AE2H2 B A 166,458,951 35,681,700 753,256 202,893,907
Reportable segment gross TE2HHL (E8)/EF

(loss)/profit (17,027,683) 9,852,730 552,932  (6,622,021)
Reportable segment (loss)/profit 2K 2 2 (&) HBF  (38,978,367) 2,391,134  (10,804,256) (47,391,489)
Interest income from bank deposits SR 1717 2 F B4 A - - 2,736,282 2,736,282
Interest expenses FBFX 2,155,063 = = 2,155,063
Depreciation for the year FRE 7,831,926 674,395 809,937 9,316,258
Reportable segment assets T2RSHEE 006,849,305 24,907,743 411,886,678 663,643,726
Additions to non-current segment  FRIETE DAL E

assets during the year HARE 572,274 26,880 94,042 693,196
Reportable segment liabilities 2RI BEE 149,297,991 4399,616 400,732,657 554,430,264
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified H:E: AEBEFERGCEENEEREREAV RS

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 2(c).

AR5  RIBUL A% EBRERAFEH - B K
F2(c) °
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4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4. WARDBHE (&)
REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) DEFHE (&)
(i)  Reconciliations of reportable segment (i) FTEHEFHBKA B BEREEBZHK

revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

164

2020 2019
—E-EF —FT-NF
(note)
(F3E)
Revenue PN
Reportable segment revenue and consolidated 2| A REE KA
revenue (note 4(a)) (Ff5E4(@)) 255,534,989 202,893,907
Loss B8
Reportable segment loss A 2Wwo EEE (48,355,737) (47,391,489)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses KOMBPNREELTERST (12,422,110) (9,597,510)
Consolidated loss before taxation RERIAR A B8 (60,777,847) (56,988,999)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AEWRDEEE 668,372,782 663,643,726
Elimination Ea k| (207,701,073) (160,933,570)
460,671,709 502,710,156
Tax recoverable A Y = 7 I8 - 798,897
Unallocated head office and corporate assets AOBRPRERNTEEE 20,882,365 1,102,084
Consolidated total assets REBERE 481,554,074 504,611,137
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities AIEmnIaE 607,545,839 554,430,264

Elimination ¥ 34 (441,606,530) (421,950,020)

165,939,309 132,480,244
Tax payable FERT IR 2,010,895 1,672,186
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIEAE 1,435,103 2,413,207
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities R H %@ﬁf% BERTEBE 104,259,999 99,765,000
Consolidated total liabilities REBRER 273,645,306 236,330,637
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified izt AKEEFERKEITBPEZEREREEMERE

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative

information is not restated. See note 2(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) Z —Z -TF = A=+ —H L FE (B THE)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continueqd)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment

revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of construction contracts

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for
the corresponding years are as follows:

(b) DEEHSE (&)

(i) FTEHEZEHKA Bz BERBEZHK
(%)

BEHTEEFHEH

REBFEUAEEABATERERI0%ME

EANNEPIRAMT :

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF

N/ATER* 60,387,071
76,994,604 41,659,621

Construction contracts: ZESY:
Customer A BEA
Customer B =FB
Customer C ZFEC

63,346,185 N/A i F3

Revenue from the relevant customer was less than 10% of the
Group’s total revenue for the respective year.

N KEHBEFPRAREBFEHAEEZRATE
ER10% ©

5. OTHER REVENUE 5. HawA
2020 2019
—E-ETF —ZT—hF
Rental income from lease of machinery AE®BMESIA 976,591 =
Bank interest income RITFIB A 3,632,523 2,736,282
Insurance claims RipRE 312,906 =

Others Hib

349,208 1,131,960

5,271,228 3,868,242
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4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —E T4 = A=

T—BLEFE (ETFHE)

6. OTHER NET (LOSS)/INCOME 6. Hitth(FHE) WRFHE
2020 2019
—E-EF —TNF
Gain on disposal of property, HEME WER&E
plant and equipment W as 1,658,978 1,181,497
Gain on disposal of financial assets HESmMEEKRZ 319,800 =
Net change in fair value on financial assets at BATEFABRNESH
fair value through profit or loss BEMNATEZSFE (19,856,970) (551,464)
Amortisation of deferred income % JE S A 2 8 656,999 1,126,283
Net foreign exchange loss SNE B 1B R (132,781) (2,096)
(17,353,974) 1,754,220
7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. PBRBIATE B
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRBAEBRIDENR,(FFA) TIEERE
B
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZTNF
(note)
(HI5E)
(@) Finance costs (@) ®EKSFK
Interest on borrowing from a related company RE—HEBEEQRIEEZNE 4,500,000 2,812,500
Interest on borrowing from a former director KE—RZAESEEEZFE 3,593,750 1,840,695
Interest on bank overdraft RITEZFE 195 405
Interest on lease liabilities (note 19(c)) HEEENL (MEE19(c)) 405,709 313,963
8,499,654 4,967,563
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified Mizy: AEECERCETEBLIENERESNBEHE

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 2(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

7. BRBAER(E)

2020 2019
—EZBF _—_TNF
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ b) EBIRK(BREES
remuneration) <)
Contributions to defined contribution AEHFEARF S A HK
retirement plans 1,867,628 1,782,117
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMBR 64,993,446 61,459,472
66,861,074 63,241,589
(c) Otheritems (c) HftbiEE
Depreciation (note (i) e (FFEEG))
— owned property, plant and equipment BEYE - KEREHE 8,128,505 9,316,258
— right-of-use assets ERAEEE 4,643,997 =
12,772,502 9,316,258
Impairment loss on club memberships (note (ii)) SHEBEEE (KEi)) - 110,000
Impairment losses on trade and other receivables, B 5 REMBWFIE &4
contract assets and loan receivables BEMERERRERHE 772,211 291,050
Bad debt written off of trade receivables and sH B 5 i Wk IR K
contract assets BHEEER 5,884,680 =
Total minimum lease payments for leases previously — JERIAREE € 5%
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17 FITHEDBERGEHED
(note (i) HEr=EHERRBEE
(B EEG) )
— hire of machinery —THE - 11,042,669
— hire of properties —HEWZE - 6,557,240
Auditors’ remuneration Z NN & 970,000 880,000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment TEME BELRE2KZE (1,658,978  (1,181,497)
Net foreign exchange loss b BT 18 F 58 132,781 2,096
Notes: GEE

)

(i)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. The depreciated carrying amount of the
finance lease assets which were previously included in
property, plant and equipment is also identified as a right-of-
use asset. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1
April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the
depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).

The directors of the Company consider $110,000 impairment
identified with reference to the second hand market price of
the club memberships as at 31 March 2019.

U

REBEFERSETBWENTSEAT BN IERELE
AlE16s WABRNR -_ZT—AFMA—B 24
BAERELEARERT B S ENBEI7TRY B AL
EHENHERENEREEE ALK LAl
ADE BEEREENREHEEENEREED
BRATRAEEAE - R_S—NENA—BY$HE
REAREER ANEEEARBABRRFEHE
BEWNE MARUANBRERESIERESRR
BRAKEHEEEMAEMY - RIBZT A HLRE
BT E - BHiFE2(c)

(RN RRIBEENREGEN _E—NF=A=+—
HZ ZFmi5EKERAEHIREE110,0008 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT 8. FMMEHER
(@) Income tax credit in the consolidated (a) HEBRFEREMZAKERPHISHESR
statement of profit or loss and other &5
comprehensive income represents:
2020 2019
—EDERF —ZTNF
Current tax BYHA T4 18
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year FABEBNEHEE 630,175 329,652
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBERE (58,186) (30,000)
571,989 299,652
Deferred tax EER IR
Origination and reversal of temporary differences T EREMNES REE (978,104)  (2,060,026)
(406,115) (1,760,374)
Notes: B 5T

(i)

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profit tax rate
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the follow day.

Under the two-tiered profit tax rate regime, the first HK$2
million of assessable profits of a qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020 is taken into
account a reduction granted by the Hong Kong SAR of 100%
of the tax payable for the year of assessment 2019-20 subject
to a maximum reduction of HK$20,000 for each business
(2019: a maximum reduction of HK$30,000 was granted for
the year of assessment 2018-19).

Accordingly, Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million. For the remaining
subsidiaries of the Group in Hong Kong, they are subject to
16.5% of the estimated assessable profits under Hong Kong
Profits Tax.

The provision for Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at
12% of the estimated assessable profits for years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019.
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REASEESNRULRY NEBBAYMHRS
BB EAMEH-

RZE—N\F=ZA-_+—8B FBLLeBBE_
T—EFERB(EE]) (FTHR)GNER ([EHE
R]) SIAFIESHERAS AN EER_T—NF=
AZ+NBEEEXEZZ UNBEHERHRTZE-

RIBFE RS & &% % B E 8 52,000,000%
TCJE RR T i RO X 2R /58.25% » 1 #8482,000,00078 7T
FERBUHR N R 516.5% » TEFAFGHMAH 2
EETE RN ERT NG EEIR16.5%8] — B R
i o

CECDFRENGHBEC T REEFRTHRER
TE-NE_TFERBEFEL TS EBINR100%E
518 (R A20,0008 ) B5tE (ZZE— hF:
R-B—-N\E-NFRBFELTESEELRA
30,000/ 7T) °

Al AEREBEENTENSHIZMGAER
T % 1 B 2,000,0005 7T LA8.25% 7 K5t & - #8:@
2,000,000/ TTHIIE16.5%51 & - NEBER BB E &
BB N AR (G AT E AR BEE B A16.5% M B R B &
PEFEEL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

8. FEHER (&)

TE=ZA=+—HIFE (BTE)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax credit and (b) FEHERERBEABRAENRBAS
accounting loss before taxation at applicable EBRZENER:
tax rates:
2020 2019
—EBC-EF —TAF
Loss before taxation Fr # A1 BT 1B (60,777,847) (56,988,999)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at RERRE@REREEE
the rates applicable to losses in the jurisdictions HESTE R A
concerned EiERETIE (10,193,939)  (9,533,700)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR FE R ETE 6,280,815 2,063,631
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAERBU AR TR & (1,256,965) (785,449)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised MARBREREZE
MR E 184,310 340,081
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RIERARE BB IBEEL
M E 4,625,556 6,185,063
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBERE (58,186) (30,000)
Others HAth 12,294 -
Actual tax credit ERRIBEES (406,115)  (1,760,374)
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (c) HREMBERRRNAEHIE:
financial position represents:
(i Current taxation 1] AR B
2020 2019
—BC-EFE —TAF
Provision for Hong Kong Profits FABEBNETRE
Tax for the year 630,175 329,652
Provisional Profits Tax paid ENEHFEH (291,466)
338,709 329,652
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax BERTEEABENES
provision relating to prior years M B EER 1,672,186 543,637
2,010,895 873,289
Representing: ¥
Tax recoverable AT Ug Bl % 18 - (798,897)
Tax payable e IR 2,010,895 1,672,186
2,010,895 873,289
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continueq)
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents: (Continued)

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as follows:

8. FEHER (&)
() HEMBRRRNAEHE: (&)

(i) EEZELHEZEREER

FAEMBRARANERRECRAEERERE

Depreciation
allowances in
excess of the

related
depreciation Total

mERE
Deferred tax arising from: EERIERE : BHERTE et
At 1 April 2018 M-—E— N\FEMmA—A (4,473,233) (4,473,233)
Credited to profit or loss REZFPEFTA 2,060,026 2,060,026

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-BE—AE=A=+—-0K

—E-NFHA—H (2,413,207) (2,413,207)
Credited to profit or loss RIBZHFETA 978,104 978,104
At 31 March 2020 R-E-—TE=-HA=+—H (1,435,103) (1,435,103)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 8.

(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (c)
financial position represents: (Continued)

e MR M EE

TE=ZA=+—HIFE (BTE)

B (&)
REMBRRRNFAEBE: (&)

(i)  Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (i) CEEZELHELZEREE (&)
(Continued)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial A BRARHERMOT
position is as follows:
2020 2019
—T_TF —NnE
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the FREMBRRAKRANEHER
consolidated statement of financial position BT TR E =55 - -
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REMBARRKRANEER
consolidated statement of financial position R IEB EFEE (1,435,103)  (2,413,207)
(1,435,103) (2,413,207)
(d) In accordance with the accounting policy set out d BEWZT2(MNMH 2 WE K

in note 2(r), the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
approximately $116,141,000 (2019: approximately
$88,108,000) as it is uncertain that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity. The tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.

SRV EBEREBARAMEBEBEY
116,141,0008 T (ZE — N F : 4
88,108,000 L) MIELE I & & - it
THEREEBHER fERRERES
AESTRARENEEEBEENRKRER
HMEfGFETEECE - BREBEBRITHBEIR
B - B BB I B H o
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4 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEHM
Directors’ remuneration during the years ended 31 March BE-_Z-_ZTFER-_F-NF=ZA=+—H1
2020 and 2019 which was included in the staff costs as FEBFAWFT7TO)MBEENEIXNAIANES
disclosed in note 7(b) is as follows: FMT -
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE_Z_ZTFE=A=1+—RHLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Director's  Discretionary  and benefits scheme
fee bonuses inkind  contributions Total
¢ 2K
2k WEEA ENEA  BATTEMR @5t
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yan Shuai (Chairman) BAb A (£) - 740,151 1,050,000 18,000 1,808,151
Mr. Fong Hon Hung (Note (vi),(vi) 77328 % 4 (B5E() - (vii)) - 315,000 644,000 8,400 967,400
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (Note (ix),(x)) RRE A (M () - 750,000 1,303,304 18,000 2,071,304
Mr. Chan Kwan BRELE - 740,151 1,005,000 18,000 1,763,151
Mr. Zhu Jiayu (Note (vii) KEBTAE (FIFEwVi)) 302,240 88,384 235,871 - 626,495
302,240 2,633,686 4,238,175 62,400 7,236,501
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Fong Hon Hung (Note (vi),(vii) 7728 % 4 (BEW) » (vii)) 459,987 - - - 459,987
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (Note (ix),(x)) RiRE S A (MM () 12,000 - - - 12,000
471,987 - - - 471,987
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy BEELAE 240,000 - - - 240,000
Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson REREEE 144,000 - - - 144,000
Mr. Qin Fen REEE 144,000 - - - 144,000
528,000 - - - 528,000
Total Bar 1,302,227 2,633,686 4,238,175 62,400 8,236,488
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

9. EBHFM (&)

BHE_Z-NF=ZA=+T—RBILFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Director's Discretionary and benefits scheme
fee bonuses in kind contributions Total
e RER
30 BEEa BEMEFN R EIER Bar
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lau Woon Si (Note (ii) Bes A (BIsEG) - - 628,000 - 628,000
Mr. Fong Hon Hung (Chairman 2574 (£ &

and chief executive officer) TBBE) (M) - Vi)

(Note (vi),(vii) = = 1,495,000 18,000 1,513,000
Mr. Chan Chi Ming Tony (Note (i)  BRT-83 % 4 (B (i) - 62,922 487,755 6,000 556,677
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (Note (ix),(x)) RRE A (M) ) - 660,000 1,278,710 18,000 1,956,710
Mr. Chan Kwan BELE = 539,444 1,000,000 18,000 1,557 444
Mr. Yan Shual BREIEE 500,000 539,444 500,000 9,000 1,548,444

500,000 1,801,810 5,389,465 69,000 7,760,275
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Ms. Wang Qing (Note (iv)) FREL L (fEE(Y) 301,452 = = = 301,452
Mr. Lo Wa Kei Roy EEELE 240,000 = = = 240,000
Ms. Li Zhongye Cindy (Note () ~ ZFEEZ+ (FFE() 39,484 = = = 39,484
Mr. Leung Ka Fai, Nelson DEBELAE 144,000 - - = 144,000
Mr. Qin Fen (Note (v)) RERE (V) 41,032 - - = 41,032

765,968 S = = 765,968
Total Bar 1,265,968 1,801,810 5,389,465 69,000 8,526,243
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, none of
the directors has granted share options, in respect of their
services to the Group under the share option of the Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. Neither the directors
waived any emoluments during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

Notes:

0] Resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 9 July 2018.

(ii) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 31 July
2018.

(iii) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 7
September 2018.

(iv) Resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 19 December 2018.

(V) Appointed as independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 19 December 2018.

(Vi) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 18
September 2019.

(vii) Appointed and resigned as non-executive director of the
Company on 18 September 2019 and 17 January 2020
respectively.

(viii) Appointed as executive director of the Company on 18
September 2019.

(ix) Resigned as executive director of the Company on 1 March
2020.

(x) Appointed as non-executive director of the Company on 1
March 2020.
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TTF=A=1+—BILFE (AETFE)

9. EBHFM (&)

RBEE-_T-_ZTFR-_FT-NAF=ZA=1+—H
LEE BEEFHEEFAASEMEHNR
BIREASEBRETSIERBERE-

RBE_Z_TFR_ZF-NAF=A=+—H
TFE - AEEHREREEINME (FAA
BEMAIKREMAREE RS HIESBE
BHEE- RBE_ZT_TFEK-_FT—-hF=A
S+t RLEE BEEERETAME -

i oE -

0} RZE-N\FLANBRERR BB IUIENTES -
(i) RZE—-N\FLtA=+—HEEERRBRNTES-
(i) RZZE-—NFALA+BEERARARNITES:

(iv) RZB-NF+ZATNRABERRRIBILIEATT

%

(v) RZB-NF+ZATNBEZERRRBBEILI
WITESE-
(vi) RIZE-NFAATN\BBELARFRITES-

(vii) %m_7 NWENATNBRZZEZTF—A++t
ZEARBEARRERITES-

wi) RZE-NFAATN\BEZERARBRTES -

(ix) RZE_TEF=A—AEEARAMITES-

(x) R-E-EF-A - BEZREARARPEMTES-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) Z —Z -TF = A=+ —H L FE (B THE)

10. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, three
(2019: four) of these are directors for the year ended 31
March 2020, whose emoluments are disclosed in note
9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining individuals are as follows:

10. EEBREHFMALHMES

BE-_T-_ZTHFE-_A=+-"HLFE RAEE
BhigeFMALTH =2 (ZF-NF: 0
F)REZ HMeBRERMEI - HBHALH
MemBEWT :

2020 2019

—E-EF —T—NF

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EHREWREN 3,065,000 1,495,000
Discretionary bonuses E’] BIELT 400,000 =
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGTEIE R 18,000 18,000
3,483,000 1,513,000

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no RBE_Z-_ZEFER-_FT-—NF=A=+—H

emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors and employees) or
other directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The emoluments of the two (2019: one) individuals with the

EFE- ZS%ITEHﬁﬁﬂ%?%%F@H/\i(@
REEMEE)XEMBETINME UES
BEEMASIREMAREB RO E RIER
Bl (E -

M (ZT—NF: ) &GSFMALHOM

highest emoluments are within the following bands: NFEATEHE:
2020 2019
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
—®-®FE —TNF
AE N
Nil — 1,000,000 0 - 1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 1,000,001 —1,500,000 - -
1,500,001 - 2,000,000 1,500,001 —2,000,000 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

11. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final

11. RE

BV AEHRK /H-a:t—g—gﬁﬁiﬂ =t-

dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020. No dividend HIEFE 2 KRB $ A & = K R
has been declared or paid by the Company for the years HE_ZT_ZTF )SZ —NE=A=+—H1
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. FEZRE -

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable

(@) EBREXRER

ZANYN 7$ﬂk¥ﬂxﬁﬁgﬂ'ﬁtﬂxﬁ$}§ﬂ§ETRT@J%(

to equity shareholders of the Company is based on the Bt E
following:

2020 2019
Loss B8

Loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company

RABRESBRELER

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

for the purpose of basic loss per share

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the
calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was based on () the loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and (ii)
the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

(b) Diluted loss per share

There were no diluted potential shares in existence during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ¥ BERRE
EQUIPMENT
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) HREEYHKR
Properties
leased Leasehold Furniture Motor
for own use Machinery improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
HEFER
g BH HEXE  HBHRREE "E .
Cost: B
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\FEA—H - 116,946,152 2,950,888 2,498,983 11,964,872 134,360,895
Additions NE - 510,000 - 183,196 - 693,196
Disposals & - (7,570,110) - - = (7,570,110)
At 31 March 2019 RZ2-NE=A=1+—H - 109,886,042 2,950,888 2,682,179 11,964,872 127,483,981
Impact on initial application BREREANBRE
of HKFRS 16 (note) BB 165N E
iR 6,007,406 - - - - 6,007,406
At 1 Apri 2019 RZE-NEEA-H 6,007,406 109,886,042 2,950,888 2,682,179 11,964,872 133,491,387
Additions e 5,102,377 1,350,500 517,496 110,069 210,000 7,290,442
Disposals e (3,600,721) (20,289,500) (2,555,008) (398,276) (369,685)  (27,213,190)
At 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF=A=1-H 7,509,062 90,947,042 913,376 2,393,972 11,805,187 113,568,639
Accumulated depreciation: RitHE:
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\FEA—H - 93,088,537 779,131 1,258,239 6,898,511 102,024,418
Charge for the year FRTH - 6,339,313 511,002 401,466 2,064,477 9,316,258
Written back on disposals LERREE - 2,469,607) - - = (2,469,607)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ2-NE=ZA=1+—H - 96,958,243 1,290,133 1,659,705 8,962,988 108,871,069
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEFEA—H - 96,958,243 1,290,133 1,659,705 8,962,988 108,871,069
Charge for the year ERTH 4,643,997 5,529,972 511,002 397,204 1,690,237 12,772,502
Written back on disposals HEREE (3,323,749 (20,289,500) (1,405,255) (223,580) (240,295 (25,482,379)
At 31 March 2020 RZ2-2F=A=1—H 1,320,248 82,198,715 395,880 1,833,419 10,412,930 96,161,192
Net book value: RERE:
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=A=1+—H = 12,927,799 1,660,755 1,022,474 3,001,884 18,612,912
At 31 March 2020 RZ2-2F=A=1+—H 6,188,814 8,748,327 517,496 560,553 1,392,257 17,407,447
Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

13.

(a)

Note:

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (Continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at 1
April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. See note 2(c).

Assets held under finance leases

Certain machinery of the Group with an aggregate net
book value of HK$8,266,667 as at 31 March 2019, are
accounted for as finance leases pursuant to sales and
leaseback transactions with lease periods of 36 months,
with 7 months remaining as at 31 March 2019.

(b)

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

13. X BERR®E (&)

(@) FREEHKRZ)
e ARBECERKETENEERNERBTEVBRE
HEHF1RLHER T —NFMA— B2 HE
e NEREARBEEA ST ENEITRDBRL
EHENHERMNEREEE RM20) -

REBEHELEHWEE
RZZE—NF=Z=A=+—HB AE£EBKRHEFE
42 318,266,667 8 LA T TH IR IR & 12 [0
XS AR AREHE HHA3MEA - B
ZE-NWF=ZA=+—BFKHEEHAE7EA-
b) FREEE

ZHAEERMNEI D NEREEERTFED
DEINWT

31 March 1 April
2020 2019
—ECEF —FT-NF
=A=+—8H MA—H

Properties leased for own use, carried at HMEEBRANYME
depreciated cost (LI EXAFNER) 6,188,814 6,007,406
Machinery, carried at depreciated cost A (R ERATIER) - 8,266,667

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

e PR RRMEE

“ERF=A=1+—RHILFE (ABTFE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. YME -WERSZE(2£)
EQUIPMENT (Continuea)
(b)  Right-of-use assets (Continued) b) FEAREEEZ)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases REZARRNEERIBEBE N TES @
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: K
2020 2019
—ECEF —FT-NF
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by REBEERNZSH
class of underlying asset: ERAEEENEER:
— machinery — Mk 1,866,667 3,200,000
— properties leased for own use —HEEERNME 4,643,997 =
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7(a)) HEGERNE (M3E7@) 405,709 313,963
Expense relating to short-term leases and £ 55 Hf ﬁ‘ﬁ i;f PERZiERE
other leases with remaining lease term ending RZZEZZTF=A=+—H
on or before 31 March 2020 %2 A EREEMIEE
BEMNAX
— machinery — 19,711,734 =
— properties leased for own use —HEEE RN 2,156,400 =
Total minimum lease payments for leases previously e RIBIEEE €58
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17 FATHRD ;*;E,t’j%« EHERW
SERE KRBT
— hire of machinery —THEHM - 11,042,669
— hire of properties —MHEWE - 6,557,240

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. The depreciated carrying amount of the
finance lease assets which were previously included in
property, plant and equipment is also identified as a right-of-
use asset. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1
April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the
depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
approximately $5,102,000. This amount related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 19(d) and 23,
respectively.

fisr: ARBECEREETENEERERBTEVBRE
HEHFIRLHER T —NFMA— B2
B AR AR RBEE ST LEREITROARK
EHENHEEMNERBEEE KR ADE B
EhHEzMEREEEZTERMENZR RE
AEEE-R_T-NFOA—BLHERERE
BE®R ANEE (ERABAN)ARAEREEEN
B mMIFREMBENAHNREREERLEH
ERTEENEEMX -REZTE LREHTT
&5 - BHfFE2()

FR - AEFHEEELS,102,0008T %%
HEFGTHEHBEE TEMNNE R ENIE
=R

EF‘W ENHeRbEBRANEESR G0 2 H
DT 2 7B D B M EE19(d) 228 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
(i) Properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties
as its office and warehouses through tenancy agreements.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 3 to 5 years.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an
additional period after the end of the contract term or early
terminate before the contract term. Where practicable,
the Group seeks to include such extension options or
early termination options exercisable by the Group to
provide operational flexibility. The Group assesses at lease
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain
to exercise the extension options or early termination
options. If the Group is not reasonably certain to exercise
the extension options or early termination options, the
future lease payments during the extension periods are
not included in the measurement of lease liabilities. The
potential exposure to these future lease payments is
summarised below:

TTF=A=1+—BILFE (AETFE)

13. X BERR®E (&)

(b) FEREEEZ)
() HEFEEAHYE

AEEEERHERZNSENERL MY X

f’EF%E#JJ#”*&F}* Eiiﬁﬁi;f RN =
ETHERRRANBEREARNE LHE

1R Al ﬂiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ/ﬁﬂ BB ] ) S A o
RATERT  AEBEARKMHAREERTE
MEHEERENIRARILEE NEHEEE)
- AEBEREERKBEPFGEERTSIEH
FETT e AR TH 2 ?ﬂiﬁikﬁl R IEFE o i A SRR

EERRTEEHESEIIEAMKRLE RE
THHHF'W’J?EX?ETH AT AHER BN

CREARREENRNBERBR DT

Potential future
lease payments

under

extension/

termination

Lease options not
liabilities included in
recognised lease liabilities
(discounted) (undiscounted)
REEHE

RIERER

ZEBERKEE

=X N E 1N
HEAE HEAE)
(B2#8R) (RHFR)
Warehouses — Hong Kong BE-HB 1,347,592 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

14.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

14.

RBRRWRE

TRENAEEHBRRANFES -BRIESAM
B AENKROBERNSEBK-

Proportion of ownership interest

ERELH
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issue and Group’s Held by
Name of and paid up effective the Held by  Principal
company business capital interest  Company subsidiary  activity
MR LR BRTR S WEAR
AR EE KB BRREFE BERER XQREF BE  TEEER
Hong Kong Wan Wai Company Limited ~ BVI Ordinary shares 100% 100% - Investment holding
US$10,000
ERLRRERAT HEBREAESE  LTBKI0000ET REZR
Chung Shun Boring Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Ground investigation works
Company Limited HK$4,700,000
REBERTIEERATF B & i f%4,700,0007% 7T TR TR
Wan Kei Geotechnical Engineering Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% S 100%  Construction site foundation
Company Limited HK$10,000,000 engineering and bore pile pre-driling
works
FETHIRERAR EE £1@#%10,000,000% 7T BREmEnETRRENRTER
FERTE
Wan Kei Machinery Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 100% S 100%  Machinery leasing
BERBERAT &t LER100%E T HmiAE
Wan Kei (Macau) Civil And Foundation ~ Macau 2 shares of MOP 14,000 100% - 100%  Construction site foundation
Construction Company Limited* engineering and bore pile pre-driling
works
BECRM)MERETIRERAR RM 2MRRPI%14,0007T BEMBHETRRELETER
FERIRE
Ultimate Proud Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
EHERRA AERLEE  EBRER REZK
Fortune Shiny (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% S 100%  Money lending
HK$1,000,000
EE (FE)BRAA EE EiAMk1,000,000% 7T fa&
Infinite Time Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
KEERBR AR RERAZEE  EERRER REZR

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited Z=E&®iZRERA R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. RMBARMNEKRE (&)
(Continueq)
Proportion of ownership interest
ERELH
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issue and Group’s Held by
Name of and paid up effective the Held by  Principal
company business capital interest  Company  subsidiary  activity
MR ERTR S| KB AR
AR EE ES S BRRAFE BERER XQREF BE EEE
Sino Topper Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Shares 100% = 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$20,000,000
REKBEERRA & ¥ i#[%20,000,0007% 1T EENGE
Prestige Victory Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
HIBRAA EBRAES TRRIET REZK
Topper Summit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
ELZ! & & 1 %5,000,0007% 7T AR
Delight Vision Global Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
WERRREBR AR AERLHEE  ETERER REER
Shiny Wiser Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% S 100%  Not yet commence business
HK$5,000,000
YBERNA & & #/R5,000,000/% 7T AR E %
Elegant Top Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
HEEZRERAF EERAEE  LTERER REZR
Success Mount Investments Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% - 100%  Not yet commence Business
HEREBRAF EBEAHEE  TBRRERT AR E %
Advance Trade Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
BXZRERAF EERAEE  LTERER REZR
Regal Victor International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 100% S 100%  Trading of beauty and skin care
products
EEERER AR e LiR100E T BEXAREEER
- Company not audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited . REBEFEETMEBMAERAR ([BEF]) BZHR

(“HLB”). The financial statements of the subsidiary not audited
by HLB reflect total net assets and total revenue constituting
approximately 0.01% and nil respectively of the related

consolidated totals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 15. BAFVEFTABZSNEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—NF
Listed equity securities at FVPL (note 26(f)) AT EFABTZN ET
— in Hong Kong AT 7 (FiaE26(f) )
—REE - 1,968,000
Unlisted fund investment at FVPL (note 26(f) AT EFABZAIELT
— outside Hong Kong B2 E (Mizk26(f))
—BBHEIN 19,908,126 39,765,096
19,908,126 41,733,096
16. CONTRACT ASSETS 16. BHEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—NF
Arising from performance under RBRESR
construction contracts, net of loss allowance (note) ~ BAIFTE 4 - K BIEEE
(Ht3E) 70,341,839 54,862,100
Avrising from performance under ground BRI 1 1 5B AR 755
investigation services, net of loss allowance (note) BRIPTE £ IR EIEHE
(Ht3E) 17,239,367 13,526,339
87,581,206 68,388,439

Note: Expect for the amount approximately $48,072,000 (2019:
approximately $21,127,000) and approximately $2,749,000
(2019: approximately $5,931,000) for construction contracts
and ground investigation services as at 31 March 2020
respectively, which are expected to be recovered after
one year, all of the remaining balances are expected to be
recovered within one year.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract assets recognised are as follows:

The Group’s construction contracts and ground
investigation service contracts which require stage
payments over the construction/service period once
milestones are reached as application submitted to the
customers/certificate issued by the customer.

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s construction
contracts and ground investigation service contracts
typically have an agreed retention period of one year for
5%-10% of the contract value, which amount is included
in contract assets until the end of the retention period as
the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional
on the Group’s construction work satisfactorily passing
inspection.

e BRR - E_ZTF=ZA=+—"HBHE2BEIHAEY
48,072,000/ 7T ( =& — JL4F : 421,127,000/ 7T )
N #92,749,000% ¢ ( —Z— FL4 : 495,931,000/ 7T )
MEEAN R T E RS BER —FE BN
BTBERHRBEHBER —FREY-

LHEAGHNEEZRBRTZEN —RIME
R

AEENREANRLIHBARBEHERK
—BERER (AMEFPRXBH /TP ELR
) RRER/MRBHEOBERMK-

(AN

E=111

RZBE_EFR-_FT—ILF=ZA=Z+—H 'K
EERASNBESSEI0% I EEASO N1
DARBEVHBENRBA—BRE—F %2
ERNRBPLERAGFTABCHNEE RRAALASE
EESHSRIENENRASE LRIEF A
BRABFAIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
e MR M

'

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. EZ R HMEWFIE

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B 5 EINGRIE - kR ESE#E 39,335,306 17,681,106
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables, Be TBNRIEREA
net of loss allowance (note) FEURGRIE - HIBR B B R
(MI&E) 33,726,838 11,395,770

73,062,144 29,076,876

Note: Except for the amounts of approximately $949,000 and
approximately $1,235,000 as at 31 March 2020 and 2019
respectively, which are expected to be recovered after
one year, all of the remaining balances are expected to be
recovered within one year.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the date of progress certificates
issued by customers or the date of invoice issued to
customers and net of allowance, is as follows:

fiz: WRZZE-ZEER_ZE-NF=ZRA=T—HLEH
7l 549949,00078 7T &2 £71,235,000/8 TL T EAN — F 1%
Bl SN - 82T PTA AR TEEIIE I —F @ I -

AR A

RBEHR ERFFPEHMEEEEEHNK
MEFHAMNBZHHRINKREEER BE5E
WHRBB(FABS REMEWKKIE) HERER D
/N

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF

Within 1 month — @ AR 16,423,637 11,122,267
1 to 2 months —E=mEA 1,276,787 794,298
2 to 3 months M 2 = & A 21,138,842 330,000
Over 3 months =@ANE 496,040 5,434,541

39,335,306 17,681,106

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 45 days
from the payment application date or 30 to 60 days from
the certificate date or 60 to 90 days from the invoice date.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
note 26(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

18. LOAN RECEIVABLES

e MR M EE

TE=ZA=+—HIFE (BTE)

18. EWER

2020 2019

—2-%F —TNF

Fixed-rate loan receivables, net of allowance BEEMEREUE  HKkEHE 54,584,808 7,985,672
Analysed as: R v=%

Current portion BIHAER 54,584,808 7,985,672
Analysed as: SR v=%

Unsecured A 4 54,584,808 7,985,672

At 31 March 2020, the interest rates and maturity dates
attributed to the Group’s loan receivables were 7.5%-12%
(2019: 10%) per annum and in April 2020 — September
2020 (2019: May 2019) respectively.

Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group uses
internal credit assessment process to assess the potential
borrower’s credit quality and defines the credit limits
granted to the borrowers. The credit limits attributed to the
borrowers are reviewed by the management regularly.

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the directors of the Group

R -_ZETF=ZF=+—"HB A&EBEREKE
RAZFERNEKEAB7TE5%E12% (ZF — L F:

10%) HHAR-_E-_ETEMAE_ZET-F
ENB(ZE—hAE: —T—HhEHRAP) -
REAMRALTRHERR - AEBERBAIHE

EEES FHEEEEAZEEER X
AERAEEARBZEEREE - BEEAZEE
BHEREEETHEMN-

R_E_TFER_ZFE-AF=ZA=+—H K

are of the view that there has been no significant increase SEEFERR B %ﬂ IRERHEEWERIAR &
in credit risk nor default risk of the loan receivables since its WENRZEERR REDH R &E ARG M-
initial recognition.
The exposure of the Group’s fixed-rate loan receivables to REE 2 EEFMEEWEFKTHEEE 2 F X R R
interest rate risks and their contractual maturity dates are REAGHINBENT :
as follows:
2020 2019
—B-BE —ThF
Fixed-rate loan receivables, net of allowance & EF =R U E R kR B E
— Within one year ——FR 54,584,808 7,985,672
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 26(a). BEFEBNFBENHE26(a) ©
19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19. BHERREEEY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@ BHERBRZEEYEE:
2020 2019
— 7 — ﬂi :;Ti_jli
Cash at banks and in hand THEZRRFERS 228,720,343 337,512,371
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

T-2F=f

=+—HLEFE (SAETFHE)

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19. RELBEEEY (&)
(Continued)
(b)  Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash b) KHRAFSEELCEMARSHEER:
used in operations:
Notes 2020 2019
e —ZBZTF —T—hNF

Operating activities RETR
Loss before taxation bR F5 AT BT 1B (60,777,847) (56,988,999)
Adjustments for: BT ZIERE:
Interest on borrowing from rE—MA ﬁ%@ NAZ

a related company BEZHE 7(a) 4,500,000 2,812,500
Interest on borrowing from KE—HRAESZ

a former director BEZFE 7(a) 3,593,750 1,840,695
Interest on bank overdraft RITEF B 7(a) 195 405
Interest on lease liabilities HMEBEFE 7(a) 405,709 313,963
Depreciation e 7(c) 12,772,502 9,316,258
Bank interest income RITH B A 5 (3,632,523) (2,736,282)
Fair value change on financial assets BRFEFTABED

at fair value through profit or loss EPREENAFEE 6 19,856,970 551,464
Impairment loss on club memberships SR BEERE 7(0) - 110,000
Impairment losses on trade and B 5 I H th & sk T

other receivables, contract assets and BHEERER f% ?K

loan receivables BEEE 7(c) 772,211 291,050
Bad debt written off of trade receivables and #fl $4 & 5 & Ug 7R I8 M

contract assets EHNEEZRE 7(c) 5,884,680 =
Amortisation of deferred income i T N 2 B 6 (656,999)  (1,126,283)
Gain on disposal of property, HEMHE WER&EZ

plant and equipment & 6 (1,658,978)  (1,181,497)
Recognise of long service mRAKHARBEAE

payment liabilities 169,973 25,426
Changes in working capital: LEESEH:
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 I H Ath FE U SR IEHE AN (30,296,638) (10,166,591)
Increase in loan receivables JFE W B SR8 (47,081,787)  (8,066,667)
Increase in contract assets B HEEE N (19,119,168) (18,423,193)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets BRFEFTABED

at fair value through profit or loss SREERD, (EM) 1,968,000 (42,284,560)
Increase in trade and B 5 K EAth FE A RIRLE AN

other payables 15,298,884 7,869,666
Cash used in operations KEFARS (98,001,066) (117,842,645)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19.

(b)

Note:

(c)

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash
used in operations: (Continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. Previously, cash
payments under operating leases made by the Group as
a lessee of approximately $17,600,000 were classified as
operating activities in the consolidated cash flow statement.
Under HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease payments
and payments for leases of low value assets not included in
the measurement of lease liabilities, all other rentals paid on
leases are now split into capital element and interest element
(see note 13(b)) and classified as financing cash outflows.
Under the modified retrospective approach, the comparative
information is not restated. Further details on the impact of the
transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 2(c).

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

19. RERBREEEY (&)

(b) KRBEAGEEAKERARESNYIR: (&)

e : AKBEEREERENEEREREBV RS ER
SNSRI FHE —T—NFHA— BRHDERS Y
ERRBEEESAEAF TR BRLETHENH
EmAEREEENAERG 28 AKE (R
AR RBELEERED IR E N FAI17,600,000
EIRGERERBROERELEY -REFE

HHENREEEEEEREMNRIN BERBEER
AEREMENESRBNEREARARY KA BB
(RKF180)) Yo EARER SR - RIFLEHR
BWE EBEMTTEY - ARBEEE BN R
EHRERETRHFZE 2 — T FBHRNME2() °

(c) RMEFHELEZREHEK

TERHFLUAEEREZHELZRABEED &
RRELIFREEH - RETHELCEBER
ERIBRAEESZERERERASIBERE
BRBELAZHEREIAKXRRERENEA

=
=]

)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

19.
(Continued)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continueq)

19. RERBREEEY (&)

() ®METBELEZABYHIKR(E)

Amount
due to Amount due
Lease aformer to arelated
liabilities director company Total
PEf —
EN—2 BELNT
HEBE AHEENE I Y
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-h&E=HA=+-—H 3,281,378 95,405,332 99,600,000 198,286,710
Impact on initial application of BREABBUB®RE
HKFRS 16 (note) ZRIE16 T2 (45F) 6,007,406 = = 6,007,406
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-hENE—H 9,288,784 95,405,332 99,600,000 204,294,116
Changes from financing cash MEREREEE:
flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid B A& ¢ &)
¥ (7,652,312) - - (7,652,312
Interest element of lease rentals paid B HEHEH
MEEBD (361,841) - - (361,841)
Proceeds from borrowing from RE—GBAESEE
a former director P15 5008 - 14,500,000 - 14,500,000
Repayment to a former director M—ZEEEEN - (2,800,000) - (2,800,000)
Total changes from financing RERERELHLT
cash flows (8,014,153) 11,700,000 - 3,685,847
Other changes: Hih 5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from FRFIIUFHES
entering into new leases HEAEEM
during the year 5,102,377 - - 5,102,377
Decrease in lease liabilities from FRRILHES
terminating leases during the year ~ FE&&EH 4 (288,879) = = (288,879)
Interest on lease liabilities MEMEZHME 405,709 - - 405,709
Interest on borrowing from a former K E —ZRIEE 2
director EEZHE - 3,593,750 - 3,593,750
Interest on borrowing from E—RBEERRZ
a related company EEZHE - - 4,500,000 4,500,000
Total other changes Hip B Eh1B5E 5,219,207 3,593,750 4500,000 13,312,957
At 31 March 2020 R-BE-ZEF=H=+-H 6,493,838 110,699,082 104,100,000 221,292,920
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified fizE: AKBEFEALERNEREENEREEUBRESE

retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at 1
April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.

See notes 2(c) and 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19. RELBEEEY (&)
(Continued)
(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) ®BMETHEE-EEYHIKR(E)
financing activities (Continueqd)
Amount Amount
due to due to
Lease a former a related
liabilities director company Total
BN—2 e —
AES BELNT
HEAE B B #at
At 1 April 2018 R-ZE—-N\FMNA—H 8,687,991 55,264,637 96,787,500 160,740,128
Changes from financing MERERERE:
cash flows:
Capital element of finance ENBERERESH
lease rentals paid BARE (5,406,613) = - (5,406,613
Interest element of finance EfNBMERERSH
lease rentals paid F S (313,963) - - (313,963)
Proceeds from borrowing RE—GBAESEE
from a former director FTi85R08 - 38,300,000 - 38,300,000
Total changes from financing HERERNELHET
cash flows (5,720,576) 38,300,000 - 32,579,424
Other changes: Hith 28
Finance charges on obligations MEMESAEL
under finance leases BEER 313,963 - - 313,963
Interest on borrowing RE—RAEELZ
from a former director EEZHE - 1,840,695 - 1,840,695
Interest on borrowing from XE—HEBEARZ
a related company BEZHE - - 2,812,500 2,812,500
Total other changes Hih # i %a 313963 1,840,695 2812500 4,967,158
At 31 March 2019 R-E-hE=HA=+-—H 3,281,378 95,405,332 99,600,000 198,286,710
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

19. RERBREEEY (&)

(d HERSRHABHE

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases HHEHEFABREGRERPTNEEREUTR
comprise the following: I8
2020 2019
—EEHF —n&F
Within operating cash flows BREERens 21,868,134 17,599,909
Within financing cash flows BRrmERens 8,014,153 5,720,576
29,882,287 23,320,485
Note: B 5T

As explained in the note to note 19(b), the adoption of HKFRS 16
introduces a change in classification of cash flows of certain rentals
paid on leases. The comparative amounts have not been restated.

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

AABT FE19(0) Pt - T?K ZW BRI BERE
EENiEeNRE

20. EFNEMESRE

HERIZE165RSIAETHE
BEY LRSRIEST -

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZET—hHF

Trade payables = EE H R 35,176,154 21,428,389
Retention payables (note (ii)) é CBs &Gy ) 5,019,668 3,756,355
Other payables and accruals SIENETER 8,130,762 7,706,960
48,326,584 32,891,704
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

e MR M EE

TE=ZA=+—HIFE (BTE)

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 BESRHEHMENSKE (£)
(Continued)

Notes B 5%

0} Save as disclosed in note 20(i) below, all trade and other 0} B TN SCHYEE20) T BR A - B B 5 I EL At FEAT 30E
payables are expected to be settled within one year. RN —FRER-

(i) Except for the amounts of approximately $2,572,000 and (i) BRABNR_ZEZEFR_FT-NF=ZA=1+—HH
approximately $1,257,000 as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 #92,572,0007%8 7T K 491,257,000/ 7LAN - R TP 4
respectively, all of the remaining balances are expected to be ERIBE RN —FAER -
settled within one year.

(i) As of the end of the reporting period, ageing analysis of trade (i) REBEHRR EREZAHNEFRNEIFRED
payables based on the invoice date is as follows: IR UENE

2020 2019

—E-ZF —E-NF

Within 1 month —@AA 16,934,632 7,752,539
1 to 2 months —ZW{EA 11,874,981 9,876,642
2 to 3 months N ZE =& A 4,532,697 2,140,305
Over 3 months =AML 1,833,844 1,658,903
35,176,154 21,428,389

21. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED
COMPANY/A FORMER DIRECTOR

The amount due to a related company, Bright Dynasty
Trading Limited (“Bright Dynasty”), a related company
which 100% beneficially owned by Mr. Fong Hon Hung
(“Mr. Fong”), was unsecured, bearing interest rate at 5%
(2019: 2.5%-5%) per annum and repayable on demand.
Mr. Fong who is the former director of the Group is also the
director of Bright Dynasty.

Except for the amount of $22,500,000 (2019:
$25,300,000), the other amount due to a former director,
Mr. Lau Woon Si (“Mr. Lau”), was unsecured, bearing
interest rate at 5% (2019: 2.5%-5%) per annum and
repayable on demand.

2. EN—BBRELAR —RAESENE

EN—HEERXRHESERAR ([XHE
1) (—HMHEAFEBEEE([AEE])2EE
SHEAZBEQR)REBERT  HFB5%

TE-NF:25%E5%) B NARENRE
B-AAEAAEBRNNES TAXTHDES
ZEE

B A& 222,500,000 0 (=& — h&F:
25,300,000 7C) < RIBIIN BN —BHES
ik ([B%E]) cEMREBEER
BREBS% (T —NF 25%%E5% )it B R

BIMBRERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

22. DEFERRED INCOME 22, EZEUWA
2020 2019
—B-®E —TNF
At 1 April RMA—H 656,999 1,783,282
Credited to profit or loss FFAESR (656,999)  (1,126,283)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H - 656,999
Less: current portion of deferred income B IREW AR BIEREE 5 - (656,999)

Deferred income mainly represents deferred differences
arising from the sales and leaseback arrangement resulting
in finance lease, which would be recognised as income on
a straight-line basis over the lease periods of 36 months.

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the
current and previous reporting periods and at the date of
transition to HKFRS 16:

EERATERREELRERENEROMA
RHOETCEZRE  ARETERAKNIGEADN
HEAREREERDBWA -

23. HEARE
TRINFHREMRBARSHAURBEES
B EBRE LR FE16EERAEEBEEARBY
Fera 4B A :

31 March 2020 1 April 2019 31 March 2019
“E-EF=A=1-H —E-NFRA—-A “E-NE=A=1—H
Present Present Present

value of the Total  value of the Total  value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments payments payments
BEHE BEREE RERE RERE RERE RERE
RRHRE AREE [ARNRE NREE FARAORE R
Within 1 year —£R 2,756,941 3,117,052 7,662,312 8,010,919 3,281,378 3,336,919
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERMERA 2,061,988 2,247,600 1,369,565 1,429,451 = =
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERAFA 1,674,909 1,730,400 266,907 270,000 = =
3,736,897 3,978,000 1,636,472 1,699,451 - -
6,493,838 7,095,052 9,288,784 9,710,370 3,281,378 3,336,919
Less: total future interest expenses W ARMERZ LR (601,214) (421,586) (55,541)
Present value of lease obligations HEAZNRE 6,493,838 9,288,784 3,281,378
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.

Note:

24,

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continuea)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. These liabilities have been aggregated with the
brought forward balances relating to leases previously
classified as finance leases. Comparative information as at 31
March 2019 has not been restated and relates solely to leases
previously classified as finance leases. Further details on the
impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 2(c).

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

23. HEERE(£Z)

M AEEE RS SRR R BB RS
BIE16H L AE - — A EmA — AT
SRR SR ER BT S E AR LTS
WRERRHEAE - ZZABDEANOEAR
ERENAERBNEEERAM RS NE
SRSt RMLBERTT BN LEEENS
EARARENREEE SHBEEEEHMER
o B 16SR M B — B EEE BRI EE2(g) ©

24. EERNKEF

AEBRE (BERBMERIBSF KL B
X(EERRIES) EENIBRERIL —HA
BHEATERFE ([EBEEEE]) - REDF
AR EHBYUXEATENERHETRKE
g-RERESHE BREMHEREESAAR
BEEHRBRANSRAGFEHNK FAKSHEE
WA %530,00078 7T ° 7t &l 1 5% B B 55 /8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS

(a) Movement in components of equity

TTF=A=1+—BILFE (AETFE)

25, EXR-HERRBRE

(@) HZANEH

The reconciliation between the opening and closing AEBGEEEZENT S OB KRR
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated CENEERHERNGEREZZEHR - ARFFH]
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes RERZEEZSERBIMNEBFBHRT
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s X e
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below.
Company KA E
Share Capital Special Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RRE BEAGE YRl RiEE st
Balance at 1 April 2018 RZE-NENA-HH
e 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 (52,120,374) 312,632,659
Changes in equity for 2019: “E-hFREREE.
Total comprehensive income FNEENEESE
for the year S S S (6,580,939 (6,580,939)
Balance at 31 March 2019 and R=Z-h&E=A=1+-HR
1 April 2019 “E-NFOA-RAZE&H 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 (58,701,313) 306,051,720
Changes in equity for 2020: “ECEERRYE:
Total comprehensive income FREAENEES
for the year - - - (130,019,884) (130,019,884
Balance at 31 March 2020 R-ZB-BF=ZA=+-H
A - 211,357,601 9,669,301 143,726,131 (188,721,197) 176,031,836

Note:  The Group, including the Company, had initial applied HKFRS 16
at 1 April 2019 using the modified approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated and there is no effect on
the opening balance of the Company’s equity as at 1 April 2019.
See note 2(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) Z —Z -TF = A=+ —H L FE (B THE)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continuead)

(b) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between the
equity of Hong Kong Wan Wai Company Limited acquired
pursuant to the Reorganisation on 9 May 2015 over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore.

25, BEX -FBERBRE (&)

(b) BB

FRlEEEREN —_TE-—RAFAANBZEHA
FBEEERZBERARZERELRRAER
RBMFABETRODCEBEZIER

(c) Share capital (c) B’
Number of
ordinary Nominal
shares amount
ZERHA HE
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each authorised: SREEIBTZEEE
B
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and R-—E-—N\EWmAE—1 -
31 March 2020 —E-NAF=ZA=t+—-8"
—E-AFWNA-BR
—E-EF=A=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: ERTRARETER:
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and R-ZE-N\EM™A—A-
31 March 2020 —E-NAF=ZA=+—-8"
—E-AFWA-BE
—E-EF=A=+—H 960,000,000 9,600,000

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association in
paying distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.
No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(d REZHEREHD
() KiEE

B EBREXAEHERARERE  AR2FRN
MERERXN O KEAREFKAIREEAZE
A MAR RS (F) BB & ERK
BFBEBEREXNDRIBEE BRARA S
AXNRBEERBEREPIHNER T
A B A B 1 i (B T DA 7] B 2 BR300 R = i

B o
1N
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e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continuead)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(i) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its
subsidiaries arising from the Reorganisation.

(iii)  Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the deemed capital
contribution from its shareholders, Suntecli Company
Limited, Samwood Global Limited, Mr. Leung Man Lun
Stephen and Ms. Yeung Siu Lai Shirley, in relation to listing
expenses reimbursed to the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2016.

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company was approximately $32,306,000 (2019:
approximately $162,326,000).

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to fund its business, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.
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i) EBEXFE

ERARBHEREERRATNAERLQA  HAE
REARAA RXBEERGVEZETRNE
ECT-RFDAZT-HLEFEREEMND
ETRAXERRIEE -

() TDRFEE

RZE-_EF=ZA=+—H AJ#Ha K FTAR
RlEZREMNFEESEAS £ A432,306,000%8
T (ZZE—NF:4162,326,000/7C) °

n EBFXEHE

$El S HEANIZERARELAKERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND
DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
trade and other payables, amount due to a related
company, amount due to a former director, lease liabilities
and long service payment liabilities) less cash and cash
equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
Group recognises right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities for the leases previously accounted for
as operating leases as from 1 April 2019. This caused a
significant increase in the Group’s total debt. However,
there are no effect to net debt-to-capital ratio on 1 April
2019 when compared to its position as at 31 March 2019.

The Group'’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of
the current and previous reporting periods and at the date
of transition to HKFRS 16 was as follows:

25, BEX -FBERBRE (&)

n EBEXEERGE)

AEBEREHBEKFEREN L R SEREE
BEHEAEB BUEME AEERELHE
EHFRREFEAR (BERESREMBEMNRK
B EN-—HBEEARRE BN -—RAES
RE HEAGBLERRARBEEB) AR K
RSB KABEANBEMA B HKE

ZC

AEBERAKEBIEW RN T ERELYB
BEEYFI6R - RBEUTE AEFER-F
—hFHOA-—HEERLTIMARSEEHEN
HENFEREEERMHEENEHERAG - LRSS
HAKBEEBABNBIEZM- AT HERT
—NAFE=ZA=T—H0RR - R_T—-NFNW
A-BWMERFRBRERA LRI RZINTE-

REMRBERSHRARBEE B LV B R
SEAFIGEER AEELAREBERK FHE

BEARLEMT

31 March 1 April 31 March

2020 2019 2019

—E-BF TN TR

=A=+-—H mMA—B =A=+—8

(note) (note)

(P3E) (3D

Total debts B HBEE 270,199,308 237,595,651 231,588,245
Less: Cash and cash equivalents WRERIREEEY (228,720,343) (337,512,371)  (337,512,371)
Adjusted net debt ARG EE 41,478,965 N/AT i F N/AT i
Total equity B 207,908,768 268,280,500 268,280,500
Net debt-to-capital ratio B FEEE AL X 19.95% N/ATiE A N/ATNE A

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating lease under
HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information
is not restated. See note 2(c).

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.

it AEEERLETEMEN TS RATBYBHREE
AIFE165% WHBR -ZE—NFMOA— B Z2HI&
BRIATER LRI RBE B G LERFE 17RO BRE
EHENHEERNEERBE -REZIE LKA
BATED - RMEE2() °

7R A) Ko ELAT o] Bt & A B) 28 8 5T (AR S 56 e
MY E AR E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group
is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, contract assets and loan receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are
banks and financial institutions with sound credit ratings.
Given their high credit ratings, management does not
expect any of these banks and financial institutions and
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables and loan receivables

For loan receivables, the Group’s management manages
and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and
existing customers before standard payment terms and
conditions are offered. The management assesses the
collateral and credit quality of each customer based on
customer’s background information, financial position, past
experience and relevant factors. The Group also reviews
from time to time the financial position of the customers.

For all other instruments including other receivables and
loan receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition. The Group has assessed
and concluded that the risk of default rate for the other
instruments are steadily based on the Group’s assessment
of the financial health of the counterparties.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 7% (2019:
23%) and 26% (2019: 51%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively within the foundation
construction segment.

e PR RRMEE

“ERF=A=1+—RHILFE (ABTFE)

26. £RIEREEREBMIAENAFE
(%)

(@ FEERR(E)

Rt R F AR ERE
AR E XM 5 - NIRRT R S R

Z B $%laﬁ§§%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁ
EFZENEERAR - EREEENTEFPNESR
EX BBARAR BELRLIEERZRIGHS
BEEFHMEMMEEER - AKE TS TER
AEPH AR

%%ﬁﬁmlﬂ(a%ﬁmﬁw RIE R EWE
FOME AEBHAEEEBRESM2EATE
Gﬁ%ﬁ'@#“ﬁfﬂﬁ@%&%%uX
@%iﬁ AlASEERRATHEHEEEB-

CREER:HEHREESEIRES X
MMX¥$L%MT M EBEZ EAM
FH-BEAEEEHRFIEFHBHREREZF
H AKREEFTYRAEEMTIAZELNRR
ENBRIE -

EBESEKFERSEE
AEBAZZEFERREIEZEEFEMMERE
%W#Xﬁg@%éﬂ%i%EI*%@°E
W EXEEEFTRR Eﬁfﬁ$%l%xé
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 to 45 days
from the payment application date or 30 to 60 days
from the certificate date or 60 to 90 days from invoice
date. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from construction contract, ground investigation services
customers and trading of beauty and skin care products.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.

(a)

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) Z —Z -TF = A=+ —H L FE (B THE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s

26. £RIEREEREBMIAENAFE
(%)

(@ FEERR(E)

TREREABAEER_ZT_FTFR_F—AN

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other FZAZ+-—BRESREMBEKZE 44
receivables, contract assets and loan receivables as at 31 BEFMERERFERGZEERRLTEHEE

March 2020 and 2019: BBz ER:

2020
—ECEH
Expected Gross Net
credit loss carrying Loss carrying
rate amount allowance amount
EHEE
BR=E HERTEE BREE IREFE
Trade receivables and contract assets B 5 JEW B A L& E

Current (not past due) e (RmE) 0.38% 114,554,602 436,864 114,117,738
1-30 days past due BHI1230H 0.32% 9,062,399 29,063 9,033,336
31-60 days past due #HI31260H 0.32% 3,280,010 10,612 3,269,398
61-90 days past due #HB1290H - - - -
More than 90 days past due #HAR @O0 28.33% 692,151 196,111 496,040
127,589,162 672,650 126,916,512
Other receivables H fth jE Wy 38 0.91% 34,035,131 308,293 33,726,838
Loan receivables FEWE K 1.02% 55,148,454 563,646 54,584,808
89,183,585 871,939 88,311,646
216,772,747 1,544,589 215,228,158
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

26. 2EIEREEREBMIENAFE

(%)

(@ FEERR (&)

2019
“ZT-hF
Expected Gross Net
credit loss carrying Loss carrying
rate amount allowance amount
BHEE

BEx BRHEE BiERE FEEEE

Trade receivables and contract assets B 5 JEW B M A LB E
Current (not past due) e (REH) 0.39% 72,428,820 285,407 72,143,413
1-30 days past due #EI1Z=30H 0.36% 8,522,200 30,609 8,491,591
31-60 days past due #H31Z260H = = = =
61-90 days past due B EIB1E90H - 17,300 - 17,300
More than 90 days past due pap=GyeRicielo]=! 6.82% 5,813,510 396,269 5,417,241
86,781,830 712,285 86,069,545
Other receivables Hofth & Y 5/ IE 0.71% 11,477,284 81,514 11,395,770
Loan receivables JEUE 1.00% 8,066,667 80,995 7,985,672
19,543,951 162,509 19,381,442
106,325,781 874,794 105,450,987

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) Z —Z -TF = A=+ —H L FE (B THE)
26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26. %Eﬂ@@%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ o FEE
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ 8RRk (&)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of FRNEBESREMERRIE caHEERE
trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan WERNEBBERZESHNT :

receivables during the year is as follows:

Trade Other Contract Loan
receivables receivables assets receivables Total
ERRENFGE HttEWHKE BNEE EWRER @t
Balance at 1 April 2018 R=ZB-NFOA—-BH
e 311,129 67,114 205,501 - 583,744
Impairment losses recognised ~ FRE BRREEE
during the year 144,608 14,400 51,047 80,995 291,050
Balance at 31 March 2019 and R=Z-h&E=A=1+—-HR
1 April 2019 “E-hEMA-BHEE 455,737 81,514 256,548 80,995 874,794
Amounts written off during the year & R 54 #) 4 %8 (50,619) - (51,797) - (102,416)
Impairment losses recognised ~ FRNE R R EEHE
during the year 84,583 226,779 (21,802 482,651 772,211
Balance at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZE=A=+-H
&8 489,701 308,293 182,949 563,646 1,544,589
(b)  Liquidity risk (b) HKBELER
Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible $ SEETENBRARIBEHER Er MR E
for their own cash management, including the raising of CBRESEXRNUREERREF R ZlK 'i
loans to cover the expected cash demands. The Group’s l WBREREHERENREARBES
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity NEEBTEEZHNBER  UBEREER E %’]
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, RERBERETZIRBER TR INEARA
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and E2BEE UWENHEHERANRSESS
adequate committed funding lines from major financial Eo

institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on

26. cREREENRERIANAFE

(%)

(b) REBELERMK(Z)

RIS

MR = (HMEFR
E-NAEF=ZA=+—-—HHOMHANX)FHEDH

§

T_FTER

Ti’«%ﬁ§lJ$'§lE’Ji@$E1EBA_? —% E&_
E-NF=ZA=T—HBHHHTA
%@ﬂi,ﬂﬁiiﬁfﬁimé(“?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ/ﬁ
AIREBR =

2 HB

rates current at 31 March 2020 and 2019) and the earliest ﬂ E AR RAEEARERNRNET B H
date the Group can be required to pay: g
At 31 March 2020
R-ZB-EF=A=+-H
Total Within  More than  More than
contractual 1year 1yearbut 2yearsbut More
Carrying undiscounted oron less than less than than
amount  cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BHRHER
Heme —ERR —FHE MENL
B E #E EEX EBWER BEREER EFHNE
Trade and other payables EFNEMEMNFE 48,326,584 48,326,584 45,754,553 2,572,031 - -
Amount due to ER—REERT
a related company PR 104,100,000 104,475,000 104,475,000 - - -
Amount due to a ER—EAEENE
former director 110,699,082 111,034,499 111,034,499 - - -
Other lease liabilties (note) ~ EHEEE (K5F) 6,493,838  7,095052 3,117,052 2,247,600 1,730,400 -
269,619,504 270,931,135 264,381,104 4,819,631 1,730,400 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.

(b)

e PR RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

26. %ﬁ%@?ﬁ“éﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂﬂ@ﬂ%zﬁ

(b) RBEZRMR (&)

At 31 March 2019
RZZB-NF=A=1+—-H

Total Within More than More than
contractual 1 year 1 yearbut 2 years but More
Carrying - undiscounted oron less than less than than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BHRIRIER
Beng  —FA% —FH0E  MENEL
REE k) EEk ERMEAR BRER AFENE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H b E L
I 32,891,704 32,891,704 31,634,673 1,257,031 - -
Amount due to R —FREED A
a related company 2 er] 99,600,000 99,787,500 99,787,500 = = =
Amount due to a R —RAIEEHE
former director 95,405,332 95,542,832 95,542,832 - - -
Lease liabiities relatingto ~ EBEAREE B St
lease previously classified ~ ERIFE17SHEHEA
under HKAS 17 as finance ~ BEHEMNHE
leases ARNEERE 3,281,378 3,336,919 3,336,919 - - -
231,178,414 231,558,955 230,301,924 1,257,031 - -
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified Mizt: AKEFEAKEITERENSEREBUBRESE

(c)

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
17. Other lease liabilities include amounts recognised at the
date of transition to HKFRS 16 in respect of leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17 and amounts
relating to new leases entered into during the year. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(c).

Interest rate risk

The Group had no significant exposure to interest rate risk
for the year ended 31 March 2020. In 2019, the Group’s
interest rate risk arises primarily from lease abilities, which
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and variable rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risks. During the year ended 31 March 2020 and 31
March 2019, however, the management of the Group did
not consider it necessary to use interest rate swaps to
hedge their exposure to interest risk. At 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2019, the Group did not hold any assets
and liabilities which are exposed to significant interest risk.

BIE16%% WHEBR -Z—NAFMA— B 2B
BABRELNREE ST ENEITHREI AL
EHEMNHEFENHEaGE -EHNHEaERE
RARMBREEASHENEITROEAKEHED
HERBAMBHRELAFZ 165K BERAHEERZS
BEREFRNTUMFTHESENSE - BRIEZ A

HEEBATFTEY - BHWE20C) °

(c) F=E

E- T FEFEZA=Z+—HULEFE AEH
TESEAFERBR - R-_T—NAF AEEK
NERERIZREEEEE WIERHESAK
SEAXBRENXEAR -BEATFELE
SREDHSAEREAISBESCRENXRAR M
NFEEFERR -
AEBTHEMAEZETERZEEEALAS
UEBENERR - AM REE_E_2F
—A=+-—-BR=-ZE—HhAF=BA=+—HIF
E-AEBEERER AT EMERF X H
MERB R_BE_FF=A=+—BRE_Z
—NWF=ZA=+—B AEEHERE E X
RERNMNERBZEEREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table details the profile of the Group’s net
borrowings (interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-
bearing financial assets) at the end of the reporting period.
The interest rate and maturity information of the Group’s
borrowings are disclosed in note 21 and 23.

TTF=A=1+—BILFE (AETFE)

26. %ﬁ%@?ﬁ"éﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂﬂ@ﬁ%zﬁ

(0 F=EEk (&)

T?E.:?%?\J$EIB R EEFE (A
éﬁﬁiﬂaﬂéiﬁ% MEE)BR -AEHE
Fﬁ?ﬁ’]ﬂ?& & BB 521 )28 -

tt
=
S
=

2020 2019
—BRoRE TNF

Fixed rate borrowings:

EEMBE:

Amount due to a related company JE — R E R R FRIE 104,100,000 99,600,000
Amount due to a former director IS — B BIE S RIA 110,699,082 95,405,332
Lease liabilities (note) HEaE (M) 6,493,838 =
221,292,920 195,005,332

Variable rate borrowings: FEBE:
Lease liabilities (note) HMESE (M) - 3,281,378
- 3,281,378
221,292,920 198,286,710

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information
is not restated. See note 2(c).

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis point in interest rates with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s loss after tax and the total equity by
approximately $nil (2019: $27,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at the end of the reporting period.

The estimated 100 basis points increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the
next annual end of the reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis is performed on the same basis for the year 2020
and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &%

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency
risk as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments and fund investment. Other than
fund investment held for strategic purposes, the equity
investment are listed.

The Group had no listed investment held as at 31 March
2020. At 31 March 2019, the Group’s listed investments
are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on
daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the relevant stock market index and
other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity
needs.

The Group’s fund investment is held for strategic
purposes. The performance is assessed periodically
against performance of similar listed entities, based on the
limited information available to the Group, together with an
assessment of its relevance to the Group’s strategic plans.

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that an increase/
(decrease) of 5% (2019: 5%) in the relevant stock market
index as applicable, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased approximately $831,000
(2019: $1,742,000) of the Group’s loss after tax and
retained profits.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax and retained profits that would
arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair
values of the Group’s equity investments would change in
accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and
that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2020 and 2019.

e PR RRMEE

“ERF=A=1+—RHILFE (ABTFE)

26. %ﬁ%@?ﬁ"éﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂﬂ@ﬁ%zﬁ

(d SRR

MR AEENBARIBO R ABTEE WA
SRV EBRERIIERR-

(e) RAEEKRMR
AEEEGRERARERESRE ZRAE

REPER - BRFHIEFRBAZHNESREIN
RARED e

AEBR - T -_TF=ZA=Z+—HIEEG I
MEE - R-ZE—hNWF=ZA=+—8 £A£EZ
T REREAMARSMAR AR M- B
ERGEHFZREDNREBEEEH@EAREFESRRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

26.

U]

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values measurement

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) Z —Z -TF = A=+ —H L FE (B THE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

26. £RIEREEREBMIAENAFE
(%)

h ADFPEREE)

BAFPHEHITEZLHEERERE (&)

(Continued)
The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy TERHEAR_ZE_ZEFR_ZFE-NLF=H
the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value at 31 =t+—B %A $ BfEzA5EBNEREE
March 2020 and 2019: EATFEERTHDN:
At 31 March 2020 R-CE—_ZEF=-H=+—H
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
E— BT E=# 4 LR
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value R FEFA R
through profit or loss: THEE
Unlisted fund investment FEEMESEKE - 19,908,126 - 19,908,126
Total assets at fair value BAFEFAEBRZZ
through profit or loss wWEE - 19,908,126 - 19,908,126
At 31 March 2019 RZF-NF=ZA=+—H
Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 balance
B E-8 E=4 B
Assets EE
Financial assets at fair value HRFEGAER S
through profit or loss: EHEE
Listed equity security FTRAES 1,968,000 = = 1,968,000
Unlisted fund investment FLETESIKRE - 39,765,096 - 39,765,096
Total assets at fair value BRAFEFABEZ
through profit or loss HmEE 1,968,000 39,765,096 - 41,733,096
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -ZF = A=+—HILFE (B THE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair values measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

Investments whose values are based on quoted market
prices in active markets, and are therefore classified within
Level 1, include active listed equities. The Group does not
adjust the quoted price for these instruments.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of unlisted fund investment in Level 2 is
estimated by using a valuation technique based on the
net asset approach, which takes into consideration the fair
value of the underlying asset and liabilities of the unlisted
fund investment as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

There are no financial assets classified under Level 3 and
there has not been any transfers between levels during the
year.

26. 2EIEREEREBMIENAFE
(%)

h ADFPEREE)

BAFPHEHITEZLHEERERE (&)

REBREBREMES FTEEEW/EE%ﬁi%
MTEHRE AU BRE R - AEELE
AEZETLAENRE-

F-RLOVEFAEEANGERTREGARE

“HRARNELTEEREZAFEDLRESR
EFEAEAGERMG; EREEIR =
E_FFR-_FB-NF=ZA=+—RHFLTE
TRENHEBREERARNATFE.

BECREENBRAE-AANRFAERZMA
MELAES-

27. COMMITMENTS 27. EiE
(@)  Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March @ ARZZEZZEFRZZF—-—NF=A
2020 and 2019 not provided for in the consolidated =+ —H E’J R /IZI\ B mRBENREER
financial statements were as follows: BEAREEMAT
2020 2019
—_ 7 —_ ﬂi :%_ﬂi
Contracted for EEES) - 215,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) &% —

27. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) At 31 March 2019, the Group’s total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

e MR M EE

TE=ZA=+—HIFE (BTE)

27. RIE(E)

b) NR-ZE—NAF=A=+—8B Kx£ER
BAOHESEHERAREMNZER
EfFEENT :

2019

—ZT-hF

Within 1 year —F R 5,746,700
After 1 year but within 5 years —FHREREERN 290,000
6,036,700

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties held under leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. The
Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group
adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to these leases (see note 2(c)).
From 1 April 2019 onwards, future lease payments are
recognised as lease liabilities in the statement of financial
position in accordance with the policies set out in note
2(), and the details regarding the Group’s future lease
payments are disclosed in note 23.

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
related parties that had transactions with the
Group were as follows:

Name of related parties

AEERREBEHE (EARESTE ST ERS
17THROBRRERE)FANE TYENAHA
A REBERALEBITEWEZERERER
MR ELERFI6H -RIFZ T 5 XK EH
B_T— hi@ﬁ*ﬂ%%%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ&
FHEHBNHEERE (RMFE20c)) - B=

—NFOA-—BE RRXEENE B@ﬁ%}
2B RNUBARARARAERREERE
ERASBERRBEENRZFITENMF23 -

28. EXBEIRS

(@) RBE-ZE-_ZTHF=-A=+-HLFE &
ERRAEENXZOT:

Relationships with the Group

HELER BEAREBHEF
Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited A related company owned by a director of the subsidiary
PELEERERA MBAR -~ RZEFHEANEELNT

Chung Wah Investment Company Limited
FEREBERBRAA M A

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
in note 7(a) and 21 in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions during the year:

A related company owned by a director of the subsidiary

A REEHENEEAQT

%%m R REFE7T@QM2IBEEHNR S
ﬁMI\ AEEBRFANERIZ TAIEKNEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

28.

(a)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continueq)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
related parties that had transactions with the
Group were as follows: (Continued)

TTF=A=1+—BILFE (AETFE)

28. ERBEIRS (&)

(@) REBE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLEE B
ERHEAEENRZOT: (&)

2020 2019

Leases of properties from MUATEFHEMSE
Chung Hang Enterprises Holdings Limited RECEERERA 720,000 720,000
Chung Wah Investment Company Limited REREZERBRA 1,380,000 1,380,000
2,100,000 2,100,000

Note:

(b)

The directors of the Company are of opinion that the above
transactions were entered into the normal course of business.
The related party transactions in respect of rental expenses
paid to a related company constitute connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, however, they
are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Transaction with key management personnel

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration of key management personnel, including

izt ARREERA LIRS TIN—BEKBERE]
V- BEAXNTF—HBEQAANESAINEES
RSBR ETHRBF1AAZE R THRER S A
ZEXGERRET LTRANEMAENRERE

b) EBEFXFsEEBEAEBNXRS
FTEEEANSBHE

TZEEAEM (BRIXNTHIIOMEE

amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 9 % =R B & E1 OFffEEETEEEHERENR
and certain of the highest paid employees and senior SATEENZBE)WT
management as disclosed in note 10, is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EE —ThF
Short-term employee benefits R HE EEA 11,639,088 10,118,275
Post-employment benefits BB 2R A 80,400 87,000
11,719,488 10,205,275
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note MemEIATEIRA] (RHE7((D)) -

7(0)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) 2 — 2 -TF = A=+ —HILFE (B THE)

29. COMPANY LEVEL OF FINANCIAL 20, AEEMENIERRE
STATEMENT
2020 2019
—E-ZTF —ZET-hHF
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHETE AR MRE - 27,970,125
- 27,970,125
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TET 308 K B fib FE UL SRR 20,820,529 876,114
Amounts due from subsidiaries e N NGIE ] 292,875,875 415,825,038
Cash and cash equivalents BehIREEEY 51,620 216,670
313,748,024 416,917,822
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables H b T 5RIR 160,000 155,000
Amount due to a subsidiary FEASt —FEIB B A B Fk I8 127,956,188 129,081,227
128,116,188 129,236,227
Net current assets REBEEFEE 185,631,836 287,681,595
NET ASSETS EEZFE 185,631,836 315,651,720
Capital and reserves EAXRf#HE
Share capital A& A 9,600,000 9,600,000
Reserves (Note 25(a)) M (M3E25(0) ) 176,031,836 306,051,720
TOTAL EQUITY ERBEE 185,631,836 315,651,720

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 24 June 2020

1 T 3%

Yan Shuai Zhu Jiayu
BRED KAEEm
Director Director
EFE EFE

RZZEZZEFNA-_FTUWBLESTeHAERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) & —

30. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company has subscribed for the
Class C Shares in the fund portfolio company at a total
subscription amount of HK$60,000,000. The subscriber
is entitled to a return equal to 8% per annum of its
subscription amount.

After the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, a series
of precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented across the globe. The
Company is paying close attention to the development
of, and the disruption to business and economic activities
caused by, the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its
impact on the Company. Given the dynamic nature of
the COVID-19 outbreak, it is not practicable to provide
a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this
outbreak on the Company.

31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April
2019. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in note 2(c).

Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited ZE£MIZERERAT
Annual Report 2019/20 —E—h —BF£§
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30. HEHRKRNFEARER

RBERRE  ARAAN—HE2ERNTRFE
REESKREHA R ZCERD ARES
¥ 560,000,000 T - RBEHFEHERAER
RERBLCBESFNTEZOHK-

RZE_ZEFYNBE2019TRFER
(COVID-19) B 1B% 2HERDNITEEE
—RUEHREHEE - ARR —EEYBEE
COVID-19R B ERIANMEFMEKRNEL &
KEES R UGB EHAR AN E B
RCOVID-19Z 1B ENREME » Bt X BB E AR
NAEMBAEFZEETEEMTL AT

31. ttia‘a%sz—

AEBER-_T-NFOA-—HEXRERERE
Eﬂ*#&%&,ﬁu £ 1657 R IR 5K 4 /Y 38 FH%
HERENRTEI ARESABRESNE
FAEBRME2(C)KE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (in HK Dollars) Z —Z -TF = A=+ —H L FE (B THE)

32. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2020 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

e PR RRMEE

32. BE-_E_ZEF=A=1+—HLFE
ERGERERET FEIARRE

B9 AT BE

HEAUBBREREMGAH FESAMAGE
MM BEET R —EMERN BEVYHRS
RAUABINTRABRSAV(BE-_FT_FF=A
St HLEFERARER TREAMBFREK
RERM) RFRREIE T AL E A K E A
& -

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

BLAT RS 2%
Fth 2 2T IR
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business 1 January 2020
EEMBHRELEUNEIR (BEFIR)  XHZTHE —ET_TF—-H—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

FREEAERFIRRBE G ERNESR (BAIRN) EAZEE

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Interest rate benchmark reform
BBV BEWMERERET B ERIEIR R B BT K

(BRTA) - Pl E BB E
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018,
Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting

“E- N\FUBRERSER LETHBRERSIER

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19 related rent concession

FRMBRE L FE165E (BRI - 20198 B EFIEEHE T ER

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sales or contribution of assets

between an investor and its associate or joint venture
EEMBRELENFE10R REREGTERFE285 (BEFTA) -
KEZHABE N A A &Rl M EELETE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

ERERAETHR

1 January 2020
—E-_EF—-—H—H

1 January 2020
—ET_TF—-H—H

1 January 2020
—E-EF—H—H

1 June 2020
—E-ZTFAA—H

A date to be determined
by HKICPA
AEFEASAMASET

AEBEFEZETEIARERERYHE A
HEE-BEFEAA/L RAZFETAEH
PTAARHGEVHTRRENEAZE
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) |
EHE
RESULTS 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ES | “2-B2F _T-hFE E-\F CT—+tF C_ERF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HKS
B BT BT BT BT
(Note 1) (Note 1and 2) (Note 1and2) (Note 1and 2)
(Fsk1) (W k2) (WaE1ke)  (ME1K2)
Total Revenue FEE'ON 255,534,989 202,893,907 226,225,862 235,519,620 369,569,772
(Loss)/profit before taxation BBA (BR) & F (60,777,847)  (56,988,999) (70,336,139 (149,564) 32,881,714
Income tax credit/(expense) FriEtiEs,/ (RX) 406,115 1,760,374 88,657 (861,377)  (7,317,439)
(Loss)/profit and total FR(BE) /5 R
comprehensive income 2ENEEE
for the year (60,371,732)  (55,228,625)  (70,247,482) (1,010,941) 25,564,275
(Loss)/profit attrioutable to equity 78/ B 25 B & fE (5
shareholders of the Company ~ (E518) /% 7 (60,371,732)  (55,228,625)  (70,247,482)  (1,010,941) 25,573,227
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets EERE 481,554,074 504,611,137 544,489,317 601,528,891 341,748,467
Total liabilities BEAE (273,645,306) (236,330,637) (219,461,914)  (206,254,006)  (79,472,641)
Net assets BEFE 207,908,768 268,280,500 325,027,403 395,274,885 262,275,826
This report is published in both English and Chinese RBENRRXHE - ARXRANEEE -
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between BEIA SR AR B 4 -
the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall
prevail.
Notes: B 5
1. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified 1. AEBEERZZT—NFNA—BERAKETENE
retrospective approach at 1 April 2019. Under this approach, BRERE B BREERIE165 - ARIBL 5%
the comparative information is not restated. BREBTTEY -
2. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 2. AEEER - \FOA—BEXEABENE
at 1 April 2018. Under the transition methods chosen, HEAERIFEWE R BB BB E R E 155 < IRIEEK
comparative information is not restated. WEBE A ERERTTEY -
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